# http://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/

# Research Commons at the University of Waikato

# **Copyright Statement:**

The digital copy of this thesis is protected by the Copyright Act 1994 (New Zealand).

The thesis may be consulted by you, provided you comply with the provisions of the Act and the following conditions of use:

- Any use you make of these documents or images must be for research or private study purposes only, and you may not make them available to any other person.
- Authors control the copyright of their thesis. You will recognise the author's right
  to be identified as the author of the thesis, and due acknowledgement will be
  made to the author where appropriate.
- You will obtain the author's permission before publishing any material from the thesis.

# Kei hea ahau ināianai? Where am I now?

An examination of the positioning of disabled children in the discourses of long-day early childhood education and care centres in Aotearoa New Zealand

#### A thesis

submitted in fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree

of

**DOCTOR OF EDUCATION** 

at

The University of Waikato

by

**LESLEY MAREE LYONS Mc ADAM** 



# Mihi – this is comprised of my pepeha (personal introduction) and my whakapapa (genealogy)

Tēna koutou e hoa ma Greetings

Ko maungakiekie te maunga tapu, Maungakiekie is my sacred

mountain,

Ko Manukau te moana wairua. The Manukau harbour is my sacred

sea.

Ko Colin Woonton rāua ko Maree

Woonton oku mātua.

Colin Woonton and Maree Woonton

are my parents.

Ko Colin tōku pāpā. Kua mate ia.

Ko Maree tōku māmā. Kua mate ia.

Colin is my dad. He has passed

away.

Maree is my Mum. She has passed away

Nō Onehunga rāua. They are from Onehunga

Ki te taha o tōku pāpā, Ko Percy Woonton tōku mātua pāpā, Ko Margaret Hannam Woonton tōku

mātua māmā.

On my father's side, Percy Woonton is my grandfather and Margaret

Hannam Woonton is my

grandmother.

Kua mate rāua. Nō England rāua. They have both passed away.

They are from England

Ki te taha o tōku māmā, Ko Duncan

Blackwood tõku mātua pāpā, Ko Elsie Millar tõku mātua māmā.

Kua mate rāua.

On my mother's side, Duncan Blackwood is my grandfather, and Elsie Millar is my grandmother. They have both passed away.

Ko Robert McAdam tōku hoa

rangatira.

Robert McAdam is my husband.

Ko Lesley Lyons McAdam tōku ingoa. Nō Onehunga, Tāmaki Makaurau

ahau

My name is Lesley Lyons McAdam I am from Onehunga, Auckland

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I wish to acknowledge those who have supported me in this research endeavour. To the teachers, centre owners, and managers I thank you for your willingness to participate and your candid contributions to this work. You were all great!

To the whānau (families) of those children for whom inclusion has been a struggle, my sincere thanks for trusting me with your stories and for opening your homes to me. I deeply appreciate this.

To Dr Lise Claiborne, thank you for seeing this journey all the way through with me. Your wisdom, patience, and encouragement as I wrestled with making sense of, and articulating concepts in the study has been unfailingly wise. My gratitude will be long lasting. Sincere thanks also to Dr Linda Mitchell for seeing me to the half-way mark and Dr Nadine Ballam for supporting me the rest of the way. Your expertise and experience are truly appreciated.

I am profoundly grateful to my husband Robert. This work has been around from the start of us and you have been tolerant, understanding, supportive and a provider of excellent meals. I especially love that you can make me laugh even when I am full of self-doubt.

Thanks go to my amazing children. To my wise daughter, I thank you for knowing me the way that you do and for keeping me real. To my son, I love that you take pride in me as I do in you. We have had a wonderful journey getting to this point and I love you both.

Lastly to my excellent friend and confidant Dr Ros Sullivan, I thank you in abundance for all the korero (talks), the glasses of wine, the songs, and the unerring encouragement.

Arohanui ki a koutou!

# **ABSTRACT**

In Aotearoa New Zealand's legislative and policy environment the concept of inclusion for disabled children is positioned as a human rights concern in which *all* children are afforded the right to attend and participate in all aspects of educational and community life; they are legislatively included. This study examines how the subject positions of disabled children are made available within contradicting discourses currently influencing and being influenced by the largely privately operated long-day early childhood education and care (ECEC) sector. The study argues that a predicament has been created by contradicting discourses, confusing the practices of teachers, centre owners and managers in Aotearoa New Zealand's long-day early childhood education and care sector

Using Foucauldian tools of critical discourse analysis and the work of subsequent post-structuralist writers the study has focused on the understanding that subject positions are created and reinforced by constantly changing social conditions and circumstances. According to Foucault (1984), the normalised subject position is governed by what is deemed appropriate in a context and is maintained by those operating within it. Discourses are explained as not merely reflecting social entities, but as actively constructing them (Ball, 2013; Moss, 2019; Walshaw, 2007).

Employing a Foucauldian lens to examine literature and policy back-grounding provision for disabled children drew attention to the complexities and tensions arising from discourses surrounding inclusion in the sector both at macro and micro levels. The discourses of neoliberalism, biomedicine, and developmentalism were found to position disabled children as *other* (ab-normalise) and *normalise* children presenting with typical development.

Neoliberal discourse contributing to a view of ECEC as a business investment site (Kilderry, 2006; Meagher & Cortis, 2009; Slee, 2011) was found to be a dominant factor contributing to teachers', owners' and managers' confusion regarding inclusion and presented as a discursive trend I have titled Enlightened Ableism. The discursive trend towards enlightened ableism explains the phenomenon whereby teachers, owners and managers speak positively about inclusion yet when asked about the possibility and practicalities of including a disabled child identify the presence of barriers with connections to discourses which privilege the *able*.

# GLOSSARY OF MĀORI TERMS

Aotearoa: New Zealand

Kaupapa – plan, purpose, agenda

Kōhanga Reo - Māori language immersion centre

Kōrero – talking

Mahi – work

Mana – prestige, spiritual power

Te reo Māori – Māori language

Wero – challenge

Whānau: family

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
GLOSSARY OF MĀORI TERMS	<b>v</b> i
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION TO THE THESIS	1
1.1 The provocation to research	1
1.2 The focus of the thesis	2
1.3 Legislation and <i>Te Whāriki</i> : Early Childhood Education Curriculum	5
1.4 The Current Structure of the Sector	7
1.5 Neoliberalism	8
1.5.1 Neoliberalism and the ECEC sector	10
1.6 Disability and/or impairment?	11
1.7 Inclusion and inclusive education: What are we speaking of?	12
1.8 Ableism	13
1.9 Structure of the Thesis	14
CHAPTER TWO: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	17
2.1 Introduction	17
2.2 Introducing Michel Foucault's ideas	18
2.3 Foucault, subjectivity and subject position	20
2.4 Foucault and the Norm	23
2.5 Foucault and the body	24
2.6 Reflexive commentary 'under the influence' of autoethnography	26
2.6 Chapter Summary	31
2.7: Research questions	33
CHAPTER THREE: CRITICI LING THE LITERATURE: Revisiting and rethinking	3/1

3.1 Introducing the literature	34
3.2 The legislative and policy platform for inclusion	35
3.3 Theorising disability	40
3.4 Understandings of Inclusion	42
3.5 The Marketisation of ECEC	45
3.6 Implications for Early Intervention	48
3.7 Literature summary	53
CHAPTER FOUR: METHODOLOGY	56
4.1 Background.	56
4.2 Interviewing as method	58
4.3 Description of the evaluative tools	63
4.4 Research design	63
4.4.1 Owner, manager participant selection	64
4.4.2 Teacher participant recruitment	65
4.4.3 Parent/caregiver recruitment	66
4.4.4 Introducing the manager and owner participants	67
4.4.5 Introducing the teacher participants	68
4.4.6 Introducing the parent participants	69
4.4.7 Post interview data	70
CHAPTER_FIVE: THE WHĀNAU/FAMILIES: Inclusion just makes disability 'normal'	70
5.1 Making disability 'normal'	73
5.2 Who is out and who is in?	76
5.3 Looking at it differently	79
5.4 Saying yes but meaning no (Yes/But)	83
5.5 Looking for the obstacles	85
5.6. The aspirations	90

5.7 Discussion	92
CHAPTER SIX: THE TEACHERS, OWNERS AND MANAGERS: The 'yes and the 'but'	96
6.1 Knowing about disability and inclusion.	97
6.2 Feelings about disability and inclusion in Aotaeroa New Zealand's centres	104
6.3 Examining the barriers for teachers, owners and managers	104
6.3.1 The money	108
6.3.2 Teacher preparation for Inclusion	112
6.4 Discussion	114
CHAPTER SEVEN: REFLEXIVE COMMENTARY: Tensions and turning points	121
7.1 Introduction	121
7.2 Pondering quality	122
7.3 Reflecting on inclusion	126
7.4 Quality concerns in the ECEC sector	127
7.5 Qualified teacher supply and demand	130
7.6 Querying the sector structure	132
7.7 Chapter summary	138
CHAPTER EIGHT: FINAL DISCUSSION	141
8.1 What is this thesis saying about the possibilities for inclusion in the long day E	CEC
sector?	143
8.2 How is this transpiring in terms of policies and practices?	145
8.3 Kei hea ahau ināianai? Where am I now?	146
8.4 Limitations and future directions	147
8.5 Implications and suggestions	148
8.6 Suggestions for Aotearoa New Zealand's leaders	148
8.7 A wero (challenge) for the sector	150
8.8 Concluding remarks	150
DEEEDENCES	152

APPENDICES	180
Appendix 1 Participant information sheet for teachers	180
Appendix 2 Informed consent form: Teacher participants	182
Appendix 3 Participant information sheet: owner/manager	184
Appendix 4 Informed consent form: owner/ manager	186
Appendix 5 Participant information sheet: Parent /caregiver	188
Appendix 6 Informed consent form: Parent/caregiver(whānau)	190
Appendix 7 Draft letter for publication in Parent to Parent e-newsletter	192
Appendix 8 Transcriber confidentiality agreement.	193
Appendix 9 Interview schedule: teacher participants	194
Appendix 10 Interview Schedule: owners/managers	195
Appendix 11 Interview schedule: whānau (parents/ caregivers)	196
Appendix 12 Request for site access:	197
Appendix 13 Informed consent form: Site access	201

# CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION TO THE THESIS

#### 1. The provocation to research

I began my teaching career in the 1970s in South Auckland kindergartens. I had never heard of inclusion or mainstreaming or any other of the terms used today to explain strategies for disabled children. It was certainly not a part of my initial teacher training. Over the years I have worked as an early childhood teacher and head teacher, the owner/manager of a long-day early childhood education and care (ECEC) centre and, more recently, as a lecturer in early childhood teacher education. I have practiced under multiple iterations of initiatives designed to support disabled children. These ranged from Special Needs Units permitted to visit mainstream kindergartens, partial integration of groups from special education facilities, part-time supported integration of individual children and, more recently, initiatives to support full inclusion for all children.

While I can remember periods in which disabled children had a growing presence in regular ECEC settings, over the last three decades I have become increasingly aware of a shift in the ways in which disability and inclusion were being explained in the sector. The advent of this shift appeared to coincide with the growing attractiveness of a government-funded business opportunity and the subsequent growth in for-profit ECEC services. A renaissance in the use of deficit paradigms of disability was emerging more frequently in discussions in both the university classes I was teaching and in the ECEC centres I visited as a university supervisor for practicum students. I wondered whether the ECEC sector was inadvertently moving away from its most recent attempts to respect and include all children. My interest in how disabled children might fare in this market-focused environment was piqued. This interest provided a starting point for this project's focus on how disabled children are being positioned in the current marketplace of ECEC

#### 1.2 The focus of the thesis

The title of the thesis: *Kei hea ahau ināianei? Where am I now*? implies concern about the positions occupied by disabled children in the long-day ECEC sector: Are disabled children being constrained or denied their legislated right to be included? If so, how is this happening and where and how are they subsequently positioned? I pose this question as an addition to the Child's Voice' questions (Carr, May, & Podmore, 2001) which align with the strands of *Te Whāriki: He Whāriki Mātauranga mō ngā Mokopuna ō Aotearoa, Early Childhood Curriculum* (M.O.E., 1996, 2017). The curriculum is divided into guiding principles and strands. The Child's Voice questions parallel each strand of the document and are an important tool for teachers to assess their mahi (work) in ensuring that every child receives an equitable, respectful, and inclusive early childhood experience in their service.

- •The strand of Wellbeing/Mana Tangata asks: Do you meet my daily needs with care and sensitive consideration: *Can I trust you?*
- •The strand of Belonging/Mana Whenua asks: Do you appreciate and understand my interests and abilities and those of my family: *Do you know me?*
- •The strand of Contribution/Mana Tangata asks: Do you encourage and facilitate my attempts to be part of the wider group: *Is this place fair for me*?
- •The strand of Communication/Mana Reo asks: Do you invite me to communicate and respond to my own particular efforts: *Do you hear me?*
- •The strand of Exploration asks: Do you engage my mind, offer challenges, and extend my world: *Do you let me fly?*

For disabled children who are denied or limited in their access to an ECEC service, the Child's Voice questions become redundant therefore a different question must be asked: Kei hea ahau ināianei? Where am I now?"

Throughout this thesis, the term 'disabled children' is used in preference to the person-first discourse of the social model of disability. The social model intimates that if society removes social discrimination disabled people will be able to flourish (Shakespeare, 2017) yet disability, unlike other sites of prejudice and discrimination such as race or sexual orientation, inevitably entails intrinsic limitations that will not disappear because society arranges its communities differently. Therefore, in order to politically challenge barriers to viewing the child's rights as paramount, the child has been placed second in the terminology: to see the child as first one must address the discursively constructed subject positions that situate the child second to the disability

The study explores the espoused beliefs, experiences and practices of early childhood teachers, managers and owners towards the inclusion of disabled children. In conjunction, not by contrast, the views, aspirations, and experiences of whānau (parents) of disabled children are included in the study. The study examines and discusses discourses shaping and being shaped by these views, focusing on the dominant discourses of neoliberalism, human rights, developmentalism and biomedicine.

In order to gain a deeper understanding of the position of disabled children, in this thesis concern about the rights to education and care for young disabled children is impelled through the core of the tensions between the nature and purpose of the for-profit market-place context of Aotearoa New Zealand's ECEC sector and the intent of the legislation for inclusion. King and Meagher (2009) make an important point: "Within paid care, the issues of availability and quality are intertwined with the politics of regulation and the profits and practices of care providers" (p. 3). Earlier research (e.g., Essa et al., 2008; Mohay & Reid, 2006; Parish & Cloud, 2006; Purdue, 2009) indicate that the families of disabled children are finding access to long-day ECEC increasingly difficult in this marketplace environment. I am hopeful that this study will contribute to deeper understandings about the ways in which the workings of Aotearoa New Zealand's ECEC sector as it is currently organised may be positioning disabled children in contradiction to the legislation. As Penn (2013) suggests, relying on the market as a workable model for the organisation and delivery of childcare may

have its limitations.

This introductory chapter outlines the legal, political, educational and policy contexts in which the study is situated, beginning with an outline of Aotearoa New Zealand's legislation and the curriculum document which guides teaching professionals' practices for inclusion of disabled children.

# 1.3 Legislation and Te Whāriki: Early Childhood Education Curriculum

In Aotearoa New Zealand the inclusion of disabled children into regular, longday ECEC centres is protected by several key items of legislation: The Human Rights Act (1993), United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, 1989), The New Zealand Disability Strategy (Ministry of Health, 2001) and The Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2006). Additionally, by way of the New Zealand Early Childhood Regulations (New Zealand Government, 2008), all licensed ECEC centres are required to adhere to the principles of Te Whāriki: He Whāriki Mātauranga mō ngā Mokopuna ō Aotearoa, Early Childhood Curriculum (M.O. E., 1996; 2017) as the guiding document for practice. Te Whāriki is a stand-alone, bicultural and bilingual (Te Reo Māori/English) curriculum document which contains reference to the inclusion of disabled children. In many ways, Te Whāriki reflects the intent of Aotearoa New Zealand's legislation for inclusion. The initial edition of the curriculum was the first of its kind in the world, was lauded internationally, and engendered great pride amongst Aotearoa New Zealand's ECEC professionals. Both the original document (1996) and the more recent rewrite (2017) are comprised of principles, strands and goals which are intended to be read holistically. Human rights and social justice intent are evident throughout the text of the original document: "Adults working with children should establish programmes and strategies which actively promote equity of opportunity for children and counter actions or comments that categorise or stereotype people" (M.O.E., p. 65).

Te Whāriki was first developed in the early 1990s at a time of major education reforms in Aotearoa New Zealand which, as Mitchell (2003) noted, for the first time included early childhood in the education sector. These reforms in the education sector coincided with major social and economic reforms making Aotearoa New Zealand a text-book example of a neoliberal project. According to Duhn (2006) *Te Whāriki* was a product of both liberal and neoliberal paradigms. Duhn was arguing here that via this

curriculum, the child was being repositioned as an 'ideal child', a product of the perspectives of adults who, in thinking about childhood, inevitably articulated some of their own understandings of the world: adults who were being influenced by globalisation and neoliberalism. Interpreting Duhn's ideas, the language of *Te Whāriki* sets up a contradiction for teachers in ECEC between what the document states and the market environment in which it is expected to play out. This aligns with the position taken in this study especially, as Duhn further posits, while early childhood education is not compulsory in Aotearoa New Zealand, the preschool child has become part of a grid connecting the 'normal' young child with educational institutions.

The original Te Whāriki (M.O.E., 1996) devoted only two paragraphs of a 100 page document to the inclusion of disabled children. There is an even more diluted reference to diverse ability/learning needs in the second edition (M.O.E., 2017). The original document states that the care and education of children with special needs [disabilities] will be provided within the diverse range of early childhood services. The importance of 'developmentally appropriate' activities is also highlighted alongside the need for Individual Development Plans (I.D.P.) for children who require additional resources and support. While inclusion appears to be the intention, there is little in either document to counter the positioning of disabled children as other than other. Macartney (2019) goes further by suggesting that it is disappointing that disability and ableism are not adequately theorized, visible, or addressed within Te Whāriki (M.O.E., 1996, 2017) and argues that "because Te Whāriki lacks a clear and consistent sociocultural and human rights-based approach to disability this omission leaves space to exclusionary structures, thinking and practices to continue unrecognized" (p.122). As such, this omission can and does result in exclusionary teaching practices and curriculum, which as Macartney (2019) suggests, do not equally recognize and nurture the mana of disabled children and their whānau.

The following section explains the structure of the sector as it currently organised, identifying possible challenges for teaching professionals regarding inclusion.

#### 1.4 The Current Structure of the Sector

Private ownership in the ECEC sector has burgeoned over the past three decades with most recently available statistics indicating a greater than 5:1 majority ownership over community (non-profit) centres (New Zealand Government, 2017). All children attract government funding based on age (the younger the child, the greater the funding). In addition, and to increase participation in the sector, the Twenty Hours ECE policy for children over the age of three was introduced. Twenty Hours ECE is a higher funding subsidy. It means that if your child is 3, 4 or 5 years old and goes to a early learning service or Kōhanga Reo (Māori language immersion centre) that offers Twenty Hours ECE, the cost can be fully subsidised for up to 6 hours a day and up to 20 hours a week. This policy has further encouraged private sector investment in long-day education and care, particularly in poorer areas. Participation has increased to the point where 95% of young children are attending an ECEC service (Education Counts, 2012), the majority of which is provided by private operators/investors.

Accompanying the shift to private investment in the sector has been a gradual shift in the ways in which the sector is articulated. Emerging from an economic paradigm promoting the sector as a prime opportunity for financial yield, the early childhood education profession is frequently described as an 'industry' with the status of children increasingly viewed (and marketed) as a tradable commodity (Goodfellow, 2005; Lloyd & Penn, 2013; Moss, 2019). While the community-owned/non-profit ECEC centre is not strictly considered to characterise this business approach since their structure prevents distribution of profit to individual investors (M.O.E., 2011), these centres still need to remain solvent and to compete in the market in the same way as their for-profit counterparts. A responsibility at least to remain solvent, and at best profitable, is a key characteristic of the sector. The key question is reiterated: What is the status of disabled children in this marketplace? The next section outlines the principles of neoliberalism and explains its foundational influence on the positioning of disabled children.

#### 1.5 Neoliberalism

Neoliberalism can be viewed as a critical feature of the philosophical and economic foundation of the ECEC sector as it is currently organised. According to Perez and Canella (2011); "Neoliberalism is grounded in the philosophy of classic liberalism that the individual should function autonomously, based on self-interests and be free from the intervention of the State" (p. 48). The aim of the neoliberal position, therefore, is to reduce the state's financial burden, allowing it to withdraw from direct responsibility and promote policies that encourage individuals to take responsibility for their own economic wellbeing. Roberts (2007) explained that the tentacles of the [neoliberal] market spread rapidly in the western world and neoliberal ideas exerted influence on the policy agendas of both conservative and progressive regimes. "The reform process was grounded in a view of human beings as rational, self-interested, choosers and consumers" (Roberts, 2007, p. 350).

Neoliberalism poses unease for disabled children because it privileges individualism and stresses educating for self-reliance. As Peters (2001) contends, the development of future citizens who have the means to provide for themselves economically with minimal cost to the state is a key feature. Hence, education is viewed as a private rather than a public/social good. This is demonstrated in a report of business owners' interests in education by Valente and Collins (2016).

The business community is the consumer of the educational product. Students are the educational product. They are going through the education system so that they can be an attractive product for business to consume and hire as a workforce in the future (p. 1)

The notion of individualistic self-reliance is characterised by and promotes personal agency with regards to physical and intellectual achievement, self-actuality and the accumulation of goods and finances (Peters, 2001; Türken et al., 2016). As Davies and Bansel (2007) further suggest; "Under neoliberalism, both government and society have taken up, as their primary concern, their relationship with the economy" (p. 249). The 'ideal' neoliberal society is therefore comprised of those who [financially] have, can and do. In a nutshell, neoliberalism insists on expanding the market logic and

principles (for example, self-interest, calculability, competition, efficiency, profit) to all areas of life – it is a doctrine of radical marketisation (Mladenov, 2015). Within neoliberal discourse, disability and difference are constructed as private 'problems', deficits and lacks in and of individuals. Because neoliberal structures privilege agentic, self-motivated subjects over those perceived to be dependent, less able, and unproductive (Perez & Canella, 2011; Moss, 2019), neoliberalism puts up a strong challenge to the principles of inclusion.

Key features of neoliberalism include privatisation or shifting of the control of public services operated by the state to corporate, for-profit groups (Olssen, 2006; Baltodano, 2012). Davies and Bansel (2007) suggest there is considerable evidence that the development of neoliberal discourses, policies and practices has been concertedly financed and engineered by those with a great deal to gain financially. Regardless of whether this is so (and this thesis is not concerned with this argument), over a period of 15 years (1984-1999) successive governments have embraced this philosophy. The original impetus for laying the foundations for a neoliberal agenda in Aotearoa New Zealand came from the 1984 (4<sup>th</sup>) Labour Government who had spent a nine-year term in opposition. As May (2009) noted, "this new government questioned the relevance of centralized bureaucracy, and the extent of state involvement in the economy, for both ideological and fiscal reasons" (p. 203). While welfare liberalism placed government in a principal role of providing for its citizens, this new regime argued for minimal state involvement in people's lives (Farquhar, 2008).

By way of this neoliberal agenda relations were reconfigured between government, private enterprise and society. "Public institutions, such as schools and hospitals, previously supported as essential to collective wellbeing were reconstituted under neoliberalism as part of the market" (Davies & Bansel, 2007, p. 254). Education was reconfigured and became increasingly viewed as a commodity to be traded and consumed (Roberts, 2007).

#### 1.5.1 Neoliberalism and the ECE sector

The government interest in education grew from the adopted neoliberal standpoint that education should produce citizens who will contribute to the economy of the country in the future. Education was seen to share the main characteristics of other commodities traded in the marketplace, a position that Aotearoa New Zealand's Treasury reinforced. Hence, business-talk became the new language of the time, and in education generally, understandings of childhood were reconstructed and linked to global economic agendas. Privately owned ECEC, alongside its community operated counterparts and originally overseen by the Department of Social Welfare, became part of the Department of Education in 1986. The Labour government, according to May (2009), had been persuaded that there was a crisis in early childhood provision and that increased investment would bring benefits to children, whānau and the nation as a whole. As May (2009) asserted, early childhood services were the first rung in a seamless education system, hence focusing the Labour government's position on under five-year old children. "During the late 1980s and early 1990s, several major administrative shifts occurred - the movement of services to education, and the implementation of early childhood policy reform known as 'Before Five' " (Meade & Podmore, 2002, p. 9). As Meade and Podmore (2002) record, ECEC (long day) services were latecomers in gaining government funding until 1990 when a common funding formula for all early childhood services was introduced regardless of operating structure. In Aotearoa New Zealand, it appeared that the state had presented an attractive offer to private enterprise.

Returning to disabled children, this thesis argues that because neoliberalism has now become so entwined in the organisation of the ECEC sector, teaching professionals may be less likely to recognise the influences of the marketplace on their practices towards disabled children and their families. Perhaps, as Harvey (2005) suggests, neoliberalism is having pervasive effects on ways of thinking to the point where it has become common-sense? This idea that the legislated intent for inclusion of disabled young children may be at odds with market interests is not new. This work is not the first to investigate the juxtaposition of human rights ideals and neoliberalism and raise questions for marginalised groups (e.g., Lloyd & Penn, 2013; Moss, 2019; Purdue, 2009). It is, however, unique in providing a focused attempt to explore the

inclusion predicament of teachers, owners, managers, whānau (families) and disabled children in the sector by looking further than specific issues of disability and inclusion towards an examination of the complexities of constructions of disability influencing teacher responses to disabled children in a neoliberal climate. The following section provides an overview of these constructions.

# 1.6 Disability and/or impairment?

Many prominent disability studies writers, theorists and activists have made the important argument that disability, rather than residing within individuals, is a product of disability discrimination and social injustice (Barton, 1998; Fulcher, 1999; Oliver, 1996; Shakespeare, 2017; Siebers, 2008;). Put forward some decades ago, the social model of disability draws on the view that it is society that disables people with impairments: "Disability is something imposed on top of our impairments by the way we are unnecessarily isolated and excluded from full participation in society" (Union of Physically Impaired against segregation [UPIAS](1975). The basic premise of the social model of disability is that disability is constructed by society, and that disabled people are discriminated against on the basis of biomedical, deficit constructions of disability (Connor, et al., 2008; Gabel, 2005; Goodley, 2007; Macartney, 2019)). Hence, the social model distinguishes between disabled people as oppressed and society as the oppressors. The social constructionist approach has been powerful politically because as Shakespeare (2017) states: "The social model is simple, memorable and effective, each of which is a key requirement of a political slogan or ideology" (p. 198). He also notes that the social model requires understanding of key dichotomies: "The first of which is that individual impairment differs from the social construction of disability that might surround impairment" (p. 195). While biomedical models of disability focus on individual deficits and raise issues of discrimination, inequality and injustices based on deficit cultural understandings, structures and practices (Macartney, 2011), the social model, on the other hand, offers political unity for disabled people and practical ideas for identifying public barriers to justice. Politics aside, and raising limitations of this social constructionist view, Shakespeare (2017) argues that this social constructivist position fails to address the issue of pathological impairment. He contends that the impairment remains with the individual even when society removes

restrictions.

This thesis draws on both positions. An appreciation of disability as social construct is acknowledged as evident in much of Aotearoa/New Zealand's disability policy although care has been taken to ensure impairment is considered in the language of the following example.

Disability is not something individuals have. What individuals have is impairments. They may be physical, sensory, neurological, psychiatric, intellectual, or other impairments. Disability is the process which happens when one group of people create barriers by designing a world only for their way of living, taking no account of the impairments other people have (Ministry of Health, 2001, p. 7)

Disability as a social construct is contradicted by neoliberalism. The positioning of personal agency by way of neoliberalism, subsequently (re)personalises disability in education settings creating contradictions to the legislation and curricula and, by way of capillary discourses, the predicament for teacher/owners/managers' approaches to inclusion mentioned earlier in this chapter. Capillary discourses are discourses that serve to extend to an institutional setting the knowledge and practices valued by a regime of truth (Foucault, 1980, p. 201). Capillary discourses, as Worthman and Troiano (2016) suggest, facilitate the flow of beliefs and procedures associated with specific regimes of truth. Because the notion of inclusion for disabled children is presented in *Te Whāriki* (2017) in a generic grouping with gender, ethnicity, diverse ability and learning needs, family structure and values, socioeconomic status and religion, it is possible that the rights of disabled children are seen as contestable among the pressures of meeting the needs of other groups. Next, I introduce the concept of inclusion as a contested term.

#### 1.7 Inclusion and inclusive education: What are we speaking of?

Whilst it is accepted that the term inclusion transcends mere application to disabled children and concerns the inclusion of all children (Qvortrup & Qvortrup, 2017), in this study I have used the term as it applies to disabled young children in education. Since the World Conference on Special Needs Education that was held in

Salamanca 25 years ago (U.N.E.S.C.O, 1994) there has been an international commitment to inclusive education. As Fasting (2013) put forward, this resulted in inclusion being an important concept in the educational debate and practice of most countries in the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (O.E.C.D.). Developing from 1994, U.N.E.S.C.O. has developed two key themes: *Education for All*, which has its roots in regular education's attempts to address marginalised groups, and *Inclusive Education* which has emerged from the field of special education. Over time Kuippis (2013) argues, *Education for All* has played a stronger role and disabled children as a specific group have become less of a focus in U.N.E.S.C.O.'s work.

Slee (2011) urges consideration of inclusion as an ethical and political position, thus challenging the attachment of hierarchical values to people that lead to some children being considered more worthy than others. He describes inclusive education as an apprenticeship in democracy which aligns with UNESCO's *Education for All* position. From Slee's argument one can draw an understanding that inclusion is both a philosophical position and a practice.

The language of Aotearoa New Zealand's early childhood curriculum documents and underpinning legislation is largely drawing on the philosophical positioning of inclusion whereas it is the practices surrounding inclusion that are raising concerns for access. Such concern is also raised by Qvortrup and Qvortrup (2017) suggesting that despite the labours of politicians, researchers and practitioners, ongoing efforts to develop inclusive education sites appear troubled, problematic and contested. Tracing problems associated with inclusion, necessitates an investigation into the values placed on such human attributes as ability, expediency, appearance and so forth. While such an investigation is largely beyond the scope of this study, practices that privilege ablebodiedness are at the core of the study and introduced in the next section.

#### 1.8 Ableism

Conceptualising ableism is a key aspect of this thesis. Ableism is central to the field of Disability Studies (D.S.) which at its core examines disability as a social, cultural or political phenomenon (Bogart & Dunn, 2019; Kumari & Campbell, 2001). Kumari-Campbell (2001) claims,

Ableism refers to a network of beliefs, processes and practices that produces a particular kind of self and body (the corporeal standard) that is projected as the perfect, species-typical and therefore essential and fully human. Disability then is cast as a diminished state of being human (p. 44)

Rauscher and McClintock (1996) define ableism as a pervasive system of discrimination and exclusion with origins in deeply rooted 'standards' about health, productivity, beauty and the value of human life. The ideal person conforms to such standards and the imperfect is put aside. Understanding ableism is critical to this thesis as it aligns with the exacting values of neoliberalism.

In summary, I now return to the title of this thesis: "Kei hea ahau ināianai: Where am I now"? In order to consider the key terms of the investigation with which this study is concerned, the study examines research and argument that place importance on concepts such as ableism, biomedicine, social constructionism and neoliberalism as processes by which certain subject positions (which is discussed further in Chapter Two) of disabled children will become manifest.

#### 1.9 Structure of the Thesis

Chapter Two describes the theoretical framing for this thesis. The study is constructed using a discursive analytical approach. Additionally, while this work is not autoethnographic per se, it does include reflexive commentary which has been guided by understandings gleaned from the field of autoethnography as a means of reflecting on my own work in the sector over time. The study is a post structural endeavour relying largely but not solely on the ideas of Michel Foucault (who pronounced himself not to be poststructuralist) as well as subsequent Foucauldian scholars (e.g.: Ball, 2013; Moss, 2019; O'Farrell, 2005; Olssen, 2006). I acknowledge an underlying tension between Foucauldian discourse analysis and (autoethnographically influenced) reflexive commentary which is discussed in detail in the Chapter Two. Chapter Two explains this more closely drawing on Jackson and Mazzei's (2008) suggestion that using such personalised commentary is in keeping with Foucault's (1988) description of 'curiosity', evoking the care one takes of what exists and what might exist.

In Chapter Three, an examination of the literature and policy backgrounding inclusion in ECEC alongside the influence of neoliberal economics on provision is elaborated using understandings of discourse. This chapter primarily focuses on academic literature, Aotearoa New Zealand's legislation and policy, and in some instances, material intended for the general public. The nexus between tensions and challenges for those charged with responsibility for the inclusion are explored, and the current gap between policy and practices is made visible. The literature selected and critiqued develops the context of the study by tracing discursive capillaries back to the core principles of dominant discourses impacting on the inclusion project and positioning disabled young children as 'other'.

In Chapter Four, the pragmatics of the research design and process are explained and deliberated. The study engaged with three separate groups of participants by way of semi-structured individual interviews. The first participant group was made up of centre owners and managers from private, corporate, and community-owned long day ECEC centres. Teachers from different but similarly structured centres made up the second group of interviewees. The third participant group was comprised of whānau/parents of young disabled children in the wider Auckland area.

In Chapter Five, the first of two findings/discussion chapters, the experiences and perceptions of the sector through the lens of whānau of disabled young children are examined and discussed with a focus on the origins of whānau expectations of the sector and the challenges experienced. Brought forward in this chapter are whānau interactions with, and responses to dominant discourses in the sector.

In Chapter Six, contradictory discourses evident in the responses of teachers, owners and managers are brought to the fore. The interaction between neoliberal discourses, biomedicine and a discourse of human rights is investigated as likely creating a predicament for teachers, owners and managers. The analysis proposes that teachers, owners and managers are being both shaped by and shaping a new discursive trend termed enlightened ableism, whereby inclusion is spoken of in positive terms, but structural barriers to inclusion are cited as a reason to exclude.

Chapter Seven, the reflexive account, discusses the findings in light of my decades-long experience in the ECEC sector alongside and with relevance to the current organisation of the sector. In this chapter I draw on examples from my own experiences, both current and historical, and analyse information about teachers, owners and managers' frustrations currently evident, to illustrate and expand on the findings from the teachers, owners and managers and whānau (Chapters 5 and 6).

Chapter Eight, the concluding chapter, draws the findings together, outlining possible limitations for the scope of this study and providing glimpses of potential for the sector and all its participants moving forward.

# CHAPTER TWO: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

#### 2.1. Introduction

This study examines how subject positions are made available to disabled children within discourses dominant in the ECEC sector and asks questions about whether disabled children are constrained or denied their legislated right to be included in the ECEC sector within such discourses. The specific questions that guided this study are outlined later in this chapter (2.9) and clarified in Chapter Four. In this chapter I explain the theoretical and methodological approaches I have undertaken. As identified in the introductory chapter, the study relies largely but not solely, on the ideas of Michel Foucault as well as subsequent poststructuralist scholars (e.g., Ball, 2013; Moss, 2019; O'Farrell, 2005; Olssen, 2006). Additionally, while this work is not autoethnographic, it does include reflexive commentary which has been guided by understandings gleaned from the field of autoethnography as a means of reflecting on my own work in the sector over time. This is discussed more fully later in this chapter.

The term discourse as used in this study is described as systems of thoughts composed of ideas, attitudes, courses of action, beliefs and practices that systematically construct the subjects and the worlds of which they speak (Lassa, 2006). Discourse analysis in Foucauldian terms offers a way of showing how social and political hierarchies are produced and sustained with in fields of knowledge in which they operate (Gunn, 2019; Olssen, 2006). Such hierarchies put forward subject positions that provide us with ways of representing ourselves and others (Ball, 2013; Gunn, 2019; Walshaw, 2007). Hence, the concept of subject position holds that people make sense of who they are by locating themselves (and others) within culturally circulating discourses and narratives (Guilfoyle, 2016). Foucault (2004) defended the idea that subject positions are constructed within such discursive processes and practices involving many members of a community over time (Angermuller, 2018: Guilfoyle, 2016; Walshaw, 2007).

As explained in Chapter One, Foucault argued that his work was not post structuralist while others (e.g., MacNaughton, 2005; Moss, 2019; Walshaw, 2007) have deemed him so, based on his work regarding truths, power and power relations. As

Moss (2019), explains; "Foucault's work offers an understanding of how power works, both at the micro level, through everyday power relations in which we are all involved, and through dominant discourses with their regimes of truth that assert that they are the one and only way to talk, think and behave" (p. 92). This study is not overly concerned with where Foucault is situated in academic debate but rather, with the key ideas he put forward and their usefulness for examining the subject positions made available to disabled children within the discursive predicament of ECEC as it currently stands.

#### 2.2 Introducing Michel Foucault's ideas

French historian and philosopher Michel Foucault (1926-1984) held keen interest in the relationship between power, knowledge and truth. His methods of genealogical inquiry and discourse analysis illuminated the workings of power as it moves on, in and through human bodies (Gunn, 2019). Fenech and Sumsion (2007) explain that power is fluid and multi-directional, local and unstable: "In recognising that power is exercised at multiple local sites, a myriad of ways in which power may be affected and experienced through the chain of relations becomes possible" (p. 111). As Fischer (2009) further suggested, central to Foucault's work from the outset was the questioning of the forms of rationality that society has historically constructed. Foucault was interested in knowledge and how systems of knowledge are developed. Fundamental to his theorising is that discourses play a significant role in constructing what is real for each of us (McLaren, 2009).

In his genealogical work Foucault focused on the positions made available through discourse and how the techniques of professions had helped to produce them (Gunn, 2008; Middleton, 2003; Olssen, 2006): Foucault was looking for traces of the present in the past and vice versa. For this study, undertaking genealogical examination of the discursive features building up to the current provision of ECEC is helpful in understanding the political and social drivers that have contributed to the dispersion and privileging of particular discourses likely to position disabled children as of lesser value. In Foucauldian genealogy, part of the aim is to "show how the world is constructed: to illuminate how discourses produce practices, to show how subject

positions become manifest, to locate the ways in which knowledge is produced, and subsequent to this, how the professions apply it to bodies" (Gunn, 2008, p. 65).

Foucault was interested in serious statements; truth claims that belonged to a single system of formation and the points in time where they become powerful. He claimed that discourse was that which was 'already-said,' and broadened the definition further to include what is 'never-said' and 'not-said' (1972, p. 43). "A discursive formation comprised the regularity that obtains between objects, types of statement, concepts or thematic choices" (Foucault, 1972, p. 38, cited in Olssen, 2006, p. 10). These systems bring together key ideas and meanings and underpin behaviours by giving certain ways of being permission, while others are put to the side. Therefore, using Foucault's ideas for discourse analysis should not be considered the equivalent of an analysis of language alone.

In this study, discourse is understood by way of Foucault's explanation that statements make persons – we do not merely speak discourse, discourses speak us (Angermuller, 2018; Ball, 2013; Türken et al.; 2016; Walshaw, 2007). This being so, as discourses speak other people – they position people, create subjects and create us, the speakers, as subjects at the same time. Hence, using Foucauldian tools of analysis for this study allowed me to show how discursive systems are produced, maintained and speak subject positions for disabled children in the ECEC sector. While a discourse may be subtle or hidden, as Bird (2003) notes "the power of language and established habits maintain a certain obvious view of reality that seems 'natural' and hence difficult to question" (p. 37). As Foucault (1973) purported, the way we talk about the world and the way we experience it are inextricably linked – the names we give to things shape our experience of them, and our experience of the world influences the names we give to them.

This study intends to question the influence of market driven ECEC provision, to develop understanding of how neoliberal discourse has competed for location, examine the extent to which it has gained traction in the ECEC sector, and locate the human rights discourse of the guiding documents for inclusion in this competition.

Because Foucault claimed that discourse gives permission for particular ways of

speaking, behaving and positioning while disallowing others (Ball, 2013; Walshaw, 2007), it was important that this study use this approach to examine the extent to which teachers, owners and managers in the ECEC sector might have taken on board the discourse of neoliberalism to the extent that other ways of seeing and acting are being put to the side. As Moss (2019) describes it, the discourse is the story and stories, or the ways in which we see, make sense of, and re-tell the story silences other stories. The stories then construct or weave reality for us and stories [discourses] have consequences.

I acknowledge here that I cannot be separated from the discourses – I too am subject to and a subject of discourses. It is for this reason that I considered it crucial to the analysis to include a reflexive commentary at points throughout the thesis and as the focus of Chapter Seven. In choosing to do this I acknowledge, as Angermuller (2018) put forward: "Whenever people use language, they participate in valuation practices, i.e. they give value to themselves as well as to others" (p. 414). Next, I introduce Foucault's work on subjectivities and the relationship with subject positions as they are derived through discourses.

## 2.3 Foucault, subjectivity and subject position

Subjectivity can be understood as a mode of constituting, understanding, and relating to ourselves (Taylor, 2017). The term as described by Taylor implies personal agency - an exercise in free thought – however Angermuller (2018) argues that "humans do not have a timeless, universal subjectivity but rather become subjects by entering a discourse in which they occupy subject positions" (p. 146). In Foucault's writing on subjectivity, Ball (2013) explains two distinct points of emphasis; two meanings to the word subject. "Subject to someone else by control and tied to his own dependence and [secondly] tied to his own identity by a conscience or self-knowledge" (Foucault, 1982, p. 212).

Hence, the term subjectivity itself describes the condition of being subject to, or a target of power through power/knowledge relations (Foucault, 1980; Dreyfuss and Rabinow, 1982). Foucault (1982) went on to say that subjectivity is the way we give form to our lives: Is what we do rather than who we are and that our subjective experience is created by constantly changing social and cultural conditions and circumstances. Türken et al (2016) provide an example relevant to this study: "Neoliberalism is a theory of ... political economy that has become a hegemonic discourse that proposes human wellbeing can best be achieved by liberating individual entrepreneurial freedoms and skills ... characterised by free markets and free trade" (p. 33). It provides a subjectivity that offers form to our life and how we live it. There are limited subject positions within this discourse. In Türken et al's neoliberal example, the 'successful' subject position is occupied only by those with entrepreneurial skill and opportunity. Hence, as Walshaw (2007) explains, subject positions become manifest through discourses, are therefore political rather than personal, and are born of the social contexts from which they draw power. Adding to Walshaw's explanation, Angermuller (2018) puts forward that subject positions become valuable by absorbing

the time and energy of the members of a discourse community which is how some subject positions gain more value than others. Understanding how subject positions of disabled children become manifest within discourses dominating the long day ECEC sector is the crux of this thesis and in the next section I explain how understandings of the norm are relevant to such research about subject position.

Subjectivity, in Foucauldian terms, can be understood as a mode of constituting, understanding, and relating to ourselves (Taylor, 2017). The term as described by Taylor implies personal agency - an exercise in free thought – however Angermuller (2018) argues that "humans do not have a timeless, universal subjectivity but rather become subjects by entering a discourse in which they occupy subject positions" (p. 146). In Foucault's writing on subjectivity, Ball (2013) explains two distinct points of emphasis; two meanings to the word subject. "Subject to someone else by control and tied to his own dependence and [secondly] tied to his own identity by a conscience or self-knowledge" (Foucault, 1982, p. 212).

Hence, the term subjectivity itself describes the condition of being subject to, or a target of power through power/knowledge relations (Dreyfuss & Rabinow, 1982; Foucault, 1980). Foucault (1982) went on to say that subjectivity is the way we give form to our lives: is what we do rather than who we are and that our subjective experience is created by constantly changing social and cultural conditions and circumstances. Türken et a.l (2016) provide an example relevant to this study.

"Neoliberalism is a theory of [...] political economy that has become a hegemonic discourse that proposes human wellbeing can best be achieved by liberating individual entrepreneurial freedoms and skills [...] characterised by free markets and free trade" (p. 33).

Neoliberalism provides a subjectivity that offers form to our life and how we live it. In Türken et al's neoliberal example, the 'successful' subject position is occupied only by those with entrepreneurial skill and opportunity. Hence, as Walshaw (2007) explains, subject positions become manifest through discourses, are therefore political rather than personal, and are born of the social contexts from which they draw power. Adding to Walshaw's explanation, Angermuller (2018) puts forward that subject positions become valuable by absorbing the time and energy of the members of a discourse community which is how some subject positions gain more value than others.

Understanding how the subject positions of disabled children become manifest within discourses dominating the long day ECEC sector is the crux of this thesis and in the next section I explain how understandings of the norm are relevant to such research about subject position.

#### 2.4 Foucault and the Norm

The norm is a fundamental concept in the social sciences (Foucault, 1979). Norms are commonly defined as rules or expectations that are socially privileged at a certain point in time. Foucault argued that central to processes of classification is normalization. Further to this point, Taylor (2009) argued that normalising norms encourages subjects to become highly efficient at performing a narrowly defined range of practices. It is the primary and fundamental character of the norm (Ball, 2013) and how the norm is discursively construed and acted upon, that is of relevance to any academic work regarding inclusion (Graham & Slee, 2008; Slee, 2011). Such understandings are instrumental in framing a notion of normal and other. Each discursively constructed truth about the norm makes it possible for the materialisation of subject positions and as Gunn (2008) argued, discourses have a limited number of subject positions to be occupied and each has consequences for how one is perceived. Commenting on Foucault's (1981) urge to challenge the power of discourses which make subject positions appear usual, Taylor (2009) wrote,

Foucault's contention that nothing, even those concepts, categories, and principles that appear to be most fundamental to making sense of the world, need simply be accepted, and that such refusal creates possibilities for developing alternative modes of thought and existence which increase persons' capacities and expand their possibilities without simultaneously increasing and expanding the proliferation of power within society (p. 46).

Central to Foucault's theorising were questions about what is considered legitimate knowledge at a certain place and time. Questioning how certain knowledge arises, how it is passed on and what function it has in constituting subjective experiences, and in shaping society is key to this study. Foucault (1981) argued that discourses must be treated as discontinuous practices which cross each other, may be juxtaposed with one another, and can exclude or be unaware of each other. It is this argument of Foucault's that suggested the notion of predicament, the term used in Chapter One to describe the ECEC sector currently. As my research intent is to gain a deeper understanding of the subject positions available in the intersection and interaction of discourses of disability, economics and human rights in the ECEC sector and how this has come to pass, Foucault's writings about how discourses normalise knowledge must be treated in analysis was of particular relevance. Foucault (2004) defended the idea that subject positions are constructed in discursive processes and practices involving many members of a community over time. Having discussed Foucault's thinking about construction of the norm the next section examines his ideas around the body and how this has raised a tension for this study.

### 2.5 Foucault and the body

As the framing of the study developed, I realised that I would likely need to consider the reading of the 'material' body in the data. Foucault's concern with the body was as a site of social control (Tynan, 2015). In the works of Foucault, existing

social and cultural norms construct the normative subject: the order of discourse defines what is considered to be a subject or a body that matters and, more concretely, the subject materializes through a repeated performance of signifying (i.e., naming) (Wehrle, 2015). Poststructural research has been criticised for its radical account of the body as socially constructed (Larsson, 2012) and I sought some clarity of thinking around this critique that would be workable for this project. How could I do justice to the 'provocation' for the study – the disabled child – if the child is purely a product of the discourse? While the disabled child is not a practical part of this study, the disabled child is certainly a point of reference and the pathology of the disabled body is to be expected in the responses of many participants. Evans (2004) contended that a central problematic remains over the role of the material body. His writing was largely concerned with Physical Education but had relevance for this study: "Different bodies do matter...how they move and how they look is central to whether individuals feel comfortable and are judged as having ability and hence status" (p. 78). This study interprets this as discursive; bodies that do or don't 'fit' with society's expectations of the day must therefore be socially constructed. I did however choose to remain mindful of Evans's point. It isn't evident that Foucault was disregarding of the prediscursive nature of the body but as Olssen (2006) argued, Foucault [just] had no wish to uncover and free these prediscursive experiences from "the tyranny of the text" (Foucault 1972, p. 47, cited in Olssen, p. 43). As Foucault (1977) insisted: "One needs to study what kind of body the current society needs" (p. 58). In this study, I have dealt with this tension by taking the position that the discourse is the reading of the body; it is through the discourse the body materialises. In other words, the prediscursive body exists as matter and the discourse regulate who and what matters.

As this section has identified, there are tensions that are bound to arise in a study of this nature and this is one of several reasons why I have chosen to include my own quasi-autoethnographic reflexive commentary alongside the analysis and discussion.

## 2.6 Reflexive commentary 'under the influence' of autoethnography

Here I build a case for *reflexive commentary* as an appropriate accompaniment to Foucault's ideas about knowledge and truth. My decades of experiences in the sector have clearly contributed to my position in this work and it is therefore appropriate to explore my own subject positions as part of this study. The subject positions that I have occupied are important to the understandings I have drawn, and the interpretations made. My life as parent of a child for whom exclusion was an ongoing risk is a part of me that needs acknowledging in the interpretation of the data. My roles as a teacher, the owner of an ECEC centre, and as a teacher educator have given me an insight into the ECEC sector that I wish to draw on. Cunningham and Carmichael (2018) claim that where the researcher invests emotionally in their writing and within the topic they are studying, it must be acknowledged.

The decisions I made about how to conceptualise this study were mine as a researcher. It became increasingly clear in the framing of this study my own voice could be included; that I could explore my own subject positions alongside those of participants. Jackson and Mazzei (2008) claim that autoethnographic-style commentary is in keeping with Foucault's (1988) description of 'curiosity', evoking the care one takes of what exists and what might exist. While poststructural theories reject the presence of an experience that can be fully understood, Foucault himself was excited by 'curiosity' – an acute interest and concern for everything that exists, an eagerness to look at something familiar and find it strange (O'Farrell, 2005). Hence, I include reflexive commentary, informed by autoethnography, not as a contradiction to the Foucauldian approach, but rather as a complement trusting that such curiosity will support my own troubling of the experiences I bring forward. I have come to understand that there are different ways to read and interpret theory: I have read Foucault through my own lens and therefore on this premise it is acceptable to add my own views and experiences. It is as Kauffman (2005) contends,

Understanding myself as a text, a discursive template writing the world and being written by the world. I have come to recognize that in a dialectical process, every text I read is interpreted and rewritten through my own biography and my autobiography is rewritten as I read it through alternate texts (p. 577)

As a researcher with broad involvement in the ECEC sector as a profession, and because I have held similar roles to the participants in the three groups in this study, I cannot be set aside from my own theorising. Hence, I took on board Chang's (2008) contention that one's story is never made in a vacuum; others are always visible or invisible participants. Therefore, while the study is not autoethnographic per se, I acknowledge it contains a measure of myself that is unavoidable. I was there so to speak, but who I was when I was there, and what had gone before for me also came along for the ride. Although the focus remained on the participants, the nature of the interviews interactively produced meanings that could not be separated from my own feelings and responses. As Geertz (1973) commented on the subject of such qualitative research: "What we call our data are really our constructions of other people's constructions of what they and their compatriots are up to" (p. 9). This quote well describes the orientation of this study and the role that I have played in it. Marshall and Rossman (2011) also stressed the importance of the researcher systematically reflecting on who she is in the inquiry and being sensitive to her own personal biography and how it shapes the study. Therefore, when I speak of the data in this study it is with the understanding that data cannot be separated from myself. As St Pierre (2013) explains: "Something called data cannot be separate from me, out there, for me to collect" (p. 226). More so, the participants and I called the data into being for a purpose, brought it forth so to speak, and acknowledged that it was meaningful for the purpose of this work. I need to search for cohesion in this data I have created, avoid claiming it as knowledge but rather trust in the possibility that a new perception may arise. Therefore, the impetus for my decision-making is governed by my conceptions of the way the social world is constructed and how it operates to construct.

This work is not me writing my story but at pertinent points it has been necessary to explain my views, and draw on my experiences, about the wider contexts in which events took place and are taking place currently. Wherever possible I have included reference to the views of others in the attempt to either stabilise or disrupt my analysis. However, although the focus was on the participant and her or his story, my words, thoughts, and experiences are, at points, acknowledged. For example, as Ellis, Adams and Bochner (2004) suggest, personal motivation for doing a project, knowledge of the topics discussed, emotional responses to an interview, and ways in which the interviewer may have been changed by the process of interviewing need to be exposed and reflected upon.

I acknowledge Davies and Gannon's (2006) argument: "Poststructural theories problematise taken-for-granted humanist notions of the subject as capable of self-knowledge and self-articulation" (p. 474).

The self both is *and* is not a fiction; is unified and transcendent *and* fragmented and always in process of being constituted, can be spoken of in realist ways *and* cannot; its voice can be claimed as authentic *and* there is no guarantee of authenticity (Davies & Gannon, 2006, p. 95)

Reflexive commentary (influenced by autoethnography) presumes that one can speak for oneself while poststuctural theorists such as Foucault have argued the impossibilities of this. Gannon (2006) however, offers a way forward by suggesting that in such personal commentary: "The writer writes the writer as a complex (im)possible subject in a world where (self)knowledge can only ever be tentative, contingent and situated" (p. 474). Gray (2017) argues that there can be no single interpretation because one's interpretation of the facts - the facts themselves - are products of one's own interpretive stance. The facts or truths in the case of the theoretical positioning of this study become manifest through the dominant discourses of the time. Hence, as Clandinin and Connelly (1994) suggest, in research that seeks to discover in this case the personal experiences of others, as is particularly true of the whānau participants,

there is a unique relationship between researcher and participant, and as Wall (2006) contends, the intent of this type of research is to acknowledge the inextricable link between the personal and the cultural whilst making room for non-traditional forms of inquiry and expression.

I reiterate that the reflexive commentary in this thesis is therefore guided by but not wholly committed to autoethnographic account. "Autoethnography is an approach to research and writing that seeks to describe and systematically analyse (graphy) personal experience (auto) in order to understand cultural experience (ethno) (Ellis, 2004; Ellis, Adams & Bochner, 2011). Wall (2006) also suggests that the freedom of a researcher to speak as a player in a research project and to mingle his or her experience with the experience of those studied is precisely what is needed to move inquiry and knowledge further along. While I am not convinced that any knowledge is values free, without researcher voice, in this case my own, it is difficult to make visible one's own interpretations of the interpretations of others without an approach that affords this. I draw here on Sparkes (2000) who describes autoethnography as producing "highly personalised accounts that draw upon the experience of the author/researcher for the purposes of extending sociological understanding" (p. 21). At points throughout this work I have drawn on my own experiences, and very rarely, my accompanying emotions at the time, to make links to wider issues and tensions surrounding inclusion evident in the comments of the participants.

Autoethnography as methodology has been quite widely criticised for being self-indulgent, individualised and even narcissistic (Atkinson, 1997; Sparkes, 2000). I remained mindful of this disapproval but because my own experiences aligned with recurring themes, I believed I could take a moderate autoethnographic-style approach (Wall, 2016). Reflexive commentary is a guided commentary which adds another dimension to the findings that might otherwise be lost. The study required my honesty and integrity from the outset, and this would have been too difficult without exposing my own 'take' on the contexts and my own experiences in each of the participant roles. I have taken care in this moderate approach to avoid any evidence of self-therapy, indulgence or self-focus beyond that which helps to explain my own views and

understandings of the wider contexts in which events of likely exclusion have taken place. Such commentary is described as allowing for innovation, imagination, and the representation of a range of voices while also sustaining confidence in the quality, rigour and usefulness of the research (Wall, 2016). Ellis and Bochner (2000) described the need to concentrate on ways of producing meaningful, accessible, and evocative research grounded in personal experience: The type of research that would sensitize readers to issues of identity politics, to experiences shrouded in silence, and to forms of representation that deepen our capacity to empathize with people who are different from us. To this end, at different points my own voice has merely joined with others in the study while at other points I have drawn on my broad experience in the sector to shed light on possibilities for understanding how discourses have come to take hold.

Voice and reflexivity and are catch-terms in personal writing. Much has been written about reflexivity whereby the researcher pauses to consider how her presence, standpoint or characteristics might have influenced the outcome of the project (e.g., Wall, 2006). This is not to be confused with reflection which is a 'looking back' activity and one that Roddy and Dewar (2016) describe as a solitary activity carrying with it a sense of familiarity and comfort. Reflexivity involves others and is said to unsettle representation as one constantly constructs meaning and social realities as others are interacted with. Gray (2017) further claims that reflexivity provides insight into phenomena and how such insight is constructed. Voice, subsequently, refers to the way authors represent their personal reflexivity in their work. The argument in this study, as discussed in the preceding chapters, is that discourses (the influence of which I am not immune to) play a large part in this. In order to reveal researcher voice, at points throughout this work I have included personal comments in text boxes. These comments are a way of evidencing my own feelings and experiences in response to participant contributions that I have personal relationship with.

## 2.6. Chapter Summary

To summarise the theoretical framing of this study: The study employs

Foucauldian understandings of discourse and investigates the ways in which discourses

create subject positions of varying value to explore how inclusion for disabled children
in the long-day ECEC sector is promoted or impeded. Alongside Foucault's work,
autoethnographically informed reflexive commentary is added to expand analysis of the
contexts in which such subject positions are likely made available for disabled children,
their whānau and the teachers, owners and managers. Foucault himself offered
researchers flexibility and creativity around the use of his work.

All my books ... are little toolboxes ... if people want to open them, to use this sentence or that idea as a screwdriver or spanner to short-circuit, discredit or smash systems of power, including eventually those from which my books have emerged ... so much better! (Foucault, 1975, 'Interview with Roger Pol Droit', cited in Patton 1979, p. 115)

Ball (2013) noted the frustrations expressed by Foucault himself that so much effort was devoted to writing about what he might mean rather than doing the sort of practical analytic work that he advocated so vigorously. Put simply, what this study intends is take care to be explicit about how the data analysis is approached without risking becoming subordinate to the rules of its methods-making. Furthermore, the project needs to be explainable, including its theorising, to all research participants, especially the whānau participants who shared so openly (and on occasion with anger, grief and sadness) in order to honour their contributions to the study. In doing so, honouring the intent of the study while ensuring the nature and purpose of the study is not over-simplified which could be misleading for participants.

In its gestation this project was somewhat naively premised on the sole belief that much of the tension and complexity surrounding disability was [governmentally] political, and pejoratively perhaps, that the market model currently operating in the sector was opportunistic, borne of neoliberal economic policy, and potentially hostile

to the inclusion of disabled children. In hindsight, there was imminent danger of falling into an un-Foucauldian gaze that assumed a division between the groups of the controllers and the controlled, or as Pringle (2003) explained, "the presumed division between the dominators and the dominated" (p. 107). "In much of the work that purports to be Foucauldian in educational studies, power is reduced to domination and knowledge is detached from power" (Ball, 2013, p. 19). As Fischer (2009) reminded,

Foucault taught us to not see power as something negative but rather as something that produces, incites, is exercised. For him, power works in a complex, productive and subtle web that sets in motion other webs of discourses, knowledge, and daily and institutional practices – which are, in turn, related with the production and circulation of truths (p. 209)

Pringle (2003) further explained that Foucault presented power as omnipresent because it was produced through all actions and relations between people. While the supposition that competition for knowledge production in ECEC was due to powerful and potentially contradictory 'truths' embedded in the discourses of disability, neoliberalism and human rights may (or maybe not) be borne out, Foucault's work has challenged the researcher to look for subtleties and nuances; to look at what wasn't seen; to look for the unusual in the usual. Ferguson (1990) made the claim that in our society dominant discourse tries never to speak its own name. Ferguson's comment served as a reminder early in the study that if something appeared obvious to a researcher, it likely may not be as it appeared. The data in this project would be produced by this project, not freshly discovered, they would not necessarily be new but would be looked at afresh, and as Lather (1992) suggested, the practices that we invent to discover the truth about ourselves are fragile. Therefore, the research questions were designed to produce data affording the opportunity to expose nuance over the obvious, the subtle indicators of something bigger, something deeper, and possibly interrelated.

## 2.7: Research questions

In light of the issues raised in this chapter, this study poses the questions:

- 1) Which discourses appear to be gaining traction in the ECEC sector in Aotearoa New Zealand at this point in time?
- 2) How are these discourses transpiring in terms of policies and practices?
- 3) What subject positions are available to disabled children within the discourses operating in the sector?

# CHAPTER THREE: CRITIQUING THE LITERATURE: Revisiting and rethinking

#### 3.1. Introduction to the literature

This chapter explores literature contributing to an understanding of the current contexts of ECEC and the discourses that have, and possibly still are creating subject positions for disabled children in contradiction to the intent of the Aotearoa New Zealand's legislation for inclusion (refer 3.2) forms the starting point for this study. Hence, this review begins by exploring various structures and interpretations of policy. Foucauldian genealogies, as Olssen (2006) explained, "trace an essential, historically constituted tie between power and knowledge" (p. 14). Taking this approach has allowed me to focus mainly on 'problems' for inclusion emerging in the literature and examine the 'historical knowledges' that have brought these to the fore. According to O'Farrell (2007), Foucault argued against history as a process towards an end goal: "That all events and all change are tending towards an absolute point" (p. 75). Foucault challenged the notion of history as a trajectory of continuity because he saw it as propping up the status quo with all its injustices over time. However, as Kuhn (1970) suggested, different periods in time structure their systems of knowledge according to different principles and I was looking for shifts in the principles that positioned disabled children differently, not an end goal such as Foucault argued against. The literature examined in this chapter indicates that a complexity of discourses is contributing to a predicament in the sector which is (re)positioning disabled children: such discourses are not necessarily new but present differently today and for different reasons than perhaps they did historically.

## 3.2. The legislative and policy platform for inclusion

Disabled children in Aotearoa New Zealand have legal right of access to, and full participation in early childhood education settings by way of a suite of acts and policies cited in the introduction to this work. Additionally, the New Zealand Disability Strategy (Ministry of Health, 2001) assures New Zealanders of the intent to guide action to promote a more inclusive society for persons with disabilities. Among the proposed actions of this strategy are the promotion of full participation, breaking down barriers, challenging exclusionary attitudes and practices and supporting appropriate and inclusive educational settings to meet individual educational needs: "The government will take the lead" (p. 3). This mélange of legislation and policy appears to have had its origins in liberal discourse in that it takes protecting and enhancing the freedom of the individual to be the problem of government (Buckler & Dolowitz, 2004). It could also be described as fitting within the frame of social liberalism which Buckler and Dolowitz claim may be understood to represent a middle way between the alternatives of market freedom and a traditional social democracy. The fact that much of this legislation was developed or at least conceived of at a time when Aotearoa New Zealand was undergoing radical economic reform is of interest here. During a Labour government's term of office, Mitchell (2019) explained that "these ideas were adopted single-mindedly across many spheres of operation" (p. 17). Mitchell went on to explain that this New right economic theory was applied to reforms in education and particularly to the ECEC sector, which became increasingly privatised. Mitchell was describing what I have portrayed in this study as neoliberalism.

Neoliberalism can be broadly understood as a new form of liberalism which potentially integrates 18th and 19th century notions of free market and laissez-faire into all aspects of contemporary life (McCarthy et al., 2009). Economic policy of devoutly neoliberal intent has been generally described as anti-statist in that it openly opposes or diminishes state intervention into the personal, social and economic affairs of individuals. Whether or not this type of economic reform has had significant negative impact on public support for citizenship rights such as inclusion is a topic for

debate although Humpage (2011) argues that there is no overwhelming evidence that neo-liberal reform has resulted in a paradigmatic shift away from public support for social citizenship in principle. Neoliberal reform, however, has clearly changed the socio-political environment in which such legislation must play out. To enter this debate, it is unlikely that public views about citizenship and rights can remain outside the sphere of influence of such dominant discourses in our society. As Fischer (2009) writes of Foucault's central questioning about truth, it is important to ask what truths are constructed within certain schemes of rationality, and who becomes the subjects of these discourses? Taking this further, Foucault encourages us to view our own role as subjects and creators of subjectivities: we are all subject to and subjects of discourse (Ball, 2013).

Explaining trajectories of legislation, some years ago March and Olsen (1989) made a rather generalised contention that the pathway between government legislation and the implementation of subsequent policy is influenced by the beliefs, values, attitudes and understandings of the persons involved in both the 'making' and the 'implementing'. This was further discussed by Boston and Callister (2005) who questioned how policy makers might foster social cohesion and national unity in a context of increasing cultural pluralism and conflicting values. Values are seen as expressions of wider discourses in this thesis. Moreover, with legislation involving issues of human rights and social justice imperatives such as the inclusion of disabled children, the arena in which policy is developed and executed can be heavily 'landmined' by strongly entrenched moral and political views and public assumptions, many of which are reinforced by other (and often unrelated) legislative and policy objectives. Armstrong, Belmont and Verillon (2000) also reminded, "policies do not exist in a vacuum; they reflect underlying ideologies and assumptions in a society" (p. 7). As Moss (2019) suggests, "dominant discourses do not become dominant by chance or by any intrinsic merit" (p. 15). The 'story' told by neoliberalism, as Monbiot (2017) explains, dominates our political and economic systems, it seeps into our language and our understanding, it becomes natural. To this point Parker (2008) contributed that disabled people and their families cannot achieve rights and justice if they are impeded by a society which embodies policies that while intended for amelioration of

marginalisation are in fact embedded in structural and attitudinal barriers born of contradictory paradigm. As Foucault (1979) explains, disciplinary power such as by way of policy, brings those for whom the policy is intended into focus — a compulsory visibility which maintains the subject as disciplined. One effect of this visibility is classification, and classification in neoliberal terms is necessary as Ball (2013) posits; teachers are being nudged into the techniques of economic behaviourism whereby performance and productivity are overriding the intent of legislation and policy for inclusion.

Approaching policy in general terms, Lascoumes and Le Gales (2007) suggest policies are fundamentally conceived as pragmatic: as a political and technical approach to solving problems via instruments and further argued that these instruments are 'natural'; they are viewed as being at our disposal with the only questions they raise relating to whether they are the best possible ones for meeting the objectives set. Lascoumes and Le Gales further argue that every policy instrument constitutes a condensed form of knowledge about social control and ways of exercising it, and instruments at work are not neutral devices: they produce specific effects, independently of the objective pursued which structure public policy according to their own logic. In the light of this view it is fair to say that policies theorise the relationship between those governing and those governed and as such, the policies for supporting and resourcing inclusion of disabled children might also be theorising the relationship for management purposes and thus overriding the human rights legislation's original intent.

March and Olsen (1989) further described policy instruments as 'institutions' in the sociological use of the term, involving co-ordinated sets of values, beliefs, and principles of action, underpinned by moral principles unequally assimilated by the actors and yet which guide their practice. This phenomenon is reflected in Foucault's (1965) comment that "people know what they do; frequently they know why they do what they do, but what they don't know is what *what* they do does" (cited in Dreyfus & Rabinow, 1983, p. 187). This is clearly explained by Lascoumes & Le Gales (2007).

[policy] Instruments are really institutions, as they partly determine the way in which the actors are going to behave; they create uncertainties about the effects of the balance of power; they will eventually privilege certain actors and interests and exclude others; they constrain the actors while offering them possibilities; they drive forward a certain representation of problems (p. 9)

The Aotearoa New Zealand legislation for inclusion has been critically discussed and the tensions and complexities of subsequent policies and practices examined by a wide range of authors concerned with inclusion in Aotearoa New Zealand (e.g., Ballard, 1999; Bevan-Brown, 2006; Gunn et al., 2004; McArthur & Morton, 1999; Wills & McLean, 2008). New Zealand's dominant education policy instrument, Special Education 2000 (M.O.E., 1996) has featured strongly in much of this discussion. The policy itself was designed to provide both a climate for inclusion, which suggests interest in and understanding of the paradigm deemed necessary for the success of the process, and a framework for addressing all aspects of the education of students with 'special needs'. There was, and still is, funding directed at children with very high needs, funding for severe behavioural concerns, and a communication initiative for students with speech and language difficulties. Schools receive direct funding in the form of the Special Education Grant (SEG) which is payable on a formula basis and which can be used at the discretion of the school. While there are funds allocated to the early childhood sector, the SEG was not made available directly to individual early childhood centres. This funding for early childhood education is managed by central bodies such as Group Special Education (G.S.E.) a branch of the M.O.E.) and C.C.S. (formerly Crippled Children's Society) and as such is not available for creative use by teachers. This reinforces Lascoumes and Le Gales (2007) claims regarding privilege and constraint; the possibilities afforded to early childhood teachers are constrained by the positioning of the disabled child in a special education framework, hence privilege is afforded to the special educator whose raison d'etre is the disability, over the teacher who is involved with the child purely because they are a child.

Generally, inclusive practice in early childhood centres has been loosely guided by overarching, somewhat generic legislation, a curriculum document which makes passing reference to the child with disabilities and a handbook distributed by the Ministry of Education entitled *Te Reo Tātaki: Including everyone* (2000). There has been no update since the first publication. *Te Reo Tātaki* claims amongst its guiding principles inclusive education as 'good education' and as 'good sense' (M.O.E., 2000). In an earlier publication (Lyons, 2005) I suggested that both principles were value-laden and open to interpretation. "Historically, and in the name of 'good sense' people with disability have been negated, segregated, and even castrated" (p. 18), and with regard to 'good education', aside from a huge shift from absolute segregation for disabled children we have far to go in achieving any sort of consensus regarding good education, inclusive or otherwise. What is perceived as good or valuable underpins the ways in which society measures quality and as Dahlberg and Moss (2008) argue, quality is neither neutral nor self-evident, but saturated with values and assumptions.

A distinct influence on the subject positioning of disabled children emerging in the literature is a funding structure which focuses on deficit. The fact that funding is attached to disability labels and is contestable gives a clear message to teachers, families and communities that where legislation refers to rights, the parent policy of Te Reo Tātaki, Special Education 2000, equates rights with needs. Simply put, implementation of this policy is reliant on the identification of 'need', biomedical confirmation of the 'need', resourcing of the 'need' and professional support to manage the 'need'. Such policy affirms the message for teachers that disability is problematic and costly, and teachers are not experts. Research published by Purdue (2009) contained clear examples from the early childhood sector of children's participation being openly opposed or made conditional because of funding or resourcing constraints; her data indicated that lack of resources is used as an excuse not to include those children who were perceived as requiring a greater investment of work, attention and resourcing. Hence, the rights of the disabled child to access and participate fully has become lost in a milieu of complex and disabling managerial detail, drawing on discourse of disability which positions disability as pathological and personalised. How this situation has become central to this study is discussed in the following section.

## 3.3. Theorising Disability

This section begins with a definition of disability worthy of deconstruction.

Fulcher (1999) stated that disability is complex, and the complexity arises largely from society's construction of the disabled rather than the impairment itself.

Disability is an extraordinarily complex phenomenon but this complexity derives, primarily, not from the intricacies of physical lesions but from the social and political use to which the construct of disability is put, independent of the presence, or intricacies, of an impairment (p. 25).

Earlier, and still predominant views in Western society, define disability [state of disablement] as primarily a biomedical phenomenon, a deficit-based and personalised paradigm (Corbett, 1996; Fulcher, 1999; Slee, 2011). In further discussion of this paradigm, Kearney and Kane (2006) refer to Mercer's (1973) two theories of disability: Firstly, the pathological theory which involves inherent embodied biological symptoms, and secondly his statistical theory whereby the person is identified in terms of the extent to which they differ from others. Foucault reframed these enduring truths as discursive constructions, arguing that our taken-for-granted knowledge and solid conviction of right and wrong hide the constructed nature of such knowledge (Johnson, 2014). This is particularly relevant for biomedical approaches to disability in which Foucault (2003) expressed specific interest, describing biomedical discourse as constructed under a lens which distinguishes illness or disability from the person. However, the biomedical discourse of disability remains established as 'grand narrative' assuming an authority, particularly in special education, that as Brantlinger (2006) argues, communicates individual, deficit and biologically based views of disability as a straightforward presentation of scientific fact.

Furthermore, in early childhood education tradition, an allegiance to the discipline of child development has iterated Mercer's statistical theory by rendering universal truth to a view of child development as following a relatively linear and biologically determined pathway (Canella, 2000; Dalli, 1999). The theory of child development and its offspring Developmentally Appropriate Practice (D.A.P.) has historically provided the early childhood sector with a vehicle for measurement and comparison which aligns with Mercer's second theory. It is assumed to be unbiased and neutral because it is a factual representation of reality. However, such child development knowledge and the programmes that draw on it, tend to default to the dominant group's belief systems, norms and stereotypes (Macartney, 2011). Foucault (2003) argued for reframing such enduring truths as discursive constructions: The processes of assigning disability labels by way of developmentalism to individuals is a key example of the power of discursive practices in shaping reality and experience. Regarding knowledge, truth and subsequent power, Foucault (1980) said that truth is a thing of this world, with each society having its regimes of truth, politics of truth, and mechanisms by which each is sanctioned.

Developmental theory, however, is still deemed helpful for accessing funding for children with disability, which further reinforces biomedical definitions and labels and works in deep contrast to current approaches to assessment in early childhood which are purportedly competency based for children identified as typically-developing. That such a discourse still penetrates much of New Zealand's 'special education' policy, while not evident in the overarching legislation, has relevance to Hahn's (1986) contention that how disabled persons are positioned is fundamentally a policy question inferring that the definition of disablement is constructed within the act of policy making and implementation. To this point Selvaraj (2015) argues that while the term inclusive education was earlier regarded as a progressive idea, and was included in the policy statements, it has jostled uncomfortably between funding and policy mechanisms which have militated against both its acceptance and its success.

While many disciplines have historically characterised disability as a solely biomedical condition, a genetic condition, a disease category or a personal deficit,

others have adopted the framework of disability as a consequence of social, environmental and political conditions (Rioux & Valentine, 2006; Wendell, 1996). Siebers (2008) wrote of emerging fields of disability studies which define disability as a product of social injustice, not one that requires cure or elimination of the defective person, but significant changes in the social and built environment. The biomedical and social models of disability have been widely critiqued, most strongly perhaps by Shakespeare (2017), who suggests that the social model of disability creates a straw person and positions medicine as undesirable. He argues that where people are unable to get around, for example, societies which aspire to being inclusive and egalitarian have a duty to compensate such individuals. However, disabled people also face other difficulties arising from the predicament of having impaired bodies.

Several writers have moved beyond social, political, and environmental constructions of disablement (Goodley, 2007; McLean, 2008; Siebers, 2008) and into critical discussion of disability as cultural and minority identity. As Siebers (2008) stated, "to call disability an identity is to recognise not a biological or natural property but an elastic social category both subject to social control and social change" (p. 4). As a non-disabled researcher, I chose not to enter this argument but rather to explore the contexts in which each is positioned. Next, this study puts forward an examination of inclusion itself.

## 3.4. Understandings of Inclusion

In addition to the problematic nature of defining disablement, it could also be argued there have been shifts over time in the understandings associated with the term inclusion (Kearney & Kane, 2006). Inclusion as a philosophical stance presents in the earlier literature as relating to issues of social justice and equity (Ballard, 1999; Oliver, 1996; Slee, 2000) yet it has remained, in its general usage, an elusive concept. Kearney and Kane (2006) also argue that this is because inclusion is still an evolving concept, and it seems more probable that it is because it has been technically interpreted and used by different people in a variety of ways to achieve a range of

goals and agendas. In education, policy has persisted in framing inclusive education as something to be done, a practice for accommodating disabled children, as opposed to a philosophy drawing on discourses of social justice. Slee (2011) suggests that research around inclusion and inclusive education has largely focused on attitudes to difference, embedded in which is a repeated construction of the disabled child as a problem to others which needs to be remedied by attitudinal shift. Slee further comments that inclusive education is in a state of inertia stemming from confusion over meanings, ideological jousting, and the reduction of inclusion to a technical problem to be fixed by policy.

Aotearoa New Zealand's own Special Education 2000 policy with its goal of achieving a world class inclusive education system over the next (now last) decade (M.O. E., 1996) does not contain a definition of inclusion, nor has it ever been officially defined (Kearney & Kane, 2006). Broader use of the term has involved disability, sexualities, ethnicity, gender and class (Gunn et al., 2004; Qvortrup & Qvortrup, 2018), which have never been mutually exclusive categories. Clearly, the term inclusion has been used in reference to diversity which Boston and Callister (2005) defined using terms such as heterogeneity, variety and difference, or conversely as uniformity and homogeneity. It would be difficult to argue against the notion that that central to most definitions of inclusion are philosophical underpinnings of emancipation, social justice and citizenship (Ballard, 2003; Cole, 2006; Gunn et al., 2004; Lyons, 2005; MacArthur & Morton, 1999) yet, momentarily disregarding the celebratory and appealing social justice rhetoric, the term inclusion has inevitably implied and spoken of 'otherness' which Graham and Slee (2007) argue has worked to produce both margin and centre through the privileging of universal categories. Ravaud and Stiker (2001) concur, succinctly stating that the terms 'inclusion' and 'exclusion' operate in tandem and can only be understood in relation to one another. Reinforcing this view, Kearney and Kane (2006) contended that inclusion is inextricably linked with exclusion and vice versa: "To be included is not to be excluded. Excluded and included are two sides of the same coin and to understand one, requires an understanding of the other" (p. 202). Introducing another layer, Graham (2006) raised the argument that the term inclusion implies 'a bringing in' suggesting that it is not those on the 'inside' who are really

expected to change. Thus, the terminology privileges the pre-existing (Graham & Slee, 2008) and has given rise to further opportunity for policy makers to hold on to power. As Graham and Slee further suggest, when inclusion is the focus, we must ask into what do we seek to include?

As mentioned earlier, many definitions of inclusion have involved the perception that inclusion is a discernible event (Kearney & Kane, 2006), an observable phenomenon so to speak and one which MacArthur & Morton (1999) suggested gives rise to the possibility of lesser quality of education and care once included. The child may be visible in the regular setting, but the practices may not be involving actions complicit with the Ministry of Health's (2001) aims of "promoting full participation, breaking down barriers, challenging exclusionary attitudes and practices and supporting appropriate and inclusive educational settings to meet individual educational needs" (p. 3). Hence, as Graham and Slee (2008) noted additional complexity; "to be inclusive is not necessarily to include" (p. 278).

Perhaps agreement regarding conceptual understanding of inclusion has been difficult to achieve because, as Rioux and Valentine (2006) suggested, while the concept of human rights is widely accepted as an organising principle for law, policy and advocacy its meaning in practice is also widely divergent and actively debated. Writing in reference to education policy generally, Liasidou (2008) stressed that local cultures, language and ideological dynamics infiltrate and eventually domesticate inclusive policies. "It is important to adopt cross cultural perspectives and interrogate the ways that the cultural politics of inclusive education policy-making are played out, contested, manifested within distinct socio-political contexts" (p. 483). As Wasserman (2001) argued, disability advocates may be inclined to treat philosophy as the "handmaiden of policy" (p. 219) and reminded us that philosophers may tend to oversimplify [disability] for the sake of argument. An appreciation of this view appears inherent in the writing of Clough (2001) who posited; "a philosophy of inclusion may well be naive or even dishonest, because it assumes what it seeks to establish; that inclusion is morally necessitated and structurally indicated: get the structures right one might say, and humanity will follow" (p. 73). Azzopardi (2005, in Goodley, 2007) went

so far as to claim that inclusion had become a cliché. Next, I take these tensions surrounding inclusion into the marketplace of ECEC.

#### 3.5. The Marketisation of ECEC

The provision of ECEC in New Zealand has been undertaken by a wide range of providers, both private and community owned and which attract considerable state funding (Kesting & Fargher, 2008). Penn (2013) describes this as a neoliberal, demandled model, further alleging that demandled subsidies, such as those explained in Chapter One, incentivise entrepreneurs. Smith, Tesar and Myers (2016) also suggest that in Aotearoa New Zealand, 'vulnerable children' are stigmatised, and current policy encourages private investors and shareholders into the early childhood education market and to receive government subsidies and therefore enables private companies to profit from the public finances (p 28).

Prior to the 1990s, support for early childhood services in Aotearoa New Zealand was framed around issues of equity for children, women and minority groups however, it later became apparent that such investment was being rationalised as a prudent economic investment for the nation (May, 2009). It is noticeable that the structure and the focus of the ECEC sector currently has been strongly affected by neoliberal market structures and reforms taking place in Aotearoa New Zealand, and in Australia, over the past two decades. As government has divested itself of responsibility for considerable aspects of education management, the young child in ECEC has increasingly become positioned as a tradeable commodity linked to private investment.

Meagher and Cortis (2009) put forward a set of arguments against the marketisation or commodification of the care sector with relevance for both young children and the elderly. In many of these arguments, moral and economic dimensions are inextricably entwined. They also suggest that one important argument against marketisation of the sector is that profit is seen as a poor incentive for achieving social goals (for example the inclusion of disabled children). Further to this point, Schmid (2001) emphasised that care is a public good, better produced and distributed according to human need than skewed by investors' self-interest.

Of interest to many critical researchers in early childhood education (e.g., Goodfellow, 2005; Lyons, 2013; Penn, 2009; Sumsion, 2006.) is the extent to which privatisation of the sector impacts on the provision of 'quality' generally. Underpinning this concern is the relationship between economic and social goals. "Having a business orientation may result in greater concern for efficiency than for establishing relationships that provide for continuity, consistency and stability" (Goodfellow, 2005, p. 55) or as Cribb and Ball (2005) argue, "privatisation does not simply change how we do things, it also changes how we think about what we do" (p.121). Cribb and Ball's view can be understood using Foucault's (1973) claims that dominant discourses give us permission to speak and act in ways that reinforce the discourse (and not to speak in ways that do not): we do not speak the discourse so much as the discourse speaks us. The standard rationale for using the private sector to provide childcare, Penn (2009) writes, is that it is more innovative, flexible, and more efficient; and that competitiveness drives up quality. As Peters (2013) asserts: The market is the ultimate test and a business that survives and grows is one that has rigid quality control mechanisms that persuade the buyer that the product will always look the same.

Penn (2009), in querying whether ECEC is an area where standard economic precepts of competitiveness and efficiency are a good fit, suggests the notion of consumer is problematic ECEC because whānau are consumers on behalf of their children but often have limited experience of the service they are purchasing while children themselves are largely voiceless. Sims (2017) contributes to this point arguing that neoliberal thinking does not translate easily into social services and education: "In creating an education system where education is a product like any other product, there arises conflict around who is the ultimate consumer of education; is it the students, their families or the employers that will ultimately provide jobs for them?" (p. 2). Sims further argues that neoliberalism has had a devasting impact on the ECEC sector largely because of this focus on standardisation and positioning of children as investments for future economic productivity. Press and Woodrow (2007) add to this argument.

An emerging construction based on the notion of childhood as a vehicle for and site of consumption, infiltrating policy and practice in early childhood education

and care. This construction has the potential to normalise policies, practices and pedagogies derived from a commercialised view of childhood (childhood as a commercial practice) and brings with it potential risks to the wellbeing of communities and children (p. 313)

Of importance here is how children are positioned within the discourse of the marketplace of ECEC. Peters (2001) cited education as an important arena for promoting national economic advantage and future national prosperity. Key to this paradigm is the 'responsibilising of self' (Foucault, 1991, cited in Peters, 2001) whereby individuals are positioned according to their potential to make future contributions to society, and education settings are assessed by their accountability for certain external outcomes designed with such contributions in mind. Embedded within this responsible self is the facility of choice: Choice is often used to imply action or individual responsibility for action (e.g., he made 'bad choices') and discourages or discharges social responsibility for marginalised groups such as those with disabilities.

Further emerging from neoliberal discourse is an image of an ideal individual which Peters (2001) describes as an entrepreneurial self and referring to this child as a 'superchild'. Peters (2001) suggests this entrepreneurial self embodies a shift from a culture of dependency (on the state) to one of self-reliance. The development of future citizens who have the means to provide for themselves economically with minimal cost to the state is a key feature. This discourse of self-reliance is characterised by and promotes personal agency with regards to physical and intellectual achievement, self-actuality and the accumulation of goods and finances.

Kaščák and Pupala (2013) raise germane discussion that within discourses of childhood, neoliberal discourses are encouraging a particular conception of childhood by way of developmental theories which enable entrepreneurial logic to be applied to the ECEC sector: "Children are being shaped into so-called knowledge workers" (p.

319). As mentioned earlier, developmental theory is based on the belief that development is linear and ascending. The relationship between neoliberalism and developmentalism is complex in that individualism implies a uniqueness which is valued by neoliberalism, yet developmental theories suggests a norm from which children can be declared to deviate. Organising ECEC on this premise of neoliberal individualism creates a homogenising image of childhood which creates risk for disabled children. "The norm is therefore no longer a (developmental) norm but has become a norm to exceed the norm" (Kaščák &Pupala, 2013, p. 324).

The notion of homogenised childhoods further invokes the idea of Ferguson's (1990) 'mythical norm'. The mythical norm of any context emerges as a result of dominant views which create both centre and margin and from which specific 'others' can be declared to deviate (Ferguson, 1990, cited in Graham & Slee, 2008; Lyons, 2012; Slee, 2011). Foucault's (1979) writing of the 'norm' explains how the norm circulates between the disciplinary and the regulatory and in the case of education is linked to specific standards valued as part of the trajectory of educational achievement. It is likely then that the marketplace of ECEC has embraced the role of preparing preschool children for the next step in the 'norm' pathway as a marketing tool appealing to parents of typically developing children. Evidence of this approach, which draws on the discourse of developmental theory, is shown in the following example drawn from a google search of ECEC advertisements using the search term 'preparation for school'.

We have a 'Fabulous Fours' programme for 4-5-year-old children, which focuses mainly on literacy and numeracy for smooth transition to school. Our programme is comprehensive, skill-based and designed to prepare children for their first year and on-going success in school.

https://www.littletoetoes.co.nz/news/news-story-three

The positions available to disabled children become increasingly limited within this linear and ascending discourse. Keeping in mind that inclusion is a legislated right for disabled children in Aotearoa New Zealand, Purdue (2009) cites examples drawn from her doctoral research such as management informing whānau of the inability of the centre to accept children with disabilities, whanau being required to pay for extra support, and teachers delaying entry on grounds of unpreparedness for working with disabled children. Many such experiences are also reported in the Australian research of Grace et al. (2008) who cite examples of families waiting up to a year for confirmation of enrolment after a 75% rejection rate based on similar responses from childcare centres. Essa et al.'s (2008) research also noted teachers' perceptions of preparedness, especially prior learning, was a strong predictor of inclusion of children with disabilities. While such responses may be underpinned and reinforced by limited notions and models of inclusion such as those realised through contested resourcing mechanisms focused on individual difference (Haynes, 2005), it might also be considered that the dominance of neoliberal goals and structures in the sector generally is impeding the progress of inclusion by limiting the positions available.

As earlier mentioned, ECEC as business investment opportunity (Goodfellow, 2005; Kilderry, 2006; Lyons, 2012; Penn, 2013; Press & Woodrowe, 2005) has become the dominant view (and voice) of the sector. Several authors have suggested that the relationship between legislation, policy and resourcing for inclusion in the Aotearoa New Zealand education system requires further examination in the light of investment opportunity developments as there is much to suggest that the intent of Aotearoa New Zealand's legislation for inclusion cannot be easily realised when juxtaposed with the 'economic viability' values prevailing (Ballard, 2004; Davis, 2007; Lyons, 2005.). This tension between privatisation of the early childhood sector and wider social goals has been raised frequently (Goodfellow, 2005; Kilderry, 2006; Sumsion, 2006) and is germane with critical writing about the compulsory sectors of education. Inclusion in the ECEC sector, viewed largely as a social goal, has important considerations for the success of Early Intervention (E.I.) for disabled children. In the

next section, Early Intervention as a specialist field is situated and discussed in the ECE marketplace as it is currently structured.

## 3.6. Implications for Early Intervention

For disabled children, play and social interaction are not only non-competitive and avoid normative assessment but also are viewed as critical to learning and future participation in society (MacArthur & Morton, 1999; Guralnick, 2008). As Skinner, Buysse and Bailey (2004) suggest, "of all the skills likely to enhance a child's wellbeing and facilitate success later in life, the ability to interact in a meaningful way with one's peers is probably one of the most important" (p. 194), and most naturally provided for in a play-based, inclusive setting. The play-based ECEC setting as critically involved with early intervention for children with disabilities is widely claimed (e.g., Carroll-Lind & Cullen, 2001; Mac Arthur & Morton, 1999; Ministry of Education, 2000; Press & Woodrowe, 2005). "The philosophy of E.I. is based on the premise of intervening early to avoid further developmental delays" (Carroll-Lind & Cullen, 2001, p. 7) and for disabled children intends maximising inclusive opportunities, taking advantage of typical learning experiences and environments and setting the occasion for the formation of peer relationships and friendships with a broader community of possibilities (Guralnick, 2008). In Aotearoa New Zealand, both E.I. teachers and ECEC teachers are responsible for facilitating and supporting the care and education of disabled-labelled children (Macartney, 2016). As an aside but of interest to this study, Macartney also reported that the M.O.E. does not collect information about how many families with disabled children are or are not accessing an ECEC service.

E.I. as a discipline usually involves a professionalised approach which can in practical terms involve what MacArthur and Dight (2000) described as a "truckload of professionals" (p. 40). Such a presence of adults can act as a barrier to social interactions for the disabled child. The E.I. professional is involved with (and resourced for) the identification of disability, difference or delay in young children and in most

cases, responsible for organising a support team including for example an educational psychologist, a speech language therapist, a neuro-developmental therapist, physiotherapist and so forth. Paraprofessionals such as an Education Support Worker (E.S.W.) are a likely addition if funds are made available. The paraprofessional is often unqualified.

The rationale for the presence of the 'truckload of professionals' working in the ECEC setting is largely built upon a biomedical model of disability as previously referred to by Mercer (1973, cited in Kearney & Kane, 2006). As Corbett and Slee (2000) noted, this approach to inclusion has evolved from a traditional special education framework, a technical approach involving finding solutions to problems through diagnosis by the expert professions, and subsequent remedial interventions. Unless early childhood teachers are able to challenge this biomedical approach to disability, the research findings of MacArthur, Dight and Purdue (2000) indicated children with disabilities may be considered different and not the responsibility of teachers in regular early childhood centres. This is a key concern of this thesis. The child is positioned as problematic and complex, the teacher is not viewed as the expert. This view is reiterated by Kearney and Kane (2006) who argue that defining disability as something inherent in the child (and with no regard for the part played by culture, environments and attitudes of individuals) will further absolve teachers from responsibility for working with the disabled child. Giangreco et al. (1993) commented that children do not attend early childhood services to receive support services: They receive support so they can participate in early childhood education and care. Research findings (MacArthur & Dight, 2000; Purdue, 2009) indicate that in situations where teachers and early intervention professionals are able to share an inclusive philosophy, share goals and respect for each other's professional skills a high level of satisfaction with the process is reported.

The importance of qualified teachers and sound initial teacher education for successful inclusion is claimed widely (e.g., Grace et al. 2008; MacArthur & Morton,

1999; Mohay & Reid, 2006; Purdue, 2009). According to a range of research (e.g., Miller & Cordova, 2002; Mohay & Reid, 2006), the greater the amount of training and experience in the area of childhood disability and inclusion, the more positive teacher beliefs regarding inclusion become. The Purdue (2009) research data reinforced this citing teachers' lack of knowledge about disability and teaching children with disabilities had not only affected the success of the process but also deterred families from enrolling their child with disabilities. That whānau were viewing teachers as unprepared is not surprising given that teachers are claiming lack of experience and preparedness as one reason for excluding children (Grace et al., 2008; Purdue, 2009).

Citing the need for training may on one hand be underpinned by an ongoing influence of biomedical discourse: special training for teaching special children promotes and reinforces the divide between same and different and, as stated earlier, affords teachers the choice to exclude. It is neither possible nor probable for initial teacher education to provide all the information on every type of disability, nor could teacher educators teach all the strategies appropriate for the inclusion of every child. Such teaching practice would also contradict current philosophy underpinning early childhood education in which the child is framed as a competent and confident learner and communicator (M.O.E., 1996; 2017) and as a unique individual embedded in, influenced by and contributing to one's own ecology (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). Most importantly, such training would further present disability as other; a deepening of classification that Foucault (1980) argued is the fundamental character of the norm. On the other hand, if teachers' reluctance to act inclusively is underpinned by is a discourse of neoliberalism, it is possible that the power of neoliberalism is fortified by the biomedical discourse. The disabled child is positioned, by way of pathology, as an unsuitable fit for the neoliberal vision. In contrast the able child better fits the vision of the competent and confident learner and communicator central to the framework of Te Whāriki.

## 3.7. Literature summary

This chapter has drawn together evidence that there are several key forces and tensions which create subject positions for disabled children. Goodfellow's (2007) metaphor of 'childcare as a marketplace' invites researchers to conceptualise the forces at work in childcare provision generally and it is clear that children emerge as a commodity and are objectified within this metaphor: "Commodification reflects a view that care is treated like any other commodity where cost, price, availability and distribution are left to the workings of a free market economy "(p. 250). The marketplace invariably involves the notion of choice yet for the families of disabled children this has not emerged as the case. Choice of centre is limited to those centres that demonstrate knowledge of and willingness to engage with the intricacies of inclusion.

This chapter has noted complexities emerging from deficit- based and contestable funding regimes, and subsequent teacher self-perceptions of inadequacy. Juxtaposed social and economic intent have been cited as contributing to the current complexities with notions of self-responsibility emerging as embedded in current trends in education generally and serving to 'exclude' those who are not able to exercise this faculty. "Dispersed to the margins is the 'improper child'; the 'at-risk' child who comes to be described in deficit discourses and targeted with equity programmes" (Graham, 2007, p. 210).

As aforementioned, the majority ownership of childcare in New Zealand lies in the hands of business (Education Counts, 2012; Farquhar, 2008; George, 2007). In a flow-on effect, traditionally non-profit Kindergarten Associations, often the first port-of-call for whānau of disabled children, are now adapting to full-day childcare to compete. Further describing the changes to the sector over the past 30 years George (2007) states: "What started as a matter of social equity and found its expression in the

development of community-based childcare, is now fertile ground of profit accumulation "(p. 15). May (2008) added to this argument.

Commercial operators are able to set up and access public money wherever they see a business opportunity. There is no mechanism to ensure that responsive, community-oriented services are universally available. Low-income families, migrant communities, Māori and Pacific families and rural communities are those most likely to miss out (p. 303)

The childcare marketplace is complex and relatively unique in terms of usual neoliberal principles. Clients (whānau/caregivers) pay for emotional, social and physical care yet they are not the recipients per se. Aotearoa New Zealand whānau of 'typically developing' children were reported in an NZCER survey as being 93% satisfied with the care their child received with the most important characteristics of a satisfactory centre being affective and relational; happy settled children, warm nurturing adults and good communication (Mitchell, 2008). Conversely, whānau of disabled children both in Aotearoa New Zealand and Australia spoke of real difficulties gaining access to childcare with arguments based around economics and teacher preparedness (Purdue, 2009; Grace et al., 2009). Of relevance to Aotearoa New Zealand currently are the earlier questions raised by Heap and Ross (1992, cited in Peters, 2001) of the emergent enterprise culture in the U.K.

Will the encouragement of individual initiative and the free play of market forces succeed without an accompanying change in the culture? Can the public virtue of caring for those unable to care for themselves survive in this new order? (p. 66)

The literature examined in this chapter has unquestionably identified discrepancies between legislative intent and policy outcomes and raised increased

concerns for social justice and equity issues. The legislation to ensure inclusion for disabled children is struggling in a political, economic, and educational environment in which stronger market forces prevail. Overall, I believe the literature indicates a gap in the research undertaken in Aotearoa New Zealand and raises questions about how discourses positioning disabled children have gained or lost traction over the past few decades. This led to my decision to design a study intending to examine the subject positions made available to disabled children within the marketplace of ECEC by assembling the evidence of discourses situated within the wider contexts in which long-day ECEC is provided. How the study was informed and designed is discussed in the following chapter.

## CHAPTER FOUR: METHODOLOGY

## 4.1. Background.

The research questions (see Chapter Two, 2.7) indicated clearly that this would be a qualitative project. Creswell (2003) discussed the nature of qualitative research as interactive, humanistic and increasingly involving active participation by, and sensitivity to the participants: "Qualitative researchers look for involvement of their participants in data collection and seek to build rapport and credibility with the individuals in the study" (p. 181). The study planned to engage with teachers currently working in early childhood long-day ECEC centres to access their understanding of the circumstances and influences affecting the inclusion of disabled children, hence a qualitative approach was clearly appropriate. I was not interested in collating frequencies of acceptance or denial of enrolment, or in counting interactions between teachers and disabled children. This type of research interest would have favoured a quantitative approach which has been criticised as too reductionist in its approach to the study of human behaviour, thereby losing sight of the whole picture and over-simplifying human behaviour (Punch, 2005). My interest was in understanding how the discourses would play out in the language used by participants.

Fundamentally, qualitative research is interpretive; the researcher makes an interpretation of the data (Creswell, 2003). In qualitative research, as Miles and Hubermann (1994) noted, the researcher can attempt to capture data on the perceptions of local actors from the 'inside' through a process of deep attentiveness, empathetic understanding, and suspending or 'bracketing' preconceptions about the topics under discussion. In qualitative research the researcher must reflect on the ways in which her personal history may shape the research: "The personal-self becomes the researcher-self" (Creswell, 2003, p. 182). Cresswell's point was a meaningful reminder to me as this project was conceived out of my personal and professional understandings, experiences and concerns regarding inclusion for disabled children. Cresswell (2003) also stated that qualitative research is typified by acknowledgment of

biases, values and interests (p. 182). To this end I acknowledged these openly with a clear statement of my position in Chapter One of this study, by sharing my experiences with all participants, and declaring an interest in furthering awareness of possible tensions surrounding the subject positions of disabled children in the sector.

The researcher paradigm, according to Kuhn (1970), is an implicit framework that defines legitimate problems, methods, and solutions for a research community. The qualitative research paradigm, as Ritchie and Lewis (2003) explained, aims at providing an in-depth and interpreted understanding of the social world of research participants by learning about their social and material circumstances, their experiences and their histories. Expanding on Ritchie and Lewis's explanation, Denzin and Lincoln (2011) claim that the community of qualitative researchers is comprised of "those who are constantly challenging the distinction between the 'real' and that which is constructed, understanding that all events and understandings are mediated and made real through interactional and material practices, through discourse, conversation, writing, narratives, scientific articles, realist, post-realist and performance tales from the field" (p. X11). As this project was concerned with investigating the ways in which understandings about, and materialisations concerning disability become 'reality' or 'truth' in the ECEC sector, and how disabled children are subsequently positioned, a qualitative approach was necessitated.

Qualitative research covers an extraordinarily broad spectrum of methodologies and paradigmatic positions. This study takes an ontological position that reality should be questioned; it is not something for the researcher to discover, but rather it exists as a socially and discursively constructed entity. Truth claims therefore must be challenged. Hence, this project was never socially, politically, or even culturally neutral but was nurtured by a set of values and beliefs about disability, disabled people, inclusion and human rights at the time of its design. The decision to combine the work of Michel Foucault with reflexive commentary influenced by autoethnography is explained and discussed in Chapter Two (2.6).

## 4.2. Interviewing as method

In order to examine the prime questions, the study planned to gather data by conducting in-depth, semi-structured individual interviews firstly with owners and managers of long day ECEC centres, secondly with teachers in long day ECEC centres, and finally with a sample of whānau of disabled children. Interviews were a logical approach because as Jones (1985) quite simply put it: "in order to understand another person's construction of reality, one would do well to ask them" (p. 46). The interview is one of the main tools of qualitative data gathering because it allows the researcher to access people's perceptions and meanings, definitions of situations and constructions of realities (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Marshall & Rossman, 2011; Tracey, 2013). Kvale (1996) further described qualitative interviews as a 'construction site of knowledge,' however there were considerations and strategies to be addressed to ensure an ethical, productive and respectful experience of the process. These are discussed in this section.

There are several important reasons for using semi-structured individual interviews rather than a focus group approach. Firstly, in my experience as a lecturer and presenter about disability and inclusion, I have noticed a strong tendency on the part of adults in the early childhood profession to initially speak in positive ways about inclusion. The language of Aotearoa New Zealand's legislation, policy and curriculum has proffered a way to speak comfortably about inclusion, but this project needed to look more deeply than 'surface speak'. Semi-structured individual interviews were chosen over a focus group approach because, as Marshall and Rossman (2011) pointed out, when more than one person participates, such as in a focus group situation, the process takes in more information but there is a trade-off between depth and breadth. Punch (2005) further explained that the role of the researcher changes in a group interview with the researcher functioning more as a moderator or facilitator and less as an interviewer. Semi-structured interviews allowed me to move teacher, owner, and manager participants on from this and to use participant-specific probes. Secondly, the whānau participants in needed to be interviewed with a high level of sensitivity and

empathy: they are living the experience of disability as opposed to commenting on it. It was therefore important both personally, and for the purpose of the study, to be able to listen and watch carefully to ensure, as much as was possible, the emotional wellbeing of each participant. However, it was also important to manage that risk without attempting to protect the participant to the detriment of the project. Morse et al. (2008) noted that every interview comes with a risk: "No risk may mean avoiding the information that is likely to cause distress and that this approach may in actual fact deplete the value of the interview" (p. 200).

The semi-structured or guided interviews described in this project were based on the assumption described by Marshall and Rossman (2011) as fundamental to qualitative research: "That the participant's perspective on the phenomenon of interest should unfold as the participant views it" (p. 144). Tracey (2013) argued that good interviewing is more than just asking good questions: "it is creating a logistically feasible and comfortable interaction that will encourage an engaging, honest and fun dialogue" (p. 159). As previously mentioned, I have had extensive experience of, and membership in, all three discrete groups involved in this project. I felt that my personal history as an early childhood teacher, the parent of a child with a (now discarded) label, and the previous owner of a long-day, for-profit ECEC centre could support the establishing of credibility and rapport with interviewees but might also raise challenges for the interview process. I wanted participants to feel safe and as relaxed as possible in the situation but needed to mitigate the likelihood of responses intended to ingratiate by demonstrating allegiance to the inclusion cause. This was of particular concern regarding the teacher participants as I could not disregard the fact that participants might have been aware of my role as a social sciences lecturer in teacher education and an advocate for disability rights. I was largely able to overcome this by using carefully considered probes which had been collaboratively designed, discussed and trialed with the two pilot interviewees (one manager and one whanau of a disabled child). As Marshall and Rossman (2011) claim: "The richness of an interview is heavily dependent on these follow-up questions" (p. 145). The pilot interviews proved really informative – the interview with a centre manager, who was also a trusted

colleague, allowed me to deeply reflect on my manner, the questions I had initially designed, and the type of responses each question might elicit. Her feedback provided opportunity to rethink the questions and consolidate ideas about developing probes. The pilot interview with a whānau member of a disabled child, who was slightly older than the children of participants, was enlightening particularly regarding supporting the emotional wellbeing of participants. Both pilot interview participants consented to have their transcriptions included in the data corpus however, the whānau participant contributions were not included based on two factors: her child was much older than the children in the study, and secondly, because the experience was situated in a sessional (part day) kindergarten. Her contributions helped guide the development of the opening interview questions.

I aimed to begin each interview in a very relaxed manner; however, my opening conversation would be slightly different depending on which of the three participant groups (teacher, owner/manager and whānau) each interviewee was a member of. To establish rapport with the owner/manager participants I drew attention to my past experience of holding a similar position to their own and explained that I lacked deep understanding (also true) of how inclusion is playing out currently in the sector. The aim was to be honest and respectful, to create a sense of trust and to cast each participant in a knowledgeable and informative role. I had anticipated this would contribute to establishing a sense of collegiality from the outset and a relaxed and productive interview conversation. A similar opener was used with the teacher participants adding that I was interested in discussing implications for and influences on teachers. With the whānau participants I intended to share a little about my personal background and explain that the study was about finding out what their perceptions and experiences were of the sector currently. I would explain their contribution to the overall project and thank them again for their willingness to participate. I wanted to make it clear that their input was being sought not as a way of verifying (or not) what teachers, owners and managers had said previously said, but rather it would contribute to data important in their own right. In three of the whānau interviews their child was present which also assisted in establishing rapport.

## 4.3. Description of the evaluative tools

The study uses a combination of thematic analysis (T.A.) and the previously discussed Foucauldian tools or strategies (refer Chapter Two). The study intended to examine the constitutive and disciplinary properties of the discourses at work in the ECEC sector but needed clear strategies for going about this. T.A. involves searching for themes that emerge as being important to the description of the phenomenon (Daly, Kellehear, & Gliksman, 1997). While Boyzatis (1998) characterised T.A. not as specific method but rather as a tool to use across different methods, Braun and Clarke (2006) argued that T.A. is a method in its own right. This debate was not of concern. T.A. is often, or appears often to be, what is simply done by someone without the knowledge or skills to perform a supposedly more sophisticated – certainly more kudos-bearing -'branded' form of analysis such as Grounded Theory (Braun & Clarke, 2006, p. 85). It has been criticised as affording opportunity for passive accounts of themes which 'reside' in the data (Taylor & Usher, 2001). That is, if one looks hard enough one might find them, expose them and that will be that. Undoubtedly this could be so, however, using Foucault as the main 'thinker' prevented this from being the case in this study. It was because of Foucault's continued resistance to prescribing methodology that the study needed an evaluative partner to begin the work of examining the data. In light of Braun and Clarke's (2006) claim that T.A. is not wedded to any pre-existing theoretical framework, it was acceptable to develop a working relationship between T.A. and Foucault for purposes of analysis. Braun and Clarke's further claim that [within T.A.] researchers cannot free themselves of their theoretical and epistemological commitments, and data are not coded in an epistemological vacuum, aligned with the study's earlier stated ontological position that reality is not out there to be known. Harwood (2000) warns of avoiding the positivist trap of essentialising the research method when working with Foucault, however, Graham (2005) asserts that this is different from being explicit about what one is doing: "Foucault is very precise and explicit (one could even say methodical)" (p. 5).

This project required clarity and transparency of explanation – I was consistently aware of the need to be clear about the means of evaluating the data, and for comparison and/or synthesis with other studies (Attride-Stirling, 2001). (Further

description if how this was undertaken is contained in 4.4.7). Fischer (2009) argues that Foucault offers researchers a challenge to precisely investigate the crossing of fields in relation to a particular problem or object. He claims that political issues are never disassociated from moral and ethical issues. As Braun and Clark (2006) suggest: "What is important is that the theoretical framework and methods match what the researcher wants to know, and that they acknowledge these decisions, and recognise them as decisions" (p. 8). T.A. is a useful tool for identifying and clustering threads and subthread themes across the data corpus thus raising awareness of discursive presence. Attride-Stirling (2001) provides suggestions about searching for these basic themes, organising themes and global themes which, while not strictly adhered to, offered the study a data analysis framework. Basic themes are simple premises characteristic of the data, and on their own they say very little about the text or groups of text as a whole.

The concept of functioning statements, drawing on the writing of Graham (2005, 2011), functions to link social processes together. Because the main questions are concerned with the discourses gaining traction in the ECEC sector, how they have come into being and how disabled children are being positioned, it is important to identify basic functioning statements before they are read as organising themes (Attride-Stirling, 2001). To explicate, according to Foucault (1972), the statement can be seen as the most basic element in discourse: statements are everywhere but cannot be described in and of themselves without being situated in a field of relations. It was therefore deemed useful to use T.A., to make the data more amenable to analysis, to cluster such statements in a more organised way. This provided initial insight into the ways in which particular discourses have become established and gained dominance in the sector. These themes can be interrogated using Foucauldian questioning and drawing in part from the work of MacNaughton (1998) who suggests that working with Foucault requires asking how were people being categorised, what social practices were giving meaning to those categories and what seemed to be the emotional meanings and investments in particular categories? Once basic themes (or clusters) are looked at in the light of each other, searching for patterns of emotional meanings and possible (dis)investment in discourses relevant to the context would be possible. In this study I remain mindful of Foucault's (1972) description of discourse formation as a "system of dispersion" (p. 37).

of dispersion, whenever, between objects, types of statement concepts, or thematic choices, one can define a regularity (an order, correlations, position and functionings, transformations), we will say, for the sake of convenience, that we are dealing with a discursive formation (p. 38).

# 4.4. Research design

The study is located in the greater Auckland area, Aotearoa New Zealand's largest city. This project began with a 2x2 design, involving interviews with four early childhood teachers and four ECEC centre owners (or their agents) drawn equally from for-profit or non-profit operating structures and using the same interview questions (Appendix 9) The centres were therefore selected purposively. As Silverman (2011) explains: "purposive sampling demands that we think critically about the parameters of the population we are interested in and choose our sample carefully on this basis" (p. 388). In other words, organisations, settings and individuals where the research questions were likely to be answerable would be required. The sample size was restricted for feasibility yet kept broad enough to afford opportunities for findings to be transferable. The depth of the interviews would be the focus rather than the size of the sample. Punch (2005) noted that given the debates about generalisation possibilities in qualitative studies, the concept of transferability is often preferred. Punch also discussed abstraction of concepts in the data analysis arguing that the greater the level of abstraction, the greater transferability of findings to other contexts. The Foucauldian strategies discussed earlier in this chapter complied with Punch's abstraction requirement and thus it was hoped that the conclusions drawn from the data corpus would likely be transferable in abstraction.

By drawing teachers, owners and managers from centres working under similar operating structures I intend that experiences and understandings revealed in the data would be transferable across a wider population of ECEC centres and staff working within similar operating structures. The ECEC centres, selected firstly by structure and secondly by geographical convenience, provides access to two teachers qualified and registered in Aotearoa New Zealand and registered teachers who were employed in for-profit structured centres, and two equally qualified counterparts employed in

community or non-profit centres. The reason for choosing to interview teachers employed in both for-profit and community operated (non-profit) ECEC centres was that there may be differences in how inclusion is articulated and practiced between the two types of context. Mitchell's (2002) reporting of evidence that owners and managers of privately-owned centres in the Aotearoa New Zealand ECEC sector had different spending priorities from community owned management, and that privately owned centres employed at that point in time the lowest percentage of qualified teachers was a consideration in the selection. As funding for inclusion, and for teacher education, had previously been cited as barriers to inclusion (refer Chapter Two) drawing participants from both types of operating structure was relevant to the project. Choosing not to interview teachers, owners and managers from the same centres was because this might inhibit either participant group from sharing openly of their views about practical, structural or managerial influences on inclusion within their own teaching context. Likewise, it was possible that owners or managers may view teachers as problematic in the process which potentially could inhibit open discussion of the research questions. Drawing participants from organisations operating multiple centres means it is possible to achieve this.

In addition, a purposive sample of whānau of children with disabilities was interviewed using a different set of questions (Appendix 11). The children of the whānau sample were not required to be attending any specific type of centre or be using a centre at all. If there were connections with a type of centre it was expected this would emerge in the interview process.

## 4.4.1. Owner, manager participant selection

The recruitment of four owner/manager participants (from four different sites) was purposive in that I deliberately selected types of settings and people for the important information they could provide that could not be gotten as well from other choices (Maxwell, 1997, p.87). Operational structure and geographical location were again considered. In the case of managers, guidance was sought regarding protocols for achieving site access consent from the individual or governing body responsible. The initial approach was made by telephone at which point I explained the project and clarified the organisation's protocols regarding site access and consent

(Appendices 2 & 4). An information sheet about the project was provided and participant consent forms attached (Appendix 1). Once I received the signed consent forms an interview time and venue was decided upon. All four owner/manager interviews were conducted at the participant's place of work during usual working hours.

# 4.4.2. Teacher participant recruitment

The selection of the four participants (from four different sites) for the individual interviews with teachers was also purposive. The teacher participant criteria required that a person be NZ qualified and registered and have a minimum of three years' experience in the sector. Given that the context for the project is Aotearoa New Zealand, knowledge of relevant policy and curriculum intent was needed. Priority was given to expressions of interest from teachers who have held a position continuously for one year or more in the centre where they were employed. I hoped that such a length of service would ensure participants had a depth of experience of their particular centre. The sample size was rationalised by the number of operationally similar organisations in the Auckland area, and the need to keep the data manageable. In the first instance I approached governing bodies (e.g., operations managers of larger chains, owners or the owner's agents in the case of franchised businesses, governing boards of community owned non-profit centres) for consent to site access for recruiting teachers as participants. This approach was made initially by telephone and followed up with an information sheet about the study and a consent form for site access (Appendix 12). The information sheet was posted, although the offer was made to deliver it personally if the person-in-charge preferred to meet and discuss the project with me. I approached the larger operators first as the data collected from teacher participants working in larger organisations could be considered to reflect the experiences of a wider population particularly in response to questions regarding the influence of structural procedures and practices. In total the study drew on eight ECEC practice sites (teachers/owners/ and managers combined).

I was granted site access (Appendices 12 & 13) to approach teachers employed by one large for-profit ECEC organisation and a smaller business operating two for-

profit centres. Site access was also granted for two community operated (non-profit) centres. Interviews took place at a time and venue of mutual convenience. Teachers employed in privately operated ECEC centres were interviewed in non-working hours in their workplace (e.g., lunch hour, after work). The teacher participants employed in non-profit centres were given release time for the interview. One interview took place in a meeting room at the centre and the other in a local cafe. All owner/managers were interviewed in their offices.

# 4.4.3. Parent/caregiver recruitment

The recruitment of six whānau (parent) participants was also addressed purposively via disability support agencies: 'Parent to Parent', and the 'Parent and Family Resource Centre' (Appendix 7). I approached the generic support agencies because I did not want to involve only one disability group. Both 'Parent to Parent' and the 'Parent and Family Resource Centre' engage with whānau of children with a range of disabilities. I understood that the sample of whānau was not necessarily representative of the wider population but hoped that where similar ideas, experiences and ways of speaking were present in several transcripts I would be able to generalise to an extent. Also, I felt it likely that by drawing on current literature, and the data sets from teachers and owners, hypotheses may be drawn about possible discursive influences affecting the inclusion of disabled children.

The initial contact for attracting parent participants was made to the coordinator of two disability support agencies by telephone to ascertain protocol

requirements for their organisation. In the first instance I asked Parent to Parent for permission to place an information letter about the study and researcher contact details for expressions of interest placed in the e-newsletter (Appendix 7). The project's criteria for participants required they be the parent/caregiver of a child with disabilities aged between two and six years and live in the greater Auckland area. An informal discussion with the coordinator of Parent to Parent was arranged to ensure that the information letter read appropriately for the reader base. The advertisement was duly placed and received no responses. The process was repeated with the Parent and Family Resource Centre and nine mothers replied by email or telephone. These expressions of interest were followed up by telephone and suitable participants were sent an information sheet and consent form (Appendix 5). Among the responses were two whānau of much older children who, while they understood the criteria, wished to have their voices heard. These contacts have been retained for a future study. I also verbally requested that each participant write a brief background for the researcher including details such as family structure, employment if relevant, age of their child, type of early childhood service attending (if any) and any other details they wish to share with the researcher. All of the whanau participants were interviewed in their own home.

## 4.4.4. Introducing the manager and owner participants

Here the owners and managers who participated in the interviews are introduced. They are named with pseudonyms of their own choosing. In the case of both teachers and owners/managers, their ECEC centre is named using a species of tree (e.g., Oak Tree Centre). A description that is sensitive to ethical concerns around retaining confidentiality of each centre structure is also included here.

## Petunia

The first manager participant is known by the pseudonym Petunia in the project.

Petunia was a qualified and very experienced early childhood teacher. Petunia held the

position of quality and compliance manager for a nationwide chain of for-profit ECEC centres referred to in the analysis and subsequent chapters as *Kauri Tree Company*. Part of Petunia's role was to develop policy to guide the company's practices under licensing criteria laid down by the New Zealand Ministry of Education (M.O.E., 2008).

#### Nancy

The second manager participant is referred to as Nancy. Nancy was the owner and founder of *Willow Tree Company* which at the time of the interview was operating ten for-profit centres, nine of which were in the greater Auckland area.

# **Phyllis**

The third manager participant was a qualified and experienced manager of a non-profit centre known in the study as *Rimu Tree*. *Rimu Tree* centre is one of three centres operated by an Auckland community-based trust board.

#### Louise

Louise was the director of a hospital affiliated, non-profit centre which caters for a large number of children and operates more than one age group licence. This centre is referred to in the study as *Rata Tree*. Louise was the pilot participant for the owner/manager group.

# 4.4.5. Introducing the teacher participants

The teacher participants are introduced below.

Lisa

*Lisa* was employed as a qualified teacher in a non-profit, community-operated centre. The centre is referred to as *Kowhai Centre*.

Sonia

Sonia was employed as a qualified teacher in a non-profit, community-operated centre.

The centre is referred to as *Totara Tree*.

Sally

Sally was employed as a qualified teacher in a for-profit centre operated by *Kauri Tree* company.

Nina

Nina was employed as a qualified teacher in a for-profit centre which is part of a larger organisation. The centre is referred to as *Titoki Tree*.

# 4.4.6. Introducing the parent participants

The parent participants are referred to in the project by a self-selected pseudonym, as are their children where relevant. No information about the specific pathology of any children' disability is made mention of beyond saying that all of the children connected with this project were recognisably disabled.

#### Helen

Helen was an experienced primary school teacher who, at the time of the interview, was staying at home to care for three-year-old Charlie. Charlie attended a local play centre with Helen several times per week. (NB: Playcentres are "parent-led early childhood centres which offer high quality education for children in small mixed-age groups. Playcentres also offer free parenting and early childhood education for parent members" [http://www.playcentre.org.nz/]).

### Joan and Kurt

Joan and Kurt were the whānau of Maree. Joan was an at-home parent, and Kurt was running his business from his home office. Kurt joined the interview unexpectedly and signed participant consent post interview. Maree was coming up five years old and her whānau were making plans for her transition from a local Montessori sessional centre to school (a sessional centre differs from long day ECEC in that children attend for only part of the day).

#### Rebecca

Rebecca was an at-home mother and the parent of three-year-old Campbell. Rebecca is a qualified and experienced early childhood teacher and had worked for various disability organisations prior to having Campbell. Campbell attended a sessional centre also.

#### Vicky

Vicky, a qualified accountant, was mostly an at-home mother who occasionally did some private accounting work from her home office. Her daughter, Josie, had recently turned five and begun to attend primary school. Prior to transitioning to school Josie had attended Playcentre alongside her mother.

#### Kate

Kate, at the time of the interview, was working part-time outside of the home in her health-care profession and had a nanny in her employ to look after the care of Zoe aged four years and her two-year-old sibling. Zoe had not attended an ECEC centre.

# 4.4.7. Post interview data analysis

As I approached the analysis of the data collected, I oriented my thinking towards the questions: which discourses are gaining traction in the sector, how is this happening and how are disabled children being positioned within discourses?

As Fadyl et al. (2012) suggest, the key to robust research utilizing Foucault is to apply his work appropriately to the focus of the enquiry and to make sure that there is coherent connection with his theoretical and philosophical aims. This section explains the strategies and approaches applied to the data generated in the interviews.

After the interviews were completed, I was left with approximately 20 hours of audio-tape recordings. These were transcribed by two dictaphone typists who had signed confidentiality statements prior to beginning the transcribing task (Appendix 8). I acknowledge the point put forward by Bird (2005) that doing one's own transcribing should be a key phase of data analysis, however, time constraints prevented it in this case. At the time of the interviews, all participants were given the opportunity to access, review and /or alter their contributions. This offer included a copy of the audio recording. No participant wished to do so.

In the first round of analysis, I listened repeatedly to the tapes while reading the transcripts and made adjustments where the transcriber may have heard incorrectly. I noted descriptively important features such as humour, sadness and assertive tones that were not apparent by merely reading the text. In this first reading, I also made notes about pauses in speaking, self-corrections such as when a participant appeared hesitant (possibly about the terminology or how best to explain [or not] their thoughts), points where the tape had been paused to allow a participant to collect themselves, and where the interview had been interrupted by a child.

In subsequent readings I also noted my own thoughts about how and where contributions might fit into the discourse analysis. Detailed notes of recurring statements and the reasons they added to *my* interpretation were maintained throughout the process even though I was aware that a different person would be unlikely to bring forward the same interpretation. Any evidence of clusters of statements indicating a dominant discourse were also colour coded. Graham (2010) argues,

Although not 'scientific' this approach can be a powerful analytical tool, particularly in an applied field such as education. Through the experience such analysis provides, it is possible to come to a different relationship with those truth/s which may enable researchers to think and see otherwise, to be able to imagine things being other than what they are, and to understand the abstract and concrete links that make them so (Graham, 2010, p. 666).

I was also interested in 'silences' and pauses evident on the tapes. What was being 'unsaid' and what discourse(s) were possibly giving or denying permission. Foucault (1978) discussed silence -the thing one declines to say, or is forbidden to name, and suggested that silences are an integral part of the strategies that underlie and permeate discourses. These descriptive notes were collated separately, and the tapes and transcripts were revisited and reconsidered by listening and reading the text and tape either side of the pauses. Chapter One (1.5.1) outlines a genealogical history of the pathway of neoliberalism into the ECEC sector. This genealogy provided me with clues

as to why present discourses are as they are, and which might alert me to statements, silences and pauses that could be traced to dominant discourses in the data. Put simply, wherever similar phrases, statements or omissions could be collected to seemingly form a discursive theme I returned to the tape and the transcripts to look for evidence across the data set.

What came to light by way of the analysis of the interview transcripts is contained in the following two chapters. Chapter Five is the first analysis chapter and reports, analyses and discusses the contributions of whānau of disabled children. I made the decision to separate the early childhood professionals (teachers/owners/managers) contributions to the study from those of the whānau of disabled children out of respect for the families whose experiences are lived rather than merely reflected upon by others.

# FIVE: THE WHĀNAU/FAMILIES: "Inclusion just makes disability 'normal'"

In this chapter, having worked through the data using a Foucauldian lens, the discourses underpinning the experiences, struggles and learnings of four whanau of disabled children are gathered together to argue that these children are positioned as 'other' in their early years. What Foucault (1981) termed 'discursive practices' work both in inhibiting and productive ways, implying a play of prescriptions that designate both exclusions and choices (Hook, 2001). The chapter draws together the research data brought into being by way of interviews with whanau of disabled children. I was interested in uncovering the ways in which complexities of inclusion are understood and experienced by whānau of disabled children. I was committed to gaining a deeper understanding of the ways in which discourses of disability might influence the lives of whānau living with a disabled child and how the child is positioned within these discourses. Participants were asked to share their understanding of the rights of disabled children, ideas about the benefits and drawbacks of inclusion for all children, and for their own child specifically. The interview questions began with a more a generalised question (Appendix 11) about inclusion and moved into specific-to-whānau experiences and ideas about inclusion for their own child. Here I hoped that their experiences would indicate the extent to which the discourses operating in the ECEC sector were manifesting in the lives of others.

I also asked whānau for their thoughts about any problems or tensions that they considered ECEC teachers, owners and managers might experience relating to inclusion. Finally, they were asked to make suggestions about what could change in the sector to make inclusion happen and what they hoped for, for their own child. The responses to these questions afforded me the opportunity to examine the subject positions made available as they were being experienced by whānau who have intimate knowledge of both disability and the ECEC sector. The participants openly shared their personal views and experiences about accessing ECEC for their own child. The parent interviews were at times quite harrowing for both interviewer and interviewee. Sadness, anger and frustration were threaded through the parent contributions. My personal experience as both a parent and a teacher, manager and

owner to some extent played a role in mitigating upset however I felt that whānau in the main wanted to share their feelings regardless. They wanted to talk.

The chapter is structured in six subsections with each section addressing a mostly different but occasionally overlapping perspective of inclusion. The following subheadings present whānau' views on knowing children as people first, access to ECEC, viewing children differently, confusing yes/no discursive trend, other barriers to inclusion, and what we want for our child/ren.

# 5.1. Making disability 'normal'

As a starting point for the whānau interviews, I was interested in establishing an understanding of the ways in which whānau viewed inclusion in long-day ECEC as a general concept rather than specific to their own child. I wanted to get a better sense of the reach of the discourse of children's rights to access amongst whānau. To this end, I began by asking Rebecca, mother of 3-year-old Campbell, her thoughts about disabled children going to regular ECEC settings.

Rebecca: They should be allowed to go to any early childhood service that is local to them and that they choose to send their child to. And I think there's a lot for both parties to gain from that: Both the children with disabilities and the children without. It's about learning to care for each other. Schools bring in tokenistic programmes about caring for others or learning about disabilities but when there's actually children there with disabilities, it's just natural — it's not something that needs to be taught. If you've got the attitude that challenges can be addressed when they arise, then you're going to be able to address them. If you see them as problems, then you're never going to be able to.

Kurt, father of 5-year-old Maree, also responded that inclusion is beneficial.

Kurt: Maree's disability doesn't define her; She is Maree and kids can learn to know her as a person – first and foremost she is Maree. There are so many

grownups who feel totally uncomfortable when they see someone with Maree's disability. They don't know what to do, what to say, how to act. If you know from your childhood, then you will not be so awkward.

Charlie's mother, Helen, responded similarly to this question about children attending ECEC by stating quite firmly.

Helen: The world will not change necessarily for him unless you put him out in the world. Once he's out in the world mindsets will change. I do believe that – yes - once people see past the label and the fear of the label which is often just a fear of the unknown.

And again, Vicky, explained her views about the benefits of inclusion.

Vicky: [inclusion] just makes disability normal. People are different and people learn in different ways and children can learn that from the word go. They are not people to be looked at in a funny way: It's good for both the other kids and for the child with disabilities. It makes disability normal. I remember going to the shops with my sister when I was a child. My sister was in a wheelchair and the shop keeper would talk to me — I would say "talk to her not me, she's the one with the money". That's one of things I want for Josie — just that she will be treated like part of the community and accepted as part of the community

These responses are a clear indication that in the main, whānau are totally aware of the nervousness that many people feel when confronted with disability. Vicky's comment that people spoke to her rather than her disabled sister was an indication that at that time there was a nervousness about communicating directly with disabled people. Kurt's view that people don't know how to act around disability, and Helen's direct comment about fear of disability all point to awareness among whānau that their child will be seen as different from the outset and that their differences rather than similarities were explained as underpinning this. Whānau participants were also very clear in the thinking that if their children are not included this will not change. In

the main, the whānau explained the barriers to inclusion for their child originated in lack of community exposure to disability and therefore was encouraging people to draw on discourses which are largely based on the pathology of disability. As such, attitudes towards disability are discursive in origin and based on a knowledge that positions the disabled child by way of deficit. This is consistent with Slee's (2011) writing about attitudes positioning the disabled child as the problem and therefore as the object of other people's attitudes. Attitudes grow from dominant discourses albeit that they are expressed as personal views.

Kate, when asked about her views on inclusion, responded quite differently.

Kate: Inclusion depends on the needs of the child. Zoe's needs are very complex, and she can't learn by interacting with the environment. It [inclusion] has to be based on the needs of the child

This response exposed Kate's view that the sector is not well-placed to meet the needs of children such as Zoe. Kate showed a personal concern for Zoe rather than an overview of the benefits of inclusion generally. While the majority of the whānau responses were actively in favour of children being educated and cared for together, Kate's concerns about Zoe's needs not being met are likely held by other whānau of children with complex needs. This highlights tensions around the notion of inclusion as an overarching philosophy that has not moved on to the pragmatics of practicing inclusion. It seemed that Kate's view was based in part on Zoe's complex needs but to some degree on the belief that the sector would not be prepared or resourced to cater for her.

#### 5.2. Who is out and who is in?

To follow up on the responses in the previous section I asked whānau to explain their knowledge of their child's right to access ECEC and participate as part of a group. I was interested to know whether whānau had knowledge of the intent of the legislation

(refer Chapter One) and if so, was there a relationship with the comments highlighted in section 5.1.? I began by asking Kate about her understanding of Zoe's rights under the legislation.

Kate: I know she has the right to attend but if I wished to put her in a mainstream centre, they would need to cater for her needs, but I wouldn't because they don't.

Viewing the ECEC sector as ill prepared and under-resourced is a more subtle indicator of the power of a pathological discourse that can result in exclusion. Kate clearly understood that all children have a right to be educated and cared for together. The combination of a social constructionist approach to disability (refer Chapter One), backed up by policy such as *The NZ Disability Strategy*, juxtaposed with 'difficult to negotiate' and contestable funding regimes, contributes to unease amongst whānau. When disability is pathologised for funding reasons and the funding is inadequate to meet the needs of the child in order that they may access their rights a clear message is given to whānau as Kate's next comment demonstrates.

Kate: It's not their fault, it's a fault of the system that doesn't allow for the extra hands needed to cope with a child such as Zoe

When a child is identified as disabled through a complex funding regime, their needs rather than rights are the focus, and their deficits rather than their competencies are underlined (Lyons, 2012). Yet the legislation and policy of Aotearoa New Zealand clearly implies otherwise.

Rebecca articulated her knowledge of the legislation and policy regarding the legal rights for disabled children:

Rebecca: *The Education Act* states that any child is entitled to any educational provision on the same grounds as any other child.

LLM: Do you realise that the Act doesn't extend to ECEC?

Rebecca: Yes, but I've been told that ECEC is covered by the *Human Rights Act* LLM: So, what you are saying is that you understand that Campbell has every legal right to go?

Rebecca: Yes.

Rebecca followed her explanation of Campbell's right with comments that resonated with the work of Graham and Slee (2008); those on the inside have the power to make the decisions about who are allowed in to join them. I learned later in the interview that Rebecca had studied to be an early childhood teacher and, prior to having Campbell, worked for a specific-to-disability organisation.

Rebecca: I wish people wouldn't think of the inside – who's in and who's out – it's about everyone belonging. It's just about finding out where the child's at and pushing them along. It's about getting past that barrier so that teachers can see that, rather than trying to get the support in place before you say you'll have them. I think it's about believing they belong or not believing they belong. It doesn't matter if you've studied specialist subjects – what matters is the attitude.

Foucault (1977) suggests that power produces reality, and that power must be analysed as something that circulates or functions much like a chain, is of relevance here. Rebecca points out that she is aware of the power that people hold over Campbell's access and participation. While she describes this as attitudinal, as settled ways of thinking or feeling about something, attitudes are described at points throughout this thesis as discursive in origin and therefore far more complex than a centre merely not being welcoming or confident to include.

Rebecca said she believes when people see a disabled child, they just see the disability not the child. She questioned whether this could be traced back to initial teacher education (ITE).

Rebecca: Maybe there's a problem at the level of the training college. Maybe it's not taught well, and I would say that more than half the teachers do not actually believe that every child can attend their centre. This is sad. If you've got the attitude that the problems or any challenges that arise can be addressed, then you are going to be able to address them. But if you see them as problems then you're never going to be able to address them. Actually, the most important thing is remembering that the child has a right to be there and then you can work out what the support needed is and go with that.

Hastings and Oakford (2003) noted differences between the attitudes of pre-service teachers and in-service teachers, finding that pre-service teachers with higher educational qualifications displayed more positive attitudes than in-service teachers towards including students with physical and learning disabilities in their classroom. This is likely due to a wider influence and acceptance of human rights/social justice discourses in ITE programmes. Yu and Park (2020), in a review of earlier research about teachers' attitudes to disability, reported that teachers with positive attitudes toward inclusion are more likely to act positively toward students with disabilities than other teachers who expressed negative attitudes. de Boer and Munde (2015) further noted that positive attitudes carried over into children's attitudes towards disabled peers, particularly young children's attitudes which are greatly impacted by the attitudes of the significant adults (e.g., parents, teachers) in their lives. Yu and Park's (2020) own research, however, indicated that only 14% of teacher participants thought that initial teacher education courses influenced their attitude towards disabled children. They found that direct contact with disabled people was the largest influence.

# 5.3. Looking at it differently

In this section I group together participant comments that demonstrate shifts in thinking and acting that arise from parenting a disabled child. Moreover, the comments suggest that whānau believe they have a role in shifting the attitudes of others. These comments were not in response to a direct question per se. I drew upon the responses

to earlier questions. The nature of semi-structured interviews for this research encouraged participants to speak in a less structured way with thoughts and ideas appearing naturally as was the case here. An important thread emerged about whānau' perceptions of their role in shifting the attitudes and actions of others,

Helen: I try to lead by my attitude – I don't keep him as a precious boy

Helen is alluding here to her responsibility to introduce Charlie the community so that others might perceive him positively. Helen is a primary school qualified teacher and Charlie the youngest of several siblings. It seemed very important to Helen that Charlie could join the community even though she wanted to keep him close. Vicky, speaking along the same lines as Helen, mentioned she had come across an educational pack sent to schools. She described this pack as an attempt to shift the way people speak about disability. It has been put together by a specific disability association:

Vicky: It's all about the language and how you talk about disability. You're not supposed to say disability, you say people with differences. You're supposed to look at it from a social perspective not a health perspective. It says that the health (medical) model is a dangerous one because you categorise them (the children) as having something wrong. It's supposed to make people think differently without getting up their noses.

This is clear evidence of the social construction model of disability in action: Vicky agreed with the approach and it is clear from the earlier comments (refer 5.1) that other whānau in the study did too. The social construction model of disability posits that the child is disabled by society which subsequently impinges upon access and participation by creating communities that are not accessible to everyone. As Fenech (2016) explains, the social model of disability conceptualises disability as separate from impairment, as something one experiences as the result of societal experiences as previously discussed in Chapter Two. Positioning the child as disabled by society is

viewed positively by the whānau in this study who are attempting to gain access for their child. Vicky was excited about learning of this model.

Vicky: The thing is that I've had to tell myself off as well. I think, shit, I didn't know that - I didn't think of that. They have phrased it much better than I have but it's just the whole thing of.... Well, we've got to shift our perception and that's really what I've got to do.

It seemed that Vicky had found a new way of thinking and speaking about Josie's disability — a person-first discourse that takes the focus off the individual with disability and shares the focus with the community. The discourse of social constructionism comes across here as hopefulness.

Vicky: If people can view disability differently inclusion is more likely perhaps? LLM: Why do you think people struggle with this?

Vicky: People are frightened. They don't know how to act because they haven't been around them. Its normalisation – that's the key to making an accepting, loving society.

The tape was paused at this point and I did not attempt to refocus Vicky on the interview questions for several minutes. It was a very honest, sad and heart wrenching part of the interview. It saddened Vicky to think that her child might provoke fear in others. After a break Vicky tried to explain her grief to me. I chose to highlight only one point from her explanation.

Vicky: The hardest thing for me was having Josie when our family is highly intelligence focused. Having a child with intellectual disability was actually quite tricky for me. I was dead scared I wouldn't be able to love her.

The interview had prompted a resurfacing of grief about being the parent of a child with intellectual disability. She had been placed in a role she had not anticipated.

McKeever and Miller (2004) link such grief with social stigma, stating that distressing emotions are recognised as 'understandable and predictable responses to widespread societal discourses that devalue persons with disabilities' (p. 1178). Vicky was aware that intelligence is a highly valued attribute in society which may also explain her earlier mentioned enthusiasm for the social model. After a few minutes Vicky came back with what I interpreted as a coping comment.

Vicky: It's an awful thing to say about having a child, a different child, is that you're out of that bracket – the whole competitive thing of... 'oh my child can read' and it takes a bit of the pressure off

Vicky's comment was also captured in Tabatabai's (2020) study where the views of mothers were described as resistance narratives. Tabatai's research studied mothers' views in the light of neoliberal discourses.

Recurrent grief about developmental milestones appeared to be sitting just under the surface for each of the whānau participants. Tabatai's research findings (2020) note that society also measures a mother's success as a parent by their child's success. To achieve success in society, the parent is measured against their child's ability to be self-sufficient and independent. Independence is contingent on milestones being achieved.

The comments in this section demonstrate that whānau were aware that their disabled child will be considered problematic by many ECEC services. Teacher practices give clear messages of this stance to the whānau who do not make subsequent approaches in many cases. Unsurprisingly, parent participants were aware from the outset that their child would be categorised by their deficits rather than their attributes.

## 5.4. Saying yes but meaning no (Yes/But)

This section explores several experiences of whānau attempts to access ECEC for their disabled children. Here I include excerpts that point to a confusing discursive trend that implies welcome with a 'but' attached. In my initial analysis I referred to this as the Yes/But discourse trend, subsequently renaming it 'enlightened ableism' which is explained later in this section. There are several underlying reasons for this which are further discussed in Chapter Seven.

The whānau participants, except Kate, revealed that the discourse of safety and compliance predominant in the sector currently, is sometimes used to ally whānau with teachers in their decisions not to place children in long-day ECEC. The whānau are welcomed using the language of inclusion and then encouraged to think with caution about the suitability of a specific centre.

Rebecca: I find that childcare centres will emphasise their fear which is not necessarily a risk, it's their fear of something happening to the child. I've had people say: "Oh he's so little and the four-year-olds will knock him down". They will put that fear on to the parents and that is why the parents won't send them. If you can't keep him safe, then I can't leave him. They often end up having made allies of the parents because they've put fears into them, and so parents think they're (ECEC) doing the best they can, but they just can't provide a safe environment.

Clearly, this is evidence of whānau made complicit in decision- making based on an expressed concern for a child's physical wellbeing put forward by teachers, owners and managers. Two parent participants identified this practice but had not challenged concerns put forward about safety because they viewed them as an indication that their child was perceived as problematic, and subsequently not welcome.

Rebecca's comment can be read as characteristic of the discursive movement of enlightened ableism (Lyons, 2013): that a person holding the power in a situation, presents as caring and supportive of inclusion yet employs a strategy almost guaranteed to avoid taking responsibility for the child with disability. The parent is made complicit in the decision not to enrol their child. Further and quite dire consequences of the power of this discourse, whereby the rhetoric of inclusion is used to clothe a message of exclusion, was made clear by Rebecca.

Rebecca: When we can't go to work because teachers don't act on their obligations, they push us into another place: A place where we can't work or run a business; a lower socioeconomic place

Rebecca further informed me that they had sold property to fund her staying at home to care for Campbell. Helen, mother of Charlie, similarly felt the economic impact of being a stay-at-home mother. I was told that one of the participant's husbands had given up his business to assist with raising their child, while another, Kurt, had moved his office into the home. Vicky also added that she thought it would be a lot harder for parents who needed to be in paid work.

While I did not feel that it was appropriate to discuss participants' financial situation, three parent participants in the study volunteered comments alluding to financial challenges. Two had managed to continue with careers on a part-time basis working from home. This confirms the findings of Russell (2003): "The absence of affordable and appropriate childcare for disabled children is a major factor in the financial disadvantage experienced by many families" (p. 218). Here it is acknowledged that the whānau in this study may have offered to participate because they were in a position to do so (at home during the day). This could be attributed to financial status at the time the data was collected and may have impacted on the findings specific to this research.

# 5.5. Looking for the obstacles

Next, I asked participants their thoughts about any other influences or features relevant to the success of inclusion that may be having an impact on inclusion in ECEC. Kate spoke immediately about funding for additional support.

Kate: Fourteen hours of teacher aide support per week is not enough for a child with complex needs. Zoe can't go to the environment – the environment needs to be brought to her. So, unless she is being interacted with pretty much 100 percent of the time, she is not getting what she needs to move forward.

Kate also mentioned that Zoe's nanny was planning to take her to kindergarten for mornings but the whānau pay the nanny because the GSE funding didn't cover that cost.

Rebecca similarly raised the issue of inadequate support funding for her son Campbell.

Rebecca: The most the government funds [for Campbell] is three hours a day, but the centres are only interested in accepting an enrolment if the child is fully funded.

Access to funding for teacher aide support is an ongoing problem both for whānau and for teachers, owners and managers, as Chapter Six discusses more fully. Shuker and Cherrington (2016), report findings from a NZ survey of ECEC, noting issues regarding difficulties timely and adequate support from agencies: Timely access to support from GSE, long waiting time for assessment and extreme frustration when children fall just below level for accessing support. Shuker and Cherrington also noted those services which were able to access support such as an Education Support Worker (E.S.W.) often felt that the allocated hours were insufficient.

Structuring a centre by age group, (and government funding structures), was raised by three whānau. As mentioned in Chapter One, most long day centres are divided into in age groups with different funding rates accorded and this emerged as a major concern for whānau participants. Helen felt that age group structures create problems for children who are developing at a different rate. Helen had chosen to use Playcentre as the appropriate option for Charlie.

Helen: At Playcentre the children are all mixed in together so your child, perhaps with a special need, won't be put in a room where they're not the right age for the room. Sometimes he's with the older boys and they have dug a trench – he can experience the water. If he was with the younger children, they wouldn't have dug the trench in the first place.

I wondered whether Playcentre, where the mother stays with the child, was also Helen's way of introducing Charlie to community while ensuring he was protected.

Vicky also took Josie to playcentre.

Vicky: The way Playcentre works, the whole inclusion and interaction with the 'olders' and 'youngers' is really good. And it gave her more of a sibling-type environment which is what she needed and for me, the support from other mums was brilliant. Playcentre is much better for parents. It's like the Māori model – working together.

Joan and Kurt put forward a similar concern about their preschool being divided into age groups and that the transition for Maree was very lengthy. They were also concerned that the older children were much bigger and stronger than Maree but also acknowledged her need for a peer group. Joan and Kurt had gained a place for Maree in an ECEC magnet centre (a centre that is known to be accepting of disabled children) and, then a year one classroom at their local school. They had gained confidence and so had Maree.

Joan: Now Maree is good at saying 'no' and this guides the other children. They help her unpack her lunch now.

Developmental discourse was mentioned in Chapter One as a likely barrier to successful inclusion and it appears that the policy to fund by age group for ECEC services reinforces this as previous comments suggest. There is a funding band for mixed-age services but there are fewer centres structured in this way. Usual ECEC centre structure is that, depending on a child's age, and drawing on related discursively produced assumptions about age-related skills and abilities, fewer teachers are employed as a child gets older. As Gunn (2019) notes, the size of the group may change, the ratios of teachers to children, the nature of the curriculum and associated teacher strategies may alter. Gunn also points out that architects, in the design of ECEC centres draw upon developmental discourses to design spaces based on normative and stereotypical assumptions about child development. Teachers are trained to build on learning so that children can reach their potential, but potential is measured against what society values at a given point in time. Within a developmentalist discourse, teachers' purpose is to progress the children in their charge from one point to next. As Gunn (2019) contends, within developmental psychology discourses, the child is constituted as the sum of various developmental domains. The child is therefore viewed by their learning potential in the mind of the teacher and when challenged to view potential differently, problems are imagined. Over time, there has been subtle shifts in the discourse of developmental psychology, by moving some of the power from teacher to learner. However, the term 'learner', particularly in neoliberal discourse, implies potential and progress which has implications for disabled children (refer Chapter One).

Helen also highlighted the age-group divisions as a key reason for her choosing to take Charlie to Playcentre (parent-led); it is inclusive and does not divide children by age. Parents mainly stay and play with their children. Helen gave a specific example of the playcentre, mixed age setting as preferable.

Helen: But you see, as a parent, that stages in children's play can last longer and therefore your child will fit in, where your child's at will overlap with other children – sometimes older, sometimes younger. He's got older children for his language development. I went to the local kindergarten and the whole session only one teacher interacted with the children. Well, that's not going to help a child who needs language development. I chose to stay at Playcentre because mums naturally talk to children – no child is left disengaged. And you have immigrant children, we have a deaf mum, other special needs children. And your child won't be put in a room where they're not the right age for the room and they can be with younger children.

Rebecca contributed a similar comment.

Dividing up the centre into specific age groups has led to an expectation that at certain ages children will behave in certain ways and therefore a child who doesn't behave in those ways is not always welcome in that room. And thinking they can just set up a room for this narrow little group of people who are going to be between this and that point

Next, I asked all whānau participants except Kate about their feelings and experiences approaching a centre with a view to enrolment (Kate had made her views about not including Zoe in ECEC clear earlier in her interview). Several spoke of feeling saddened that the child who they love might not be welcomed for the unique person they are.

As Rebecca stated.

Rebecca: I would actually be horrified at the thought of cold calling to enrol him because I couldn't bear for him to be rejected.

Vicky did approach her local ECEC centre to enrol Josie.

Vicky: I went along and talked to them and they said they don't start children until they're two. They said they would ring me. They never rang and Josie's 5 now. A second centre told me they were all teacher-aided out.

For a centre to explain that they were "teacher aided out" seemed to imply that they had many disabled children attending and that all had support workers with them. It also seemed that such a comment was implying that children such as Vicky's daughter, Josie, would need to have a teacher aide in situ before they could access the service.

Rebecca explained that, rather than approach a centre directly, she had contacted Campbell's early intervention teacher to find out which centres would be likely to enrol him.

Rebecca: I know that's a bit of a cop-out, but I didn't want to... I didn't want to turn up to a place where they didn't really welcome my son. Having said that, although we've chosen a magnet school for him, I'm also doing a visit to our local school. And the reason I'm doing that is because I just don't really believe that I should avoid that completely because I do think that one school needs to know that actually there are people out there that do require that support, and for another thing, it our local school and my other son went to it.

To avoid feeling unwelcome, Wylie (2000) notes that whānau of children with disabilities have tended towards magnet centres. The fear of being made to feel unwelcome is still very strong and the magnet centre still offers a safer means of access to ECEC. Playcentre came across in the data as such a service. As earlier mentioned, (see Chapter One), 'magnet centres' is a now common term for ECEC centres that accept a greater-than-usual share of disabled children. These centres may have many disabled children attending at any one time but are often not best suited to whānau' employment needs because of location, part-time hours of operation or the requirement that parents stay with their child. Magnet long-day centres are extremely rare, and I knew of only one at the time of this data collection. Grace et al. (2009) expressed similar findings from their Australian study in which whānau reported that

finding a centre willing to enrol a child with disabilities was so difficult that they were forced to accept any terms or conditions that were offered.

Next, the study explores participants' ideas and aspirations for their child in the long day ECEC sector: The interviews with whānau in this study were designed to provide an overall picture of how the intent of the legislation for inclusion was manifesting in the experiences of whānau. The study investigated how discourses are positioning disabled children, and whether there are currently additional challenges to progressing inclusion was a key focus.

# 5.6. The aspirations

Towards the end of each interview, I asked each participant a question about the aspirations they held for their child. I hoped to build a picture of whānau ideals that might contribute to understandings about the influence of discourses and ways that this could be challenged. I asked Rebecca what would be great for Campbell.

Rebecca: I just want him to be learning alongside other children and have a programme that's appropriate for him. I want him to be part of small groups where he's able to learn independently and supported with skills.

About his daughter, Maree, Kurt said simply.

Kurt: I want her to be happy, to have friends.

Throughout the interview, which Kurt joined unexpectedly, his comments were mainly succinct and to the point. He gave the impression of being in control of his emotions, yet his comments were often evocative. Here Kurt became more talkative, adding a comment about Maree at her ECEC centre.

Kurt: We want Maree to be part of the community. That's what we appreciate and that's how we've done it. Even though the children are different in their development compared to our daughter, she's a part of that group and that

must be good for her. And it's forced the other children, maybe forced isn't the right word, but it's taught them to look after her.

I asked Kate about her hopes for Zoe.

Kate: Well at the end of the day, parents always want what's best for their child and if you think they're going to offer something better than a public special unit, you'll send them there. It's something we're looking at. We've spent so much damn money on everything else it would probably work out the same. You could send them somewhere like [Name of Centre] (a preschool for children with physical disabilities) or stick her in a mainstream school and not get support. [Name of centre] draws a lot of money from its own trust. She goes one day a week to [Name of different centre] (a licensed and chartered early education centre for disabled children aged from birth to 6 years of age) but that's all because there are too many children and they can only take 30 at one time.

Kate's remarks showed her frustration and anger with the systems associated with support for disabled children generally and for Zoe in particular. This was very evident throughout the interview. I picked up on Kate's feelings of helplessness. Both parents were working, there was a toddler in the house and a nanny. Kate did not sit for the entire interview.

I asked Helen about her hopes for Charlie's future.

Helen: I want most of his schooling to be mainstream and inclusive but at some point, he will have to join his community because it will be safer for him.

I assumed here that by community, Helen was referring to a community of disabled people. This comment contradicted Helen's earlier comments about getting Charlie out into [regular] community so people could know him. I wondered whether the 'not keeping him as a precious boy' notion would only extend so far.

Next, I asked Vicky what she would like for Josie.

Vicky: People need to recognise that the parents are under a lot more stress; a different sort of stress, a new set of pressures apart from the normal parent pressures, that need to be acknowledged and acted upon. Part of the reason for having children is to watch them grow and develop and celebrate their successes – and you know - sometimes it hard.

This comment emphasises the real challenges for parents attempting to build community for their disabled child. As Vicky's comment above shows, the stresses for whānau are real and their disabled children need to be acknowledged and welcomed as recognised members of regular communities and regular ECEC centres should they so choose. These challenges are further discussed in the next section.

## 5.7. Discussion

The 'findings' in the whānau participant data set largely position disabled children as outside of the long day ECEC sector. Further clarified is the presence and effects of an enlightened ableist discursive trend (refer Chapter 1.9). The whānau who had attempted access to long day ECEC were in the main greeted with the human rights rhetoric of the legislation and policy followed by conflicting messages originating in discourses of neoliberalism and further reinforced by developmental theory and biomedical discourse. The embeddedness of such a discursive predicament is shown to be contributing to ongoing stresses for whānau which in many cases present as economic, social, and educational. The data reported in this chapter indicate that having a disabled child in most cases places whānau in a range of difficult situations

which can be ameliorated to some extent if local and welcoming long day ECEC is made readily available.

The data brought to the fore in this chapter have also demonstrated that the subject positions of whānau, particularly mothers in the case of this study, are impacted by a range of discourses that position them differently to the whanau of typically developing children. Furthermore, discourses surrounding disability conflict with the gender norms associated with parenting generally. The myth of the perfect mother is consistently challenged yet remains powerful in neoliberal society (Warnes & Daiches, 2011) however, the presence of disability in the whānau invites a different whānau positioning whereby the disability itself can occupy the major status. While the cultural narrative of neoliberalism idealises independence (Tabatabai, 2019) this may or may not be achievable for the disabled child yet in society, parenting is viewed as successful when it is done independently and when it produces children who are, among other things, independent, regardless of their ability (Kane 2016; Mendez 2008). When disability is taken as a simplified, biological, and undesirable monolithic fact of the body, what disability really is and really can do is limited by these historical configurations (Fritsch, 2015). Yet in this study, all whānau participants had put up some measure of resistance to the dominant discourses positioning both themselves and their own children, even creating a different 'storyline' whereby their life was easier because they didn't have to compete with other whanau over their child's achievements.

The data in this chapter clearly indicates that dominant discourses of developmentalism, neoliberalism, and biomedicine are serving to create greater problems for families than needs be. The marketplace economic model which is characterised by low ratios, contestable funding and the influence of deficit-focused, historic perceptions of disability toward disabled children have conflated into a discursive trend evidenced in this chapter which is hindering progress for inclusion. The discursive trend of enlightened ableism presents here as a confusion of neoliberal purpose, human rights rhetoric and an entrenched attachment to developmentalism in

the sector. Whānau want to feel welcome yet have been greeted with opposition albeit dressed up in inclusive language. Or, they have 'read' the signs and refused to approach centres.

In this data set, participants claimed the virtues of inclusion by noting the positive benefits for the children, their peers, the whānau and the community, and spoke strongly of the need for positive attitudes in teachers. They were also aware of the barriers and tensions for ECEC professionals in the sector as it is currently structured. It was also apparent that whānau expected more of the sector than they were currently receiving and, in most cases, were prepared, albeit nervously, to advocate for it. It is possible that acting as an advocate is an aspect of parenting that aligns with an ideal that fits within the neoliberal expectations of parenting. Thus, as Tabatabai (2019) suggests, advocacy reinforces the idea of taking personal responsibility which speaks to a certain level of choice, a principle of neoliberalism.

Advocating for one's child is considered here using Gallagher's (2008) explanation that power is taking actions over actions. Gallagher was drawing on Foucault's (1983) thoughts on power as being a mode of action which does not act directly on others. It is about doing not having. From this stance, power is understood as something that is exercised, not possessed. Gallagher (2008) argues,

As 'actions upon actions', power also animates many more mundane, everyday practices. Indeed, beneath the monolithic appearance of corporate and governmental decision making, one finds that such decisions are powerful only because they are implemented by vast networks of people (service managers, administrators, politicians, civil servants, teachers, social workers, classroom assistants, children, parents, community workers, and so on) through their everyday actions upon one another (p. 400)

This chapter shows that whānau feel that the networks, such as those Gallagher (2008) speaks of, are failing to advocate and act on their behalf. Most whānau participants showed understanding of the subject of human rights as contradicted by the subject of

economic interests. They were keen to have their children viewed as human rights subjects and were frustrated and angered by the economic subject position attributed to their children.

The study was principally interested in how discourses compete for privilege over each other and how disabled children are positioned within discourses; this chapter demonstrates how disabled children have become discursively positioned as a problem for the culture of ECEC as the discourse of neoliberalism has infiltrated and become powerful in the sector. Foucault argued that subjective experience is created by constantly changing social and cultural conditions and circumstances (Walshaw, 2007) and this data shows evidence of disabled children, and subsequently their whanau, are positioned as 'other' with the social and cultural conditions of the time.

The following chapter, Chapter Six, presents findings and discussion drawing on the data created via interviews with teachers, owners and managers in the long-day ECEC sector.

# CHAPTER SIX: THE TEACHERS, OWNERS AND MANAGERS: The 'yes' and the 'but'

This chapter claims and explicates a discursive predicament in the sector. The chapter draws together and discusses key themes emerging from the teacher, owner and manager data set about understandings, beliefs and experiences of inclusion for disabled children. In these data I specifically sought evidence of discourses that might promote or hinder access for disabled children. This research was committed to investigating how discourses influencing teacher knowledges and practices were aligning with or destabilising current legislation and policy intended to support access and participation for these children (see Chapter Two).

The interview questions (Appendix 10) were designed to firstly elicit data to provide deeper understandings about teacher experiences and learning about disability and inclusion and their understandings (both personal and professional) about Aotearoa New Zealand's legislation for inclusion. Secondly, the interview questions aimed to explore teacher experiences of inclusion for disabled children and bring forward their views about possible barriers to inclusion. As earlier explained (see Chapter One), access and participation in ECEC for disabled children is protected by a suite of legislation and the focus of this thesis is to gain deeper understanding of whether policies are being implemented as planned, and if not, to consider possible gaps and remedies.

As in Chapter Five, the emerging themes are presented in subsections with each section pointing towards a different but occasionally overlapping perspective of inclusion from the set of teacher, owner and manager participants. The study began with the aim of discovering how teachers had learned about and experienced disability and inclusion. Interviews explored evidence of cohesion or disjuncture between prior learning and the legislation for inclusion that would indicate the influence of a number of discourses (see Chapters One and Two).

## 6.1 Knowing about disability and inclusion.

This part of the study begins with an excerpt from an interview with Sally, one of the younger teacher participants in a for-profit chain of centres.

Sally: In my second year of university, I did tutoring for three children with autism. And I recently started helping at Sunday school and they've got a little boy with Down Syndrome. They make his mother stay with him even though it's the only hour in the week that she gets to be without him. I thought that was really sad and interesting. And that would affect his spirituality as well.

Sally shows here her early commitment to working with disabled children, within a setting that suggests a Christian ethics commitment. Sally appeared to feel considerable empathy with the mother ("make his mother stay", "really sad"). Sally's standpoint on disabled children and inclusion was quite clear from the outset. Sally came across as committed to the idea of children being educated together and used the person-first language promoted by the social model of disability (refer Chapter 3.2) throughout her interview. I thought initially that perhaps this was a result of the papers she had completed in her degree. However, it stood out because in other interviews people had used a range of specific-to-disability labels such as autistic or Down Syndrome, the term 'special needs', and differentiated between physical, neurological and intellectual disability. I subsequently realised that I had used a personfirst discourse in the phrasing of the interview questions although the more political term 'disabled children' [persons] (Oliver, 1996) has been employed in the writing up of this work. Perhaps I felt at the time that person-first phrasing would be a more benign approach to use with strangers? Either way, while I acknowledge that while this may have influenced the responses from Sally, it is unlikely to have carried much weight in the findings overall. Most participants used disability-first phrasing from the outset.

Sally's initial comment where she had mentioned being 'sad' about the disabled child having restrictions placed on his attendance at Sunday school, presented a conflict between Christian discourse and the moral ethos displayed by many churches in

western society. Morality, as explained as doing good or right, is situated as an aspect of one's identity. Yet in the case of Children's Church, Sally was confused that this was not playing out in practice. Investigating Christian ethos, Colby and Damon (1995) state three characteristics of extraordinary moral commitment in everyday life: first a certainty, or exceptional clarity about what is believed to be right, and about the personal responsibility to act on these beliefs; second, a positivity of approach to life involving optimism and enjoyment of work; and a unity of self and moral goals, in conceptions of identity. Sally's comment indicated a connection between the morality of inclusion for disabled children and such an ethos. I was intrigued that Sally felt that excluding this child from Children's Church would, in her mind, affect his spirituality. I chose not to question her about further about this matter to avoid becoming an ear for Sally's religious convictions which held little relevance for the purpose of this study.

In an interview with Lisa, a teacher in Kowhai Centre (non-profit, community operated)

I asked her how she had learned about disability and inclusion.

Lisa: A lot of it is from the media. There is a lot of coverage to do with disability. I think there is more awareness so now they tend to cover it a bit more. And probably from my studies.

LLM: Did you pick up any messages as you were growing up?

Lisa: As a child going through school and stuff you see physical disabilities. You are very aware of children aren't able physically, who can't run. And working in a centre you are more aware, you know, of signs of disability, not so much as being blind but things that lead up to it.

Lisa's comment about children who are not physically able and cannot run could be clearly read as pathological/medical discourse. She seemed to be remembering her childhood experiences — a time when biomedical discourse provided the only subject position available to disabled children. Lisa's comments about being more aware of signs of disability most likely comes from putting her knowledge of child development into practice as an assessment tool.

Next, I interviewed Nina, a teacher in a small for-profit centre. Nina became qualified after relocating to Aotearoa New Zealand. I followed the same line of questioning about her knowledge and experiences of children with disabilities.

Nina: To be frank, not very much. I'm not very confident. When I was doing a paper at [name of institution] I came across inclusion. And I was working in a centre at the same time which had a few of them [i.e. disabled children] so I was a little taken aback because in [home country] we never came across any of these. They were there, like a part of things, but the special people would come and give the treatment. They were there but there wasn't a name for it. So, I asked the centre manager why these children were there, and she said, 'we include'. Inclusion was a new word for me.

It appeared that in her home country, Nina had seen children with disability in the same centres and schools, but they were not the responsibility of the regular teachers. While Nina had seen this practice in her home country, it is likely that other teachers have only experienced disabled children with support staff present as Chapter Five reported.

The same question about knowledge and experience was posed to Sonia, a teacher in a non-profit centre, about her knowledge of disability and inclusion. Sonia had also relocated to Aotearoa New Zealand and completed her ECE study post arrival.

Sonia: I was a counselling psychologist. So, I've got a background in learning disabilities and stuff. I've got my degree in counselling psychology from [home country]. When I came here, I worked as a reliever at lots of different places and saw special education; you know, helpers helping children.

Sally, Nina and Sonia demonstrated an understanding of inclusion as, in part, a charitable action (e.g. "helping children"). Charitable discourse position is the helper and the helped in a relationship within which the helper is the privileged position (Fulcher, 1999). While the charitable discourse is employed by these teachers,

knowledge of the rights of the disabled child was also demonstrated. There is an indication of discursive predicament whereby teachers see the child through a deficit lens, understand the rights of the child to attend, yet concurrently experience disability and inclusion as a good deed.

My first interview with a centre manager was with Louise, the manager of a non-profit centre. Louise was the pilot interviewee. I began by asking her about her experiences with disability, and her views on inclusion in long-day ECEC centres.

Louise: I went to school next to a home for disabled children. I suppose I was aware of people that needed help and that the law didn't always assist. And my father's role-modelling because he was interested in everything and everybody

Louise moved on to talking about her feelings about inclusion with being prompted.

Louise: I am appalled when I hear that children have been excluded based on what they can and can't do. We are an open home/open centre. I recall a child with multiple issues who wasn't expected to live very long. Mum needed to get out of the house and she wanted him to experience being amongst other children, not that he has any language or sight. The memory I've got is her being in tears because we lifted him out of the wheelchair and put him in the sandpit. He just lay in the sand.

LLM: How do you see disabled children being part of the group?

Louise: But they are – we are all part of the group. The thing is we're not all the same and some of us are not able to do some of the things that others can. It's no good saying that we're all treated the same because we're not. You have to put more energy into some aspects.

Louise is very clear here about her views on inclusion and the view that diversity is part of the human condition. Disabled children, in Louise's comment, are presented as requiring more energy but, nevertheless, included without exception.

Next, I asked Petunia, a policy and compliance manager with Kauri Company, the

question about her experiences with disabled children and views on inclusion.

Petunia: In my first teaching role we had a high number of children with special

needs; we had at least five children with special needs at any one time and I

guess from there it never really went away. It has always been a passion. When

I was a head teacher, we always kept the number (of disabled children) capped

at five. You can do a disservice if you have too many children. I am one hundred

percent for inclusion.

Here Petunia shows how the presence of children with disabilities in her first centre as

influential in her teaching career.

In contrast, Phyllis, the manager of a non-profit, community service, responded to the

question about experience and views on disability and inclusion by referring to bringing

in disabled children from a specialist disability facility, and subsequently returning

them to this facility.

Phyllis: When I first started teaching in ECE, the primary school next door had a

special class so we enrolled the children with disabilities in the kindergarten, into

the normal programme, and had very strong links to the special class at the

school.

LLM: What are your views on inclusion today?

Phyllis: I preferred the old way

LLM: Which was?

Phyllis: Special schools, but that's my personal opinion. Full day centres like we

operate are targeted towards working whānau and we haven't had anybody

with severe disabilities because I don't think mothers, and this is the sad thing, I

don't think mothers or both whānau can go on working if they have a child with

severe disabilities. I don't know whether the conclusions are that it's better or it

101

is not, but I don't think we have experimented enough. At the end of the day it should be the parent's choice.

Phyllis's comments overtly positioned disabled children as 'outside', as not belonging in the centre. She described disabled children pathologically, and the physical nature of the centre was described as a barrier and she viewed whānau as bearers of the responsibility for care.

The next interview was with Nancy, owner/manager of the Willow centres.

Nancy explained that her knowledge about disabilities came from her exposure at the centre; with whānau wanting to enrol their children. Nancy went on to describe her experience with children to demonstrate.

Nancy: Molly was very badly autistic. We also had one little girl who is Down Syndrome in our [place name deleted] centre. She's gorgeous ... she's quite a big girl and you know they're gorgeous and got all that love, but they can sort of bombard other children ... and they are full of joy and they're always smiling.

Nancy's comment drew on the biomedical discourse for knowledge and appeared to be relying on this discourse to inform her practices. She was also drawing on pathological discourse ("badly autistic") which implies that one *is* one's disability and is synonymous with the generalised traits applied to persons with specific disabilities. Being "gorgeous and full of love" is usually viewed as an advantage in life yet when it is applied to a whole group without individual relationships it becomes pejorative, particularly when accompanied with verbs like "bombard" which suggests that the attention is excessive. I argued in Chapter One that there is renaissance of the pathological/medical discourse in the long-day ECEC sector which aligns with neoliberal free-market discourse. It allows for the repositioning of disabled children based on the extent of the disability as evidenced in Phyllis's earlier comment about ECEC being inappropriate based on the extent of the disability. The following comment by Nancy, also indicated the inclusion would be contingent on the extent of the disability.

Nancy: We had one little girl who was so severely physically disabled that for

her to be in our care wasn't appropriate but that came through with our consultation with the whānau. We just didn't have the facilities and she would have had to have one on one lifting her off the wheelchair and on to the toilet

Later in the interview Nancy commented about consultation with whānau.

Nancy: We're not in opposition – we are both (the centre and the whānau) actually educators and I feel we need to have a quite a consultation period with the whānau before enrolment. It's actually about sharing the knowledge and understanding and yes, they may pick up and go with it if they want.

This is not usually what happens for other children and Nancy's comments indicated criteria would be used prior to the child gaining access. I gleaned here that the power would sit with the organisation rather than the whānau of the disabled child in this consultation process.

Nancy: We had one parent who had a boy who was autistic, and she [the mother] took him to Melbourne and there's a wonderful guy at Melbourne Children's Hospital and there was some wonderful technique he was using with children and it was a lot of work. She stopped being a lawyer for a whole year to dedicate to her son. You become an advocate and that to me is what you need to be doing.

In both Chapters One and Two I made mention of the financial stresses of parenting a child with disability. The work of others in the field (Essa et al, 2008; Mohay & Reid, 2006; Parish & Cloud, 2006) indicated that the families of disabled children were finding access to long-day ECEC increasingly difficult and many are experiencing straightened circumstances as a result. There is a disjuncture here between what Nancy perceives as advocacy and what others might read as desperation on the part of the mother of this child. Nancy's sharing of this anecdote in an interview presented as something of a contradiction. This research was committed to understanding more clearly the ways in which teachers, owners and managers construe their responsibilities under the legislation. This is illustrated and discussed in the next section.

# 6.2. Feelings about disability and inclusion in Aotaeroa New Zealand's centres.

This section contains remarks and discussion about teacher, owner and manager perceptions of inclusion. I expected to get a sense of the discourses influencing their views on including disabled children. I begin this section with the teacher responses to the question about their feelings about inclusion.

Lisa: I think children with disabilities or special needs should be in mainstream centres mainly because they get to interact with children that are more able. It gives them something to work towards. I think that's more of more my personal view.

Nina: Children need to work alongside children with a variety of needs because they [the other children] are the future whānau, and the whānau of children with special needs, so if they don't have any contact, they won't learn about them.

For Lisa, inclusion is seen here as motivational for the disabled child, and for Nina, preparation for the typically developing child. Both views are characteristic of the many arguments for inclusion. *Including Everyone: Te Reo Tātaki* (M.O.E., 2000), one of Aotearoa New Zealand's guiding documents for inclusion, promotes inclusion as a way of reducing fear and as teaching children to value diversity. Nina's use of the term 'special needs' again could be read as employing charitable discourse. Using the term 'special needs' is more than a word choice; it evokes an image of the child as needy and positions the disabled child as requiring additional assistance. The term 'special needs' is evident in policy such as *Special Education 2000* and *Te Whāriki (1996)*, both

of which were guiding documents when many of the teacher participants studied for ECEC qualification. Corbett (1996) argues against the sentimentality of the term 'special needs' to explain disability. Corbett claims that 'special' when attached to 'needs' implies "dependency, inadequacy and unworthiness" (p. 3) and reinforces the need for special support. Support, however, is linked to provision rather than the people and takes us further from a focus on inclusion.

Nina used a metaphor to explain her views.

Nina: Everybody has to accept what everybody is because it's like all five fingers – all different but all together. We don't chop off a finger, but we do give it special care.

They're allowed to be here – their right is here. I'm from [name of country] and everybody has a right to be who they are.

Nina seems to be emphasising disability rights as fundamental for all humans.

I asked Sally about her feelings about disabled children being included.

Sally: I think that we should, um, rather than, (pause) I don't see why we shouldn't just include them.

LLM: Are there children with disability attending this centre?

Sally: No, I'm all set to go but where are the children?

While teachers knew that inclusion was mandated but did not have specific knowledge of the legislation, the centre owners and managers demonstrated clearer understanding of the intent of the legislation however they did not mention any item of legislation or policy specifically. I asked Petunia (policy and compliance manager with Kauri Company) about her knowledge of the legislation and policy for inclusion of disabled children.

Petunia: I write the policy so it's pretty good.

LLM: Does your organisation have a policy for inclusion?

Petunia: I will not have a separate policy, in fact some centres (in Kauri company) had them and I made them take them away – that's how strongly I

feel about inclusion and inclusion doesn't separate children. I believe Te Whāriki and the actual licensing criteria talk about providing a programme for individual children's needs and abilities; from disability right up to exceptional ability and I refuse to highlight one group of children.

Given the lack of a company policy as described by Petunia, I asked about guidance for teachers.

LLM: Where would teachers in Kauri Company look for guidance?

Petunia: Under the curriculum. We have a curriculum procedure policy which is basically the licensing criteria which covers centre requirements, so they must meet that and by meeting that we are offering inclusive practice.

Petunia's view that teachers would find a framework to guide their practice in licensing criteria is an interesting standpoint. Petunia has responsibility for the how the company approaches their obligations under the legislation for inclusion and she has elected to rely on *Te Whāriki* as discussed in Chapter One. This is mandated for all licensed centres yet contains limited reference to 'diverse ability'. The Licensing Criteria for Early Childhood Education services, to which Petunia was referring, states in its seventh criterion: "The service curriculum is inclusive, and responsive to children as confident and competent learners" (M.O.E., 2008).

LLM: What are your thoughts about disabled children being accepted in the wider community?

Petunia: I think there's still a lot of work to be done in society and I think that children need to work alongside children with a variety of needs, disabilities,

personalities or whatever. They are the future parents of children with special needs.

Next, I asked Phyllis (centre manager, non-profit) about her understanding of the legislation and how she felt about it.

Phyllis: Under the law they [disabled children] have a right to access, and they should be able to access but the requirements of children with disability, and because of the needs of those children, there isn't enough funding from the government to meet those needs. The problem is that if centres choose to take children with disabilities then the cost of that, and there is often a cost, must be built into the parents' fee structure. Across all the parents.

LLM: Does this centre have a policy about inclusion?

Phyllis: No, we don't have a specific policy, but we do have an equal employment opportunity and we have had staff with disabilities but we don't have a specific policy for children; we just treat each child individually as they make their application.

As in Willow centre, it seems that disabled children are assessed by the management of Rimu Centre for their suitability according to Phyllis. This assessment is based on perceived deficits and the individual child's cost effectiveness. In the next section, participants were asked to explain any issues they felt impinged on inclusion.

### 6.3. Examining the barriers for teachers, owners and managers

Throughout the interviews, participants referred to funding and economics generally as barriers to moving forward with inclusion. Government, centre structures and initial teacher education/professional development were also made mention of as possible barriers. The teacher, owner and manager concerns are examined separately as they arose in the data but discussed as capillary to dominant discourses in the conclusion to this thesis.

# **6.3.1.** The money

I begin here with a comment from Sally who, when asked about barriers, thought that in her current centre there would be structural and financial implications.

Sally: I guess the only barrier I can think of is ratios. I don't know if they [disabled children] would be safe in an environment with 1:8 (one staff member to eight children) and I guess the centre might need to employ another teacher just to cater for that child

LLM: Why do you think that would be an issue?

Sally: Funding.

LLM: Why would funding be an issue?

Sally: How we are structured. Our centre is quite big, and we split them (the children) into two, three, and four-year olds and each room has 2 teachers. We have a shared outdoor area.

I found this response very interesting with its suggestion as a discursive signpost. Sally was unable to provide greater clarity on why the structure of the centre was related to funding, possibly because she was a fairly recent (3 years) graduate and had not yet been introduced to the intricacies of the funding model of ECEC. However, the comment demonstrates knowledge that the structural issues of group size, ratios and play space feature strongly in the daily lives of teachers. Funding and structural concerns point to the influence of the sector as a marketplace. The neoliberal structuring of the sector as a site for private investment has been discussed (see Chapter One) and Sally's comment pointed to how a centre can be structured to ensure maximising use of staffing and minimising cost. Ratios are regulated for a minimum standard. It is commonplace to refuse to raise staffing numbers because it limits economic viability.

Sally's alluding to supervision and safety was a recognisable discourse. Risk and safety discourse are very prevalent throughout society. Furedi (2005) writes about a

movement away from the term 'accident', noting that the British Medical Journal (BMJ) has banned the word from its pages. BMJ's argument takes up the notion that most injuries and their precipitating events are preventable. In response, safety regulations are detailed, safety policies are embedded in every workplace and whole industries are built around being safe and healthy. This is a recognisable feature of the ECEC sector's approach to safety and accident prevention. Unsurprisingly, the ECEC sector has stringently regulated safety standards (New Zealand Government, 2008.). It is entirely appropriate to be concerned about the safety of children but using safety as a means of denying access to disabled children did not align with the curriculum's intentions and Sally's earlier comments.

Lisa was also aware that money was an overriding consideration in the day-to-day operations of a service:

Lisa: I probably won't be sure, but you know everything has a financial connotation. If you want to do professional development for special needs, money could be an issue to allow teachers time for these sorts of things.

Lisa was referring here to the cost of employing a reliever to give teachers paid release time. Lisa also referred to a lack of opportunity, because of financial constraints, to meet with teachers from other centres to share ideas for inclusive practices.

The economic issues/barriers became more apparent via the centre manager/owner views about possible barriers to inclusion.

Louise: It can be hard to accommodate children who have multiple physical limitations, you know, that big child who needs to be lifted and changed

I asked Louise what she thought needed to be in place to make inclusion more workable.

Louise: The availability of someone to work intentionally with that child. We spend a long time fighting to get it [funding], sometimes 12 months to get three hours a week. There are too many children and they (GSE/Group Special Education) must prioritise, but if we are looking at increasing participation and improving quality then it's not by being the ambulance at the bottom of the cliff. And GSE used to be conveniently based just around the corner and they used to run free workshops

When I posed the question about possible barriers to inclusion to Petunia her response was two-fold.

Petunia: There is not enough work done on the early education (Initial Teacher Education) side of their training, so staff need to be mentored by those who have been around for some time. Struggling centres would have less-experienced staff. And they feel that don't get enough support from GSE (Group Special Education, Ministry of Education). And we can put in additional support but only for a limited time like two weeks because of staffing costs.

Petunia states her position here quite clearly, and it seems firmly underpinned by a neoliberal discourse. The disabled child emerges as non-cost effective and expensive within a neoliberal business platform. Reflecting on this comment raised a question about her earlier comment about it being appropriate to include five disabled children in a sessional public kindergarten, where teachers' salaries are paid directly by a government department. I found the disjuncture in Petunia's reasoning intriguing. It appears it is not possible to do the same where a market model directs expenditure. This is further structural evidence of a discourse that clearly positions disabled children as costly thus privileging business objectives. I wondered whether the fact that teacher salaries are paid out of the funding allocated to each privately-operated centre to use as they wish contributed to exclusion.

When Nancy was asked about barriers to inclusion she replied.

Nancy: It's the Ministry's fault that we have got too many centres. They are everywhere, just like corner dairies.

It seemed likely at this point that Nancy was referring to staffing issues, but she did not raise that until a little later in the interview.

Nancy: And I don't know who decides what quality is. And there's a lack of knowledge on the side of educators and of whānau. And the jolly funding's been cut for professional development, but I do say that as an owner we have responsibilities to ensure that our teachers are being upskilled. I always say to my girls – look this is your opportunity.

Here was another mention of the government as culpable, not only for licensing too many centres, but also for failing to adequately fund support for professional development. I was not able to ascertain the opportunities that Nancy was referring to for teachers to "seize the chance of". Here also was another example of a paternalistic discourse regarding teacher/owner relationship. Of interest, however, was Nancy's notion that whānau lack of knowledge about their child's disability. Shepherd, Colby, Kervick and Morris (2017) describe whānau as needing to advocate for their children and thus compelled to engage in information gathering, filtering, networking, advocating and leading. In the fields of disability support, whānau of children with disabilities are increasingly considered as experts in the field of care. Their expertise can deliver an important contribution towards planning their child's care and education (de Geeter, Poppes, & Vlaskamp, 2002).

As anticipated, Nancy followed her comment about there being too many centres with mention of staffing being a barrier.

Ok, so stable staffing - there are lots of challenges for me – lots of challenges. I've got staff who've been with me for 9 or 10 years and some only one or two.

You know it's really hard when there's competition out there and (company name deleted) are offering ridiculous prices for their pay – yeah \$28 per hour for a new grad. That's big money.

Nancy was implying that Willow Company could not afford to include disabled children. Inclusion for disabled children repeatedly emerged in the data as impeded by economics. Overall, the data put forward evidence that teachers and managers view the cost-consideration factors as non-negotiable characteristics of long-day ECEC and, subsequently, the responsibility of government to act on. The entwining of economic stresses and government blaming was of interest to me here. Inclusion of disabled children was being repeatedly impeded by the strongly held standpoint that disabled children cannot access appropriate support from the government agency, GSE, because there isn't enough money to go around. For professionals in the ECEC sector, the belief that the problem belongs to the government could release them from obligation towards disabled children, however, almost all the participants spoke of a willingness to be inclusive albeit, in some cases, with conditions attached.

The 'truth' of the view that it is government that under-funds gives the role of 'the bad guy' to the government and positions the centre as the struggling victim. The not-enough-money thread is strong not only in this data but currently very strong in the sector which is discussed further in Chapter Seven. There is a strong theme throughout the data that underlines the idea that if the government is not prepared to fully support disabled children then how can the centre? Sally's earlier question about the presence (absence) of disabled children had piqued my curiosity: What do teachers truly understand about the nature and purpose of the businesses who employ them? This is further discussed in Chapter Seven where an overview of the issues in the sector currently is brought to the fore.

## 6.3.2. Teacher preparation for Inclusion

Prior learning about disability, particularly in initial teacher education (ITE) is deemed to equip teachers with more appropriate and in-depth knowledge and skills with which they can create more enriched and positive learning environments for all

children (Cassidy et al., 2005; Copple & Bredekamp, 2009; Kwon, Hong & Jeon, 2017). Kwon, Hong and Jeon's (2017) research in USA found that teachers' specialised training and a bachelor's degree in early childhood education (ECE) were positively associated with their inclusive practices in the classroom; furthermore, "children's perceived contact with people who have disabilities was positively associated with their attitudes toward peers with disabilities" (p. 360). Teacher, owner and manager attitudes towards disabled children were viewed by several participants in this study as important for the success of inclusion as these excerpts demonstrate.

Louise: I think overall, it has a lot to do with attitude of people in the first instance; how they view others and their place in the world, and their own place in the world

Nina: It's only the thinking I would say. Because we do get some funding from the Ministry. They [the children] are referred by health professionals and if they are not, then the centre can approach the Ministry for special professionals who can come and visit the centre if required. It is just awareness and thinking that you can do it. It's a role-modelling thing.

Lisa: I think that it's very important that teachers accept it [inclusion] for a start [.....] they need to be open-minded [.....] and your centre philosophy will really target those teachers that have that same frame of mind.

Nina, Lisa and Louise's comments about teachers' attitudes to disability underpinning successful inclusion or otherwise are critical to inclusion. However, participants in the study seem to be explaining attitudes as sited within individuals. As explained in Chapters Two and Five, in this study attitudes are viewed as a product of dominant discourses. As one becomes influenced by the discourse, one plays a part in influencing others which is then interpreted as attitudinal. Lisa also remarked that a positive attitude alongside content knowledge about disabilities would be needed.

Lisa: Probably a lot of subject content knowledge about disabilities if you are having specific children in your centre. And I think it is really important to have

some sort of professional development. And teachers need to be open-minded about these sorts of issues.

Focusing on subject content about the pathology and characteristics of specific disabilities is a common thread among teachers. Lisa's comments about the need to be open-minded towards disability but also citing the need for knowledge specific to the pathology of a disability may be attributed to the continued influence of biomedical discourse combined with neoliberal discourse.

#### 6.4. Discussion

As Moss (2019) suggests, dominant discourses have a decisive influence on particular subjects. The findings in this chapter suggest that in this case the subject is disabled children, and the discourse of the marketplace (i.e., neoliberalism), positions the subject outside of the sector by privileging the structures of the business. Apparent by its absence in the teacher contributions was any direct reference to management responsibility. No-one said that the management boards/owners will not want to do this because it might affect financial yield on investment. It is intriguing that the owners and managers, particularly of for-profit centres, were not described by teachers as being in any way responsible for the absence of disabled children. This thesis argues that where financial survival or profit is a key motive, children with disability may likely be positioned as a less economically prudent investment yet the teacher participants made little to no mention of business structures or profit motives when asked to think about possible barriers to inclusion. The findings explained in this chapter have more clearly illuminated this. The teachers in the study were quite certain that the responsibility resides with government.

Placing the responsibility with the government of the day is an example of what Foucault referred to as a 'game of truth' (Ball, 2013; Walshaw, 2007). Foucault's later work was concerned with how truth, and the systems of truth and falsity, come to count as true. He claimed that nothing is true, that is not the product of power. Considering Foucault's work, I speculated whether blaming the government for the failings of inclusion, for underpaid teachers and, in many cases, poor working conditions was an indicator of a privileging of a market discourse by stealth? Foucault claimed that truth is a system of exclusion and a system of constraint exercised not only on other discourses, but on a whole series of other practices (Ball, 2015). In this case 'truth' about lack of funding is argued while lack of willingness to accept a lesser profit is never mentioned.

In Chapter two, I wrote of the ways in which discourses make assumptions and values invisible, turn subjective perspectives and understandings into objective 'truths' and determine that some things are self-evident and realistic while other are dubious and impractical (Dalberg & Moss, 2008). The discourse positioning ECEC as inextricably engaged in business objectives has emerged from this data set as logical and unquestionable while at the same time it has created a sense of frustration among teachers, owners, and managers in the study. As the discourses contributing to professional responses about disabled children in the sector unfolded, discourses of human rights and the marketplace of ECEC intersected and contradicted each other, indicating a gap between policy and practice and articulated through a discursive movement I came to term enlightened ableism. To make an analogy, in the same way that racism privileges ethnocentric belief systems and structures, ableism privileges ability over disability in organisational, structural, and individual practices. Enlightened racism is identifiable when people use the rhetoric of inclusiveness and equality and speak against racist practices, yet do not socialise across ethnicities or form authentic personal relationships with people of diverse ethnic groups (Bruce & Wensing, 2012; Jhally & Lewis, 1992). In the same ways that enlightened racism masks the broader cultural failure to recognise the effects of institutionalised racism (Bruce & Wensing, 2012), my suggestion of a discourse movement of enlightened ableism permits the side-stepping, or even failure to recognise the effects of an ableist paradigm. The

rhetoric of enlightened ableism presents a rational, modern, well-informed and humanitarian world view yet allows the continuation of practices that position disabled children as other. Liberal rhetoric, especially regarding to the right to form relationships was evident in the responses of all but one teacher participant. Curiously, all teacher and two owner/manager interviewees claimed the virtues of inclusion by noting the positive benefits for the children, their peers, the whānau and the community yet, at the time these interviews were conducted, no disabled children were present.

Every teacher and all but one of the owners and managers in the study spoke of the notion of inclusion in positive terms claiming children's rights, making somewhat vague reference to legislation and often using the language of both legislation and curriculum while conversely claiming structural and financial barriers to providing disabled children with access to their centre. The teachers, owners and managers in the study appeared caught between the power of the marketplace and their own conscience. It is possible they were confused by the predicament they found themselves in. Somewhere in this complex predicament that is ECEC provision currently, is the knowledge of responsibilities under the legislation. Unpacking this tension between being inclusive and being practical [in relation to the structure of the centre] in Foucauldian terms links to his work on the subject. Foucault (1982) argues dual definitions of the term subject — one being subject to someone else by control and dependence and secondly, tied to one's own identity by a conscience or self-knowledge. Therefore, subjectivity is the possibility of lived experience within a context, that subjectivity is what we do rather than who we are.

There was no clear differentiation between the for-profit and non-profit centres in the teacher/owner/manager data set. It appears that the opening-up of the sector to investors has carried the non-profit centres along with the flow. Both groups of providers are faced with remaining financially viable in a very competitive market, labour and property costs are high, and in the case of corporates, investor return responsibilities are only a few of the difficulties emerging here. Given the way sector is currently organised and funded, the overall responsibility for welcoming disabled

children undoubtedly lies with management yet, as this chapter demonstrates, management may well be avoiding the responsibility.

The data in this chapter has revealed that the economic principles of neoliberalism are privileging the typical child even when adults working in both the forprofit and not-for-profit sectors espouse inclusive ideals. There is a profound and perplexing tension borne out of contradictory [employment] expectations: On the one hand, teacher participants in the study understood they were 'legislatively' charged with the responsibility of meeting the rights and needs of *all* children, yet on the other hand they were required to operate under the expectation that this provision would take place in a cost-effective, efficient and, in many cases, profitable (although that word was not spoken) manner. It was not simple or straightforward for any of the participants.

The competing discourses of neoliberalism, biomedicine, and human rights brought to the fore in this chapter imply not an unwillingness to include, but rather a contradictory perception that in the world of long-day ECEC there is little room for children with disabilities to be included, let alone to conform to the immoveable structures and routines in place. The balance between what an organisation can or is prepared to pay staff and maintain suitable ratios for inclusion raised problems when other companies were prepared to pay higher wages but run at minimum staffing requirements. Knowledge of, and access to government agencies and support personnel willing to work collaboratively was raised as important for inclusion but opportunities to network with teachers in other centres and learn from their experiences, and to undertake professional development was limited because of staffing and schedules, and value for money.

Overall, responses in this theme are a mix of liberal vision and neoliberal pragmatics. However, a sense that teachers were viewing these factors as non-negotiable characteristics of long-day ECEC was most concerning. Neoliberal discourse manifested in truths about working in a long-day ECEC centre and how such centres operate. Such truths, as Foucault (1972) claims, do more than give knowledge or

meaning, they produce specific types of subjects as effects of discursive relations. The ECEC long-day sector is structured in a way that has embraced a business model of delivery that is now seen as *the* way of doing things. Hence, the subjects, in this case teachers, owners and managers, have become a force in perpetuating the very operational practices and structures that they view as problematic. The legislation and policy for inclusion is being overshadowed by the structural obstacles and economic imperatives of long-day ECEC and as a consequence, those responsible for ensuring the intent of the legislation are struggling to see a fit for disabled children.

In an earlier paper, Lyons (2011) suggested that the neoliberal principle assuming education for future contribution appears to have created a renaissance of biomedical definitions of disability. This is nascent in the data by way of participant contributions citing lack of knowledge of the pathological characteristics of specific disabilities. The data discussed in this chapter indicate that, for most participants, learning about disability has been gained via personal life experiences and observations in participants' own schooling (e.g., proximity to special needs units in the school they attended). For several of the mature participants, learning about disability came from being involved in, or exposed to, part-time integration programmes whereby small groups of children with disabilities and their supporting staff attended the mainstream early childhood services. Several of the younger participants noted some learning about disability from teacher education programmes, largely in subsections of other courses. Of all the teachers in the study, few had any recent experiences of spending time with a disabled child. Furthermore, within this section of the data there is evidence of participants having gained understandings about disability by label; the information that comes from learning about the pathology of the disability itself, or by stereotype, whereby all persons with the same pathology are attributed the same characteristics and traits.

No teacher/owner/manager participants specifically reported any formal learning about inclusive practice and in only one case did a participant have knowledge of the guiding document *Including Everyone: Te Reo Tātaki* (Ministry of Education, 2000). While many of the participants employ a human rights discourse of disability

when speaking of inclusion as a philosophy, there is a prevalence of biomedical discourse when speaking of children with disability generally. Gordon-Burns et al. (2012) describe the biomedical discourse of disability as locating disability within pathology and normative differences, and "see the 'problems' of disabled children primarily as a product of their own impairments" (p. 159).

Slee (2001) argues that when such that an individualistic gaze is adopted, unacknowledged assumptions about syndromes and disorders dominate. To this point, Goodley (2007) suggests that such categorisation of learners with disability perpetuates a deficit model whereby teachers focus on what learners cannot do by making comparisons with the non-disabled majority. It is likely that the biomedical discourse of disability provides truths about disabilities and makes perfect sense when aligned with neoliberal education intent. It also absolves teachers from further responsibility toward children with disabilities.

Several teaching professionals demonstrated awareness of the legal rights of children with disabilities to access and participate in ECEC, yet the items of underpinning legislation were, in the main, not spoken of specifically. Inclusion was articulated as important and rights-related by most participants. Te Whāriki (M.O.E., 1996, 2017) emerged in the data as the important guiding document for inclusion largely because it states that the sector must be inclusive. The data shows evidence that many teachers, owners and managers in ECEC find themselves in a complicated position: they are required by legislation and policy to be inclusive of children with disabilities, via legislation and policy they have been given the language to speak about inclusion, yet for many, making inclusion a reality presents as problematic and confusing. It is therefore a more likely conclusion that neoliberal business motives and operational structures combined with human rights rhetoric have produced a phenomenon in the sector that has given permission for an enlightened ableist movement to thrive. The power to change is in the hand of the adults in the sector which has not been acknowledged, suggesting that change will require that these contradictions be recognised. In the following chapter I use my own experiences over

time to illustrate how the predicament of ECEC has developed to the point it is at currently.

# CHAPTER SEVEN: REFLEXIVE COMMENTARY: Tensions and turning points

#### 7.1. Introduction

In this chapter I revisit and reflect on my personal, decades-long experiences in the ECEC sector. I include my thoughts and recollections of important events and share insights into how these events have contributed to the current discursive predicament that Aotearoa New Zealand's ECEC sector is struggling with regarding the inclusion of disabled children. The term predicament (see Chapter One) is used to describe the situation as it currently stands in the ECEC sector post 30 years of free market policy: the predicament is the consequence of discursive intersections and contradictions influencing and confusing teachers, owners, managers and whānau alike.

I also draw on the writing of others concerned about the early childhood sector and the ways the structure of the sector may be influencing groups of which I have interviewed a small sample. At points in this chapter, I reflect on my own position in the thesis narrative. This appears to be me writing my story which as, mentioned in Chapter Two, has been challenged by poststructuralists who insist the impossibility of the researcher telling her story with any validity (Gannon, 2006). Denzin (2003), however, suggests that these 'my-stories' might also be reflexive, critical tellings. Throughout this chapter text boxes are used to separate anecdotes of my experiences in ECEC to grant me entry points into the discussion from a personal, reflexive perspective

At the outset of this study, and because I had been a member of each of the participant groups at some point in my life, I assumed that I would have a measure of insider-researcher self; that I would understand people and therefore retell their contributions well. Somewhere in the research process I began to question this

assumption. As Chan (2017) noted, assumptions regarding researcher/participant similarities are complex and not straightforward. I began to reflect on discrete experiences that have shaped my position in different ways to other participants in the study. Lives are different, take different courses and are influenced by and participate in different discourses.

This study has searched for answers as to how and why has it come about that disabled children are still positioned as other despite rafts of legislative and policy initiatives to address this. Following Foucault's (1980) suggestion that one should try to locate power at the extreme points of its exercise, what has emerged in this study is that long day ECEC is one such example of an extreme point of the exercise of power. Mills (2003) noted that Foucault characterised power as an abstract force that determines what will be known, rather than assuming that individuals develop ideas and knowledge. This study shows evidence that long day ECEC is an active participant in, and recipient of such power regimes. Teacher, owner and manager participation may be more subtle, or even obscure, but the effects are the same. To this end I can reflect on how I have brought dominant discourses to the fore in my analysis and subsequent to this, reveal shifting subject positions for myself. I realise that absorbing much of the new personal learning that has come about through this project has prompted me to (re)consider my own recollections of the sector over time using Foucauldian tools. My life experiences as an ECEC teacher combined with new learning has had a bearing on how I read and interpreted that data. In the next section I reflect on shifts in my understandings about quality, beginning with a personal experience.

# 7.2. Pondering quality

Text box (TB) 1:

In my 30s I attended a public meeting about the use of government money to bulk fund privately owned ECEC centres. I was a centre owner at the time. I suggested to the meeting that centres should be held accountable for keeping evidence of how this money was being spent. Government had proposed that the funds should be used to improve quality, lower parent fees, provide professional development opportunities for teachers, and increase wages. I raised my hand and asked to speak, arguing that failure to require such accountability could result in the opening- up of the sector to private investors which potentially could erode quality and conditions. I was verbally attacked by a small group of owners in the carpark after the meeting and when I reached mycar, I saw that the door had been damaged.

While I still stand by my statement at the meeting that bulk-funding would open the sector up to investors looking for a subsidised yield and likely erode quality (see text box above), I acknowledge now that my understandings of what 'quality' might 'look' like have changed somewhat. At the time, I understood quality only as an abstract, as in many ways linked to quality people, those who had studied to be a teacher and who had years of experience in delivering quality as they had been trained to do. This discourse around quality remains strong in the sector with the argument for qualified teachers currently an aspect of the current Labour Government's strategic planning for the sector. However, at that point in my career, I wasn't viewing quality as dynamic, as the product of changing discourses privileging a particular set of values about what ECEC should look like at a point in time. When I studied to be an ECEC teacher, and for the following two decades, there was no curriculum to guide practice and no governing body to suggest that good practice would go beyond the dominant culture ideals of that time. My own centre had been verbally pronounced as being of high quality by the licensing authority of the time, the Department of Social Welfare. They had checked fences and gates, first aid supplies, cooking and sleeping

arrangements. The 'high quality' judgement was pronounced not only because the centre had been deemed safe, but also because I had also set up the centre for learning as I had been trained to do. (I received a certificate to put on the wall but no written report). This reinforced my beliefs about quality being associated with qualifications, a view I still hold. What I was not acknowledging at that point was that I was also an investor with market discourses influencing much of my decision-making. Via my qualifications and experience, and my investment, I had positioned myself differently to others in the sector.

#### TB2:

My own two children attended the centre I owned. On one occasion a delegate of the six teachers that I had employed asked to meet speak with me on behalf of the staff. She asked me to move my son to another centre. This child, according to all six teachers, was impeding the learning of other children. After this, I decided to move my son to another centre because I didn't want him spending his days with people that didn't want him

The event described above really surprised me at the time. I was shocked that we could include children with disabilities that were quite profound but my own child's 'quirkiness' couldn't be managed. I was saddened by the lack of, what I saw then, as kindness. The image of the learner embedded in *Te Whāriki* (M.O.E., 2017) which positions children as capable and competent learners, had not gained foothold at that point and I saw the sector as one in which only qualified teachers had a place; people who were prepared to give their all for the benefit of vulnerable young children.

As I revisit this period of my life, I would argue that education practices contemporary to that time were largely underpinned by developmentalism, a charitable discourse and the emerging neoliberal discourse of the marketplace. I was an active mechanism of the discursive predicament the data has shown evidence still prevailing today. During this period, Aotearoa New Zealand was developing human rights legislation of its own (e.g., *The New Zealand Human Rights Act*, 1993) and had become signatory to international initiatives intended to support, in part, the inclusion

of disabled children in regular settings (e.g., United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, 1989). This was reflected in the development of the first edition of *Te Whāriki* in the mid-1990s, and subsequently, inclusion of disabled children in ECEC became a topic for discussion and contemplation. By this time, I had sold the business and qualified as an early intervention teacher. The early intervention study, albeit rationalised via biomedical discourse, also gave me insight into different ways to consider disability and inclusion. Looking back on this time, I understand that the discursive predicament, including the influence of marketplace interpretations of quality, remained a part of how I was positioned myself and how I positioned others. The following anecdote shares a situation that demonstrates this.

#### T.B. 3

I was asked by the early intervention lecturer to present a seminar to my class of twelve early intervention peers. I called it "Marketing your Qualifications". In my talk I explained how one might use one's qualification to establish a government funded ECEC business thereby increasing one's income considerably while still working for inclusive ideals. The talk was received very well with follow-up questions largely focused on how to get started, arrange finance and so forth.

I was assuming that my beliefs around quality went hand in hand with free enterprise, even though I had publicly argued some years before that such enterprise would eventually lead to an erosion of quality. At the end of this study year, I was approached to become a lecturer in ITE for a large college of education that would eventually become a university faculty. I accepted the role and became responsible for inclusive education in the Bachelor of Education, ECEC. Looking back, I see this as a critical point in my life experiences in the sector. I had moved from a place where I was largely unchallenged to one in which I had to begin to reconsider the paradigms I had operated under. I needed to be prepared to articulate my stance on disability and inclusion. Furthermore, it was vital that I had a clear vision of how this would look in ECEC practice.

# 7.3. Reflecting on inclusion

I had begun my career in the presence of exclusionary policies for disabled children and begun to refocus my thinking in the light of legislation intending for all children to be learning together. No longer was I the charitable, good teacher because in the background I was raising a child who had attracted a label, followed by another label which was retracted and replaced with another one entirely. I was learning to think and argue differently. I was again surrounded by biomedical discourse and arguing my child's position with a social constructivist argument. He was my child and he was not different. He needed what everyone else had.

As Wills (2006) noted, moving from formerly exclusionary practices had been cast within a dominant neoliberal managerial policy environment: A technicist approach that focused on management rather than on rights. Wills was arguing that the contestable funding for support had taken priority over the rights of disabled children and along with it, the last vestiges of my marketplace affiliations with quality.

In the text box below, I describe my son Finn's experience of his first and last encounter with teacher aid support at school.

#### TB 4:

After years of battling, at age twelve Finn finally received three hours of funding support for a teacher aid for one term (approx. twelve weeks). Finn came home from school and told me a teacher aid had come to help with sewing. "I must be the dumbest kid in school, but I do have a new hat and some shorts that she made for me"

After this experience I approached the classroom teacher and she told me she did not like having other adults watching her teach. I wished she had told me this before I had argued and advocated for support.

By age fifteen, schooling was no longer a tenable option for Finn, and I decided that he could stay home for a while. I received a phone call from the Ministry of Education that challenged my right to remove Finn from school before he had turned 16 years of age. The Ministry informed me that if I didn't attempt home schooling I would end up in court. During this phone call my response to this comment was, "please do that" i.e., take me to court. I didn't hear from them again.

After the phone call from the Ministry of Education, I felt a huge sense of relief. No longer was schooling Finn's problem, it was mine. I was absolutely prepared to go to court so that the system's failure to provide for Finn could be heard and documented but this opportunity did not arise. It was at this point that I understood that the discourse of human rights had overtaken any remains of a charitable approach to disability I may have held on to without realising. My views around disability and inclusion had become rights based not needs based, and I began to develop my thinking about my role as a rights facilitator and advocate for disabled children and their whānau. By now, Finn had grown up, succeeded at university, and become at home in the workplace. The university provided everything to ensure his success.

## 7.4. Quality concerns in the ECEC sector

This research in this thesis has put forward compelling evidence of the influence of neoliberal economic discourse on the subject positions of disabled children.

Neoliberalism has emphasised almost all dimensions of our ECEC professional lives in 'ledger' terms. It has also redefined the notion of quality. Today, quality is largely associated with regulatory systems and accountabilities. Such systems are strongly associated with risk and safety. Quality has increasingly become something to be measured and expressed as standards and evaluated as outcomes. Such measuring risks narrowing the lenses for understanding and thinking about quality (Duhn & Greishaber, 2016; Fenech, 2011). McLachlan et al. (2018) suggest an inevitable tension between the regulatory environment for ECEC which is determined by the Education

(ECE services) regulations (2008) which sets minimum standards around such things as ratios, space and safety and the broader ideals of quality curriculum outlined in *Te Whāriki* (M.O.E., 2017) and which are crucial for disabled children to access. The notion that centre quality essentially comprises structural and process elements warrants problematizing in future research (Fenech, 2011). As this research has indicated in Chapter One, thinking about quality in terms of disabled children and inclusion becomes less likely in a discourse where children are thought of in ledger terms. On a ledger, as Chapter Six shows evidence of, disabled children are positioned as expensive and time consuming.

Today, teachers are entrenched in measurable, quality management systems. They are not only held accountable for working to budgets but have also become increasingly accountable for actions that would once have been considered minor adjustments. Accountability is not necessarily a bad thing when it involves two elements in balance; being held to account by others and giving account of yourself (Lingard, 2017) yet this does not appear to be the case in the sector. I learned about the stress of working under this type of accountability after I resigned from the university. I decided to return to teaching to reacquaint myself with the realities of the profession I had been teaching and writing about. I became employed as a Centre Manager in a corporately owned company. The recollection below is an example of how workload stresses can build up.

#### TB 6:

I moved an item of furniture that was causing children to collide with others. I was held to account by an area manager (whose role is to provide professional guidance and support for teachers) for moving this item because I had failed to write an internal evaluation of the positioning of said item prior to moving it. This evaluation was expected to contain before and after photographs and an explanation of the decision.

This example signals how reorganisation of the ECEC sector can play out in the lives of teachers. Teachers in the long day ECEC work under enormous stress and microtasks take valuable time away from children. However, failure to comply with regulatory systems and providing documentation of all aspects of quality management can result in a business losing their licence and funding. The long-day sector is a business and economic stability is critical to its survival.

Meanwhile, for disabled children and their whānau the story has not improved. Teachers, owners and managers blame government (see Chapter Six) which is in part to blame. Limited and contestable funding for disability is causing problems but there is more to this. Government blaming has become a discursive trend serving to side-step the problem of the sector as a marketplace where economic viability takes preference over inclusion. For teachers, to challenge the problems of a free-market model would not serve any purpose in the short term as teachers and their employers are intricately involved in the livelihoods of each other. The business needs the teachers and vice versa. Neither party, as the present study shows, can clearly see a place for disabled children in the model as it currently stands. This seems to be partly a government funding issue and partly an issue of a dominant discourse in which both employer and employee are entrenched in a neoliberal structure that is elephantine in proportion. I believe I was prescient in saying all those years ago that opening-up the sector to private investors without accountability for public funds would create problems for quality. I had not however considered the specific impact on disabled children, yet it seems clear.

Foucault (1997) suggests converting a problem into a question, the aim of which is to shift unmovable truths in order to create space for new ways of thinking, new agency and social change. New ways of thinking about the ECEC funding structures in order to include accountability for tax-payer contributions may guarantee that private enterprise in the sector would pass on the benefits to staff and children, disabled or typically developing. This is expanded in Chapter Eight.

# 7.5. Qualified teacher supply and demand

Unsurprisingly, the latest development in the sector concerns teacher supply and demand. The Aotearoa New Zealand ECEC sector is rapidly becoming short of teachers. This is not an unexpected turn of events and one that, while it may do some good for the individual teacher's bargaining powers, will do little in the short term to alleviate the issue of accessing inclusive ECEC for disabled children for whom qualified and experienced teachers are essential. The M.O.E. (2009) told an early childhood supply summit that in the worst-case scenario, the sector could be short of 2600 teachers by the following year (Farquahar, 2009). Not until 2018 did the Early Childhood Council (E.C.C., the representatives of private owners) announce that 30 percent of its centres are currently stuck: they have staffing issues and do not know what to do. This [staffing] crisis point has matured over the past 18 months claims the ECC (Alexander, 2018). The ECC are petitioning government to address this concern which they have ignored for a decade to add ECE teachers to the immigration priority list to meet immediate staffing needs. Meanwhile, the for-profit sector has continued to diminish teacher conditions, increase license numbers and, if the teacher surveys are representative, in many cases bully staff. Attracting experienced teachers back into the sector and protecting the ones remaining would be the preferred option for inclusion in the sector but this requires a substantial increase in wages and improvement in overall conditions.

Currently there are widening disparities between the wages of long-day ECE teachers and the salaries of M.O.E. direct-paid kindergarten teachers. Kindergarten teachers were awarded a significant salary increase to provide parity with their primary school teacher counterparts in 2019. This resulted in as much as much as \$NZ49,000 (Long, 2019) difference between long serving, qualified ECEC teachers in long day centres and their Kindergarten compatriots. Long (2019) reported that qualified and certified teachers with an early childhood education degree in the long day ECEC sector, must be paid a minimum of \$45,491 a year or more. Teachers with higher

qualifications must be paid \$46,832 or more. However, and by comparison, as of 2021, kindergarten teachers will be paid between \$51,358 and \$90,000.

Both groups hold the same benchmark qualifications earned through the same universities and polytechnics. The difference lies in the ownership model of the employing organisation. New Zealand Kindergartens (N.Z.K.) is an incorporated society and a registered charity. The organisation is also part of the State Services Sector which to some extent affords a measure of leverage for remuneration and conditions of state employees. The State Services Commission is the central public service department of New Zealand charged with overseeing, managing, and improving the performance of the State sector of New Zealand and its organisations.

The long day majority-privately-owned sector is not included under the umbrella of the State Services Commission. Teachers are employed on (often confidential) individual contracts and frequently discouraged from joining their representing union by private owners. The union, New Zealand Education Institute (N.Z.E.I.), is currently the only course of action to address the disparities unless a teacher is courageous and fortunate enough to argue for and achieve an individual contract to match. As evidenced in Chapter Six, there is a strong argument for lower wages in the long-day which is having a bearing on inclusion: As Phyllis (centre manager) pointed out in Chapter Six, "Whānau would have to be charged higher fees and some children might miss out because of the cost". Teachers feel a responsibility to the families they have formed relationships with and argue that this should not be the case. There are also differences in employment conditions between groups in the sector such as access to sick leave which is frequently capped at five days per annum. According to teacher blogs, social media pages, and personal communications intended for me, teachers in long day ECEC centres are disheartened which is why they are leaving the sector in large numbers.

## 7.6. Querying the sector structure

In the course of this research, I have felt overwhelmed by the confusions regarding disabled children and their whānau in the current free-market climate. Chapter Six shows evidence of teacher, owner and manager interest and willingness to include disabled children yet the marketplace currently presents the sector as an industry providing government assured yield. Additionally, the following memory demonstrates that it is not just private investors who stand to profit from the current climate.

#### **TB 7:**

Out of interest, I responded to a for-sale advertisement for an early childhood centre. The centre had a considerable flight of stairs up the front door. I asked the salesman about access for disabled children and was told: "you just say that you're full". His commission should the sale go ahead was significant.

Long day ECEC centres receive public/government funding by way of a complex triadic arrangement based on the number and ages of children present and the number of teachers available to work with the children at any point in time. To achieve the highest band of funding, the ratio of qualified to unqualified staff required is calculated at 80% qualified teachers to 20% unqualified. The minimum funding band requires 50/50 qualified to unqualified. Ratios of children-to-teachers are critical. A breach of ratio is a breach of license. There are widely used computer programmes (for example APT Business software) that manage staffing and child enrolments so that managers can see at a glance whether they are meeting ratio requirements. My next recollection is evidence of this.

#### TB 8:

I had occasion to visit a new privately owned centre where I noticed a computer screen mounted on the wall at adult height in a playroom. I asked about its

purpose and was told that teachers use it to check the ratios if they need to leave the room for any reason.

Teachers count children and examine ratios at frequent points throughout each day.

Drawing on my own experience, I am aware that either teachers or children are moved around to ensure ratios are adequate. To illustrate this point, the example below is drawn from my own experience as a centre manager.

#### TB 9:

As a newly appointed centre manager I was initiated into the intricacies of managing the ratios to ensure that the company might attract the highest level of funding while never exceeding the ratio of teachers to children required. To exceed the ratio would mean a company may pay wages unnecessarily. It was explained by the business manager that, should I find I had exceeded the ratio, I should send a teacher home (without pay if they were a casual or relief teacher).

This raises real concerns for the future of disabled children as participants in the long day sector. As the majority of services are structured in this way, it seems it would be of questionable benefit to disabled children who rely on stable staffing and environments in many cases. Furthermore, the benefits for any preschooler are currently being cast into doubt as the quality of many centres is being called into question as this information released by way of The Official Information Act (O.I.A.)

The M.O.E. downgraded more than 300 services across the country from full to provisional licenses in 2017 and 2018 after identifying problems. The 300 services that had their license downgraded in the past two years are the tip of the iceberg, they said, and problems could go undetected for years (Franks, 2019)

A recent article in the largest national newspaper (Collins, March 23, 2019) called for tougher action after 26 ECEC centres broke the regulations repeatedly, including one group of centres that lost their license, got it back, and then lost it again.

For many teachers in the sector there are no on-site working owners and much of the governance of each centre is undertaken remotely either by boards/committees (non-profit) or by large companies with diverse structures of management (e.g., forprofit). Any opportunity, or responsibility for making institutional change on the part of teachers or centre managers is relatively limited. The teachers are answerable to the managers who in turn, are responsible to either boards/committees or corporate owners. In some organisations a policy and compliance manager (or similar title) makes policy decisions which, by remote, implicate the practices of a great number of centres and even greater number of teachers. This was shown to be the case by Petunia (policy and compliance manager) in Chapter Six. Some companies employ business managers, working in a hierarchical environment in which the business manager (usually not a teacher) ranks above the qualified and experienced centre teachers. Professional development may be limited to that which is organised and provided by people within the company. Financial support (if indeed there is any) for furthering qualifications is limited to undergraduate degrees – the benchmark minimum qualification required by the company.

Such large organisational structures make it extremely difficult for the small private provider, who is more likely to include disabled children, to sustain the quality that they wish to provide. The homely, limited roll and fully qualified staff providers struggle to compete against the spread of the corporate footprint. Alexander (2019) recently asked the question: "Is it acceptable for an ECEC company to cry out for more public funds to enable it to pay teachers adequate salaries when its CEO receives \$550K per annum (The Prime Minister of New Zealand receives \$471K)?".

Adding to the predicament in the sector, The New Zealand Herald (November 2018) published a comment by the Early Childhood Council (ECC) chief executive officer (representing private owners) arguing against increasing qualified teacher percentages in the sector. The ECC asked where the extra teachers would come from at a time of shortage. Qualified teachers with positive attitudes to inclusion have been shown to be the most important resource for disabled children. These qualified teachers are leaving the sector due to stressful conditions and poor remuneration as described earlier in this chapter yet in many cases they are blamed for creating the teacher shortage that the sector is so concerned about.

Adding to this concern, reports indicate that currently in the sector teachers are being poorly paid, bullied and are stressed, and government funding does not allow for the improved ratios which would make inclusion workable. For example, Dr Sarah Alexander (formerly Farquhar), Chief Executive Officer of Child Forum, reported that a third of early childhood teachers and supervisors had been bullied over a 12-month period (2019). Alexander was drawing on one of a series of survey findings released by the National Network for Early Childhood Services and Independent Research based on a survey of 900 workers carried out in 2017. The threat of bullying makes it difficult to challenge decisions about inclusion. Alexander's results would appear to put the centre owners at fault alongside government, however, where disability and inclusion are concerned, stories of government falling behind on its responsibility are claimed repeatedly (see Chapter Six).

Conversely, the fact ECEC centres are multiplying all over the country would indicate that astute entrepreneurs are seeing a good yield on their investment. For a range of reasons, teachers are undoubtedly, yet perhaps inadvertently, active in the marketplace discourse within which ratios are kept high, diverse learners are discouraged, and businesses thrive. The work lives of early childhood teachers can

become quite restrained in that they lead exceptionally busy lives, work long hours in often over-crowded conditions, and, by regulation, are very compliance focused.

Alexander (2019) reports that not only are there problems with funding structures, staffing, pay and conditions, but also that supporting children with their care and learning needs are significant in the sector. The latest Early Childhood Sector Confidence Survey (Alexander, 2019) reported several anonymous participant responses to a question about whether the government cares.

### Teacher respondent 1:

It just feels like we are losing ground against a tide of privatisation, longer hours for whānau working, less family time, the cost of living for families and teachers. I had high hopes when the current Government was elected but since then there has been little action. The [new] Strategic Plan outlines some very positive statements but then the timelines are so far out. ECE has had no support over the term of the previous government and the privatisation agenda has damaged community based, small private owners and kindergartens

#### Teacher respondent 2:

I think the government is not focused on the real issues that face the sector. Some of the current decisions being made will actually create other detrimental impacts to our sector that have not been considered or acknowledged by government.

# Teacher respondent 3:

Everything moves slow, e.g. extra support for children with additional needs - where is it?

When asked in the same survey about what was not going well in their own services responses aligned with the findings of this study:

# Teacher respondent 4:

The owners are expanding and therefore will have less money for teacher pay rises.

# Teacher respondent 5:

Lack of investment in staff and centres.

# Teacher respondent 6:

Offering incentives to families when using our service means the income is affected, which impacts on staff wages, the ability to buy resources, and the amount available for PD.

# Teacher respondent 7:

Money and profit over quality.

# Teacher respondent 8:

Profits not going back into the centre. Staff, all qualified, being paid extremely low wages.

Prior to Alexander's Early Childhood Sector Confidence Survey (2019), Macartney (2016) noted concerns in a background paper prepared for the Child Poverty Action Group (CPAG).

Well qualified and supported early childhood teachers have the knowledge and skills required to understand and meet the needs of diverse learners and their

families, including disabled or labelled children. However, with increasing, and now almost total privatisation of ECEC provision, the conflict between making a profit through limiting costs and providing the best structural conditions and support for quality education is a serious barrier and concern. Children, in particular children and families who are identified has having 'additional needs', are easily viewed as a drain on resources, time and income (p. 2).

Currently, the Child Poverty Action Group (CPAG) is now calling for nationalisation of the sector based on reports of providers prioritising profit over quality of service (Neuwelt-Kearns & Ritchie, 2020).

# 7.7. Chapter summary

This chapter has drawn on my own experiences in the sector over time. It shows how my personal perspectives have shifted as I recognised how I was positioning myself and had been positioned within discourses surrounding disability and inclusion; it has followed my subject position to the present. I have drawn also on Jackson and Mazzei's (2008) contention that autoethnographic-style writing, such as the reflexive commentary used in this chapter, is in keeping with Foucault's (1988) description of 'curiosity'. Hence, I have used my own recollections as a means to illustrate my concerns about the changes in the sector as I interpreted them both in the past and currently. Consequently, this chapter has also provided an overview of the predicament that ECEC finds itself in and how this has come to be from my own and others' perspectives.

In this chapter, I did not intend to illustrate neoliberalism as purely concerned with free market capitalism, but rather to expose examples of the capillary discourses that are playing out in the sector currently as a result of neoliberalism's reach. As this chapter points out, based on examples from my own experience over three decades as a teacher, owner and manager, neoliberalism, contrary to the freedom it espouses, is trending towards authoritarianism in the sector. Control of teachers has produced a

way of working that has become both a compliance burden to teachers themselves, and a contradiction to the documents that guide their practice. The chapter has explained the notion of quality as being regulatory in nature (Fenech, 2011) and thus creating an environment in which Foucault's (1979) use of Bentham's panopticon as a metaphor fits tidily. By explanation, the panopticon is a disciplinary concept in the form of a central observation tower placed within a circle of prison cells. From the tower, a guard can see every cell and inmate, but the inmates are unable to see into the tower. Hence the prisoners discipline themselves. Given that Foucault (1979) argued that social control comes into being through discourses, and that discourses come with their own sets of permissions, it seems likely that self-surveillance is a contributing factor in the predicament that ECEC finds itself in. This could be partly attributed to perceptions of risk, which Page (2016) argues about teaching generally, is the primary driver.

With the ever-increasing strengthening of neoliberalism in the last 15 years, marketisation and competition have become ever more intense in the school system producing ever more intense concerns with risk and ever more stringent mechanisms of judgement (Page, 2016, p. 4)

Risk and safety were shown in Chapter Five to be a barrier to acceptance into ECEC for disabled children. This risk is not merely physical although as earlier mentioned (Chapter 6), physical risk appears to take precedence. Risk is also manifesting by way of anxiety in the parents of typically developing children; anxiety that continues to impinge on teacher practices in ECEC as owners and managers attempt to meet the demands of the market. For the owner or manager this can translate into an expectation of teacher practices that increase teacher accountability in areas that they have not studied (such as formal preparation for schooling) and that are also considered by many teachers to be unsuitable for preschoolers, whether they are disabled or typically developing.

Economic anxiety blends with parental anxiety about the future for our children: without a good primary school they won't get into a good secondary

school; without the right school qualifications they won't get into a highly ranked university; without the right higher education credentials they won't get into the top professions; without joining the top professions they won't be economically secure (Page, 2016, p. 3)

Alongside the influence of developmentalism in the sector, such formalising of learning, and conflicting teacher accountabilities is creating barriers for disabled children that have been outlined in Chapter Six. As this chapter has shown, while the long day ECEC sector continues to be organised by neoliberal principles the intent of the legislation for inclusion of disabled children will likely flounder.

# CHAPTER EIGHT: FINAL DISCUSSION

This study has questioned how policies and practices in the long-day ECEC sector are being influenced by discourses that position disabled children in ways that contradict the intent of the legislation for inclusion in Aotearoa New Zealand. The research questions centred around a key problem; the potentially *othered* subject positions of disabled children and the subtleties of how this positioning has come about despite legislative intent to the contrary. At the end of this chapter there are policy recommendations both for teachers, owners and managers, and for Government. This chapter is presented in discrete sections following the three research questions. These sections are followed by a discussion section in which the nuanced and perplexing relationships between discourses are examined, explained, and discussed.

To respond to the research questions, the study began with an examination of Aotearoa New Zealand's legislation intending provision for the rights of disabled children in everyday settings. Chapter One, the introduction, provided an overview of this legislation and Aotearoa New Zealand's ECE curriculum document, Te Whāriki, The Human Rights Act (1993), United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, 1989), The New Zealand Disability Strategy (Ministry of Health, 2001) and The Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2006). The study explored the development of this legislation and policy against the backdrop of neoliberalism, the overarching economic policy environment in which the legislation for inclusion was expected to play out. As Fenech and Sumsion (2007) explain, power is fluid and multi-directional, local and unstable: "In recognising that power is exercised at multiple local sites, a myriad of ways in which power may be affected and experienced through the chain of relations becomes possible" (p. 111). Understanding the aim of the neoliberal position as reducing the state's financial burden, allowing it to withdraw from direct responsibility and promoting policies that encourage individuals to take responsibility for their own economic wellbeing led me to seek the

contradictions and tensions between the social justice focus of the legislation and the structuring of the ECEC sector as a market model within which consumer choice is key. The notion of choice holds authority in the neoliberal marketplace, yet the literature examined in Chapter Three raised serious concern about whether whānau of disabled children can exercise this choice on the part of their child. It is as Macartney (2016) argues.

With increasing, and now almost total privatisation of ECEC provision, the conflict between making a profit through limiting costs and providing the best structural conditions and support for quality education is a serious barrier and concern. Children, in particular children and families who are identified has having 'additional needs', are easily viewed as a drain on resources, time and income (p. 2)

Following up on this concern, using wide ranging seminal and current literature, understandings about disability and inclusion were tracked through curriculum and related policies. This culminated in an investigation of the current organisational structure of long day ECEC which was examined in Chapter Seven. This background research found that there are significant rifts in the relationship between legislation, the important literature proposing inclusion as beneficial to young disabled children, and the neoliberal organisation of the sector.

The theoretical framework (Chapter Two) explains how the work of Michel Foucault was used in this study to uncover the subtleties of interactions between discourses that assisted in identifying the discursive sources of this rift between legislation and practice for disabled children. As Foucault (1977) claimed,

Discursive practices are not purely and simply ways of producing discourse.

They are embodied in technical processes, in institutions, in patterns for general

behaviour, in forms of transmission and diffusion, and pedagogical forms which at once, impose and maintain them (p. 200)

The findings chapters (Chapters Five and Six) offered evidence of patterns of general behaviour towards disabled children and their whānau that were indicative of collective discursive practices in the sector that were othering disabled children. These practices were traced through named discourses, further evidence of which has been illustrated in the reflexive commentary of Chapter Seven. Hence, Chapter Seven provides a backdrop for understanding the current complexities and tensions, the predicament, that teachers, owners and managers are engaging with (see 7.3).

A discursive trend, referred to in the study as *enlightened ableism*, was put forward whereby teachers, owners and managers speak positively to whānau about the sector's commitment to inclusion yet claim barriers in their own centre that prevent inclusion taking place.

# 8.1. What is this thesis saying about the possibilities for inclusion in the long day ECEC sector?

In this study the whānau participants put forward significant concerns about the possibility of gaining access to suitable and welcoming early childhood education for their disabled children. They raised concerns and provided examples of being denied access by a range of means. These *means* whānau spoke of indicated that there are subtle workings of several discourses operating together. There were obvious discursive signposts in the data such as the use of biomedical descriptors explaining disabled children which could be traced back to a dominant marketplace discourse whereby economic viability took precedence over inclusion. The biomedical discourse predominated, on occasion pragmatically and at other times, by way of capillary discourses (e.g., safety and risk).

Despite legislation, policy and curriculum intending inclusion, the study found that, rather than teachers, owners and managers understanding and acting on their legislated responsibility for including disabled children, biomedical discourse continues to be a powerful contributor to the view that disabled children are problematic and subsequently expensive to include. As Nancy (owner) commented: "We had one little girl who was so severely physically disabled that for her to be in our care wasn't appropriate but that came through with our consultation with the whānau".

The problem that the biomedical discourse is creating in the sector is that it can be rationalised by neoliberal economics. Where economic viability or profit is prioritised over inclusion, a rift appears between the legislated rights of the disabled child and the long day ECEC sector as a site for inclusion. The child is seen as expensive to include and further misaligned with neoliberal ideals for a future of independence, agency and contribution to society. Understanding of this rift has worked its way into whānau perceptions of the sector as being mainly non-inclusive. Rebecca (parent) summed this up in her comment, "I would actually be horrified at the thought of cold calling to enrol him because I couldn't bear for him to be rejected". Several of the whānau participants viewed this as attributable to an entrenched biomedical view of disability in the sector. As Vicky (parent) stated; "the health (biomedical) model is a dangerous one because you categorise them (the children) as having something wrong." However, the study shows that, while teachers may feel nervous about their ability to cope with disabled children, this is not simply attributable to fear of difference presented as deficit by biomedicine.

Developmental theory, particularly as it is applied to structuring ECEC centres by age group (e.g., Gunn, 2019), was shown as a significant deterrent for whānau in this study (see Chapter 5). All the ECEC centres involved or implicated by association (see Chapter 4.4) in this research were divided and funded by age group. Several of the teaching participants were working in centres designed and built to cater to stereotypical thinking about child development as a linear trajectory. Furthermore, where the company's architectural design was a part of the *brand* of the company, the

brand speaks to whānau of disabled children that the centre is developmentally and economically focused. As Rebecca, mother of Campbell, stressed, "Dividing up the centre into specific age groups has led to an expectation that at certain ages children will behave in certain ways and therefore a child who doesn't behave in those ways is not always welcome in that room".

# 8.2. How is this transpiring in terms of policies and practices?

The earlier mentioned discursive trend, enlightened ableism, is put forward in this study as a way of shedding light on how the legislation is being acted on in ways that influence the positioning of disabled children. As Lyons (2013) explained, the rhetoric of enlightened ableism is providing for the continuation of practices that position disabled children as other. The study shows evidence of citing safety concerns as a means of encouraging whānau to be complicit in the decision not to enrol their child. One whānau participant, Rebecca, explained that ECEC centres emphasise their fear, which is not necessarily a risk, "They will put that fear on to the parents and that is why the parents won't send them. If you can't keep him safe, then I can't leave him". Safety discourse positions the disabled child as needy and requiring specific care and attention which draws on biomedical discourse for justification.

Throughout the findings (Chapters Five and Six) participants cited access to lack of funding and resources as a key reason for inclusion being problematic. This study was not concerned with statistics about specific to disability funding entitlements or problems with delays in assessment as this issue has been cited over many years by respected researchers (e.g., Foster-Cohen & van Bysterveldt, 2016; Macartney, 2016 Purdue, 2009) and it has been shown to be the case in this study also. However, as a consequence of contestable funding, disabled children continued to be positioned in this study as a drain on resources, time and income. Government blaming has featured strongly in both of Chapters Five and Six, yet nothing was mentioned about any fiscal responsibility on the part of private owners/companies. Given the neoliberal economic platform on which ECEC resides, in this study, limited access to funding for support was

also read as capillary to biomedical discourse in which disabled children are understood by way of deficit. Citing government funding shortfalls is a convenient way of managing this very real tension. To this point, Slee (2011) noted that lack of resourcing for disability is used as a defence for segregation or refusing enrolment. The repeated construction of disabled children as an expensive problem has permeated much of this study. This has manifested in whānau beliefs that the sector will not want them.

#### 8.3. Kei hea ahau inājanai? Where am I now?

This section responds to the title of the thesis which asked: What subject positions are available to the disabled child within the discourses operating in the ECEC sector currently? This study has shown evidence that there are limited subject positions available to disabled children in the long day, largely privatised, ECEC sector. By way of dominant discourses such as biomedicine and neoliberalism, and capillary discourses (e.g., safety and risk), the disabled child has largely been positioned as belonging elsewhere. This is largely attributable to neoliberal marketplace structure which has become entrenched in the structures of the sector. Baltdana (2012) explained that at its core, neoliberalism focuses on standardisation and accountability with quality best ensured by top down regulations and compliance monitoring. For teachers, this is manifesting in responsibilities for managing ratios, working to minimum staffing levels, managing large groups and accounting for the minutiae of incidental detail as Chapter Seven describes. Teachers' lives are complex, stressful and constrained. Additionally, given the role of nurturing and promoting the company by ensuring the centre remains viable and attractive to consumers, it is not surprising that this study finds teachers, owners and managers citing reasons why the legislation for inclusion may not be adhered to.

In this study, discourses of human rights and social justice, embedded in the legislation and curriculum governing the sector's responsibilities for inclusion, have provided the language to speak of inclusion but to act on it is shown as highly

problematic. The Foucauldian tools, combined with reflexive commentary employed in this study, have illuminated the ways in which an interaction of discourses have created this predicament both for the sector, and for disabled children. The predicament is shown to be discursive in origin. Underfunding for disability is just one small characteristic of neoliberal governance which, while alleging to provide quality and opportunity, is intimately tied to governing the individual's way of living.

#### 8.4. Limitations and future directions

I offer a strong caveat at this point: some of the discussion may seem to portray teachers, owners and managers in a negative light. This is not my intention. Throughout the study participants seemed to be open, honest, and willing to share experiences, reflections and, in some cases, ideas about moving forward towards inclusion. Rather, the study has engaged with the nuance of allied discourses whereby the disabled child's subject position within a discourse is reaffirmed or disrupted by another discourse, thus contriving to present a view that appears palatable but does not progress inclusion as either a cause or a practicality.

There are limitations in the approaches I have used to bring forth the data that form the basis for this study. Interviewing involves decisions and interactions on the part of the researcher as does the 'reading' of the text. While I have made every effort to ensure I was not attempting to bring forward discourses that I was interested in, my presence for the purpose of the study brought with it an element of power in the situation. While poststructural methodology is not viewed as a limitation in this thesis, its challenges are acknowledged. Humes and Bryce (2003) suggest that the search for meaning and clarity can be seen as illusory in research of this nature – there will always be other perspectives. Foucault (1972) maintains that 'everything' is never said, and the task is to determine why it is that certain statement emerged to the exclusion of others. While this study design could be repeated by another, it is unlikely that the data would be interpreted in the same way.

The study was designed to provide for a measure of contextualisation across the sector. By drawing teachers from both community and for-profit centres, and likewise,

managers and owners from different but similarly structured centres the study findings can be viewed as contributing to assumptions that disabled children are discursively positioned outside the long day ECEC sector. There are undoubtedly centres who are finding ways to negotiate the tensions for inclusion however they did not emerge in this study.

# 8.5. Implications and suggestions

As earlier claimed, the study has put forward evidence of a rift between the legislation for inclusion and the neoliberal structure of the long day ECEC sector as it stands currently. Disabled children and their whānau are experiencing constrained access to appropriate and welcoming early childhood education services which cannot, in many cases be held entirely accountable for their inability to act inclusively. Chapter Seven contains evidence of a widespread predicament in the sector, which seems attributable to investor entrepreneurialism, the ways in which the sector is funded overall, and as capillary, the contestable funding for disabled children. Discourses of developmentalism and biomedicine, coupled with the human rights rhetoric of the legislation have contrived to provide ways of mitigating this predicament by excluding disabled children. To address this rift, and to position disabled children as aligning with the intent of the legislation, this study concludes with suggestions for restructuring the sector.

# 8.6. Suggestions for Aotearoa New Zealand's leaders

Firstly, to the government, this study recommends requiring that all taxpayer funding to the sector is accounted for according to guidelines specifically intended to ensure that such monies cannot be used to increase investor yield. Building additional centres which are privately owned should be paid for with private capital. The use of taxpayer funds should be made transparent and placed in the public arena for scrutiny. Paying low wages and relying on unqualified staff, as this study has shown, is not conducive to authentic inclusion. As Neuwelt-Kearns and Ritchie (2020) argue, "Private for-profit providers are less likely to provide quality services across a range of indicators, including staff qualifications, workloads and retention, teacher-to-child ratios, and

cultural responsiveness," (paragraph 4).

Secondly, funding for support for disabled children in regular ECEC settings should not be contestable. A child should receive equitable support as it is required and in a timely manner in order that they may participate as the legislation intends. Children do not acquire disability according to a budget. Poor funding responses, long delays in assessment by specialist services, and limited support hours is inappropriate and breaches Aotearoa New Zealand's commitment to *The United Nations Convention of the Rights of the Child* (U.N.C.R.O.C.) (1993): Article 23 states that disabled child should enjoy the best possible life in society and Governments should remove all obstacles for disabled children to become independent and to participate actively in the community. Furthermore, *The Human Rights Act* (1989) deems it illegal to discriminate on grounds of disability, yet this study shows such discrimination is common in the ECEC sector.

The third suggestion is regarding teacher remuneration. Teachers' salaries in long day ECEC need to be paid directly to the teacher by the Ministry of Education (M.O.E.) in the same ways as their teaching counterparts in kindergartens, and on the same incremental pay scale. Centres may receive an operations budget, formulated in the same way as the compulsory sectors do. The current funding model leaves total responsibility for how the taxpayer funding is spent in the hands of a largely privatised sector and, as this study shows, this model is contributing to the positioning of disabled children outside the sector. Funding teacher salaries direct from M.O.E. to teacher removes any likelihood that the private sector can keep wages low to remain viable or to increase company profitability. Paying low wages and relying on unqualified staff is, as this study has shown, is not conducive to inclusion. As the literature indicates, qualified and experienced teachers are more likely to be of benefit to disabled children (e.g., Grace et al. 2008; Macartney, 2019; MacArthur & Morton, 1999; Mohay & Reid, 2006; Purdue, 2009) and to achieve these benefits for disabled children, teachers need to be well remunerated. Additionally, the suggestion of direct paid salaries may remove the instances of bullying and frustration in the sector because the incentive to keep wages low, provide minimal sick leave and restricted professional development opportunities by arguing limited funds would be removed.

# 8.7. A wero (challenge) for the sector

It is timely to revisit our image of the child. Discourses of biomedicine, as this study has shown, reinforce an image of the disabled child as needy and dependent. Positioning children in this way creates a further disjuncture between the disabled child and Te Whāriki which promotes an image of "competent and confident learners and communicators, healthy in mind, body and spirit, secure in their sense of belonging and in the knowledge that they make a valued contribution to society (M.O.E., p. 5). Te Whāriki also holds the promise that all children will be empowered to learn with and alongside others, and that barriers to inclusion will be removed. This study shows that the sector is breaking this promise and it is timely to make restoration. Macartney (2011) reminds us that with our privilege comes responsibility and obligation to expose ourselves to, and learn from, different ways of understanding, knowing about and engaging with disabled children and their whānau. The practices towards disabled children evidenced in this study are in many cases unethical. Teachers, owners, and managers are well placed to resist unethical practices, to disrupt discourses that position disabled children outside of the regular setting, and to communicate their professional obligations without caveat.

# 8.8. Concluding remarks

To accept that there is no alternative to the status quo is to accept that privilege is to be expected alongside marginalisation. This was not shown to be the case in this study: disabled children were positioned as valued alongside being problematic. Rather the study has shown that teachers, owners, and managers are both influencing and being influenced by neoliberal discourse and its capillaries. The resulting practices are preventing a revisioning of the sector as a place for all children. Foucault (1992) argued that the subject needs to be inserted in between power and knowledge. The subject here is the disabled child, the power is neoliberal economics, which has changed the kaupapa (discussion/agenda/practices) in the sector, and the

knowledge which is being constructed by way of a series of accountability regimes in the name of quality. If we are to live inclusively, we must begin by challenging the discourses which perpetuate structures and systems preventing some of us from joining in, from being respected, from being a part of our own communities, from being positioned on the 'inside'. This study has put forward strong evidence that, as a sector, we have to reconsider our practices and their underlying structures before whānau of disabled young children feel assured that their child will be welcome to learn, play and be cared for alongside their able peers in the sector. Denying access must no longer be an option.

# Me mahi tahi tātou Mo te oranga o te katoa We should work together for the wellbeing of everyone

# REFERENCES

- Alexander, S. (2019). How much funding is too much to go on management salaries and profit instead of on children and teacher salaries? Retrieved from:

  <a href="https://www.childforum.com/reports/1719-early-childhood-sector-confidence-survey-results-2019.html#ixzz5tiNBFNRB">https://www.childforum.com/reports/1719-early-childhood-sector-confidence-survey-results-2019.html#ixzz5tiNBFNRB</a>
- Angermuller, J. (2018). Accumulating discursive capital, valuating subject positions. From Marx to Foucault. *Critical Discourse Studies*, *5*(4), 414-425.
- Armstrong, F., Belmont, B., & Verillon, A. (2000). 'Vive la difference' exploring content, context and policy change in special education in France: Developing cross-cultural collaboration. In F. Armstrong, D. Armstrong & L. Barton (Eds.), *Inclusive education and policy, contexts and comparative perspectives.* pp. 42-60. London: David Fulton.
- Atkinson, P. (1997). Narrative turn or blind alley? *Qualitative Health Research*, 7, 325–344.
- Attride-Stirling, J. (2001). Thematic networks: An analytic tool for qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 1(3), 385-405.
- Ball, S. (2013). Foucault, Power and Education. New York, N.Y.: Routledge.
- Ballard, K. (1999). International voices: An introduction. In K. Ballard (Ed.), *Inclusive* education: International voices on disability and justice, (pp. 1-9). London: Falmer.
- Ballard, K. (2004). Learners and outcomes: Where did all the children go? *New Zealand Journal of Teachers' Work,* 1(2), 95-103.

- Ballard, K. (2013). Thinking in other ways: Ideas for sustainable inclusion. *International* http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2011.602527
- Baltodano, O., (2012). Neoliberalism and the demise of public education: The corporatisation of schools of education. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 25, 1487-1507.
- Barton, L. (1998). Markets, managerialism and inclusive education. As cited in P. Clough, (Ed. pp, 78-91), *Managing inclusive education: From policy to experience*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Paul Chapman.
- Bevan-Brown, J. (2006). Beyond policy and good intentions. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 10 (2-3), 221-234.
- Bird, L. (2003). Seen and heard? Moving beyond discourses about children's needs and rights in educational policies. *New Zealand Journal of Educational Studies*, *38*(1), 37-48.
- Bird, C. (2005). How I stopped dreading and learned to love transcription. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 11(2), 226-248.
- Bogart, K. & Dunn, D. (2019). Ableism Special Issue introduction. *Journal of Social Issues*, 75(3), 650-664.
- Boston, J., & Callister, P. (2005). Diversity and public policy. *Policy Quarterly*, 1(4), 34-43.
- Boyzatis, R. (1998) *Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development*. Thousand Oaks, C.A.: Sage Publications.

- Brantlinger, E. (2006). The big glossies: How textbooks structure (special) education. In E. Brantlinger (Ed., pp. 45-75.), Who benefits from special education?

  Remediating (fixing) other people's children. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative* research in psychology. 3, 77-101.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development*. USA: Harvard University Press.
- Brown, J. (2013). Recurrent grief in mothering a child with intellectual disability to adulthood: grieving is the healing. *Child & Family Social Work.* 21(1), 113-122.
- Bruce, T. & Wensing, E. (2012). The Olympics and indigenous peoples: Australia. In H.Lenskyj & S. Wagg (Eds., pp. 487–504). *The Palgrave handbook of Olympic Studies*. Basingstoke: Palgrave, McMillan.
- Buckler, S. & Dolowitz, D. (2014). Can fair be efficient? New Labour, social liberalism and British economic policy. *New Political Economy*. *9*(1), 23-38.
- Canella, G. (2000). *Deconstructing early childhood education. Social justice and revolution*. New York: Peter Lang Publishing.
- Carr, M., May, H. & Podmore, V. 2001. 'The child's questions': Programme evaluation with Te Whāriki using 'teaching stories'. Wellington: Institute for Early Childhood Studies, Victoria University of Wellington.
- Carroll-Lind, J., & Cullen, J. (2001, December). The impact of special education policy change on practice: How does the policy affect the sector? Paper presented at the Australian association for research in education conference, Fremantle, Australia. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.aare.edu.au/01pap/car01119.htm">http://www.aare.edu.au/01pap/car01119.htm</a>

- Cassidy, D. J., Hestenes, L., Hegde, A., Hestenes, S., & Mims, S. (2005). Measurement of quality in preschool childcare classrooms: An exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis of the early childhood environment rating scale revised. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 20, 345–360.
- Chan, A. (2017). Transnational parenting practices of Chinese immigrant families in New Zealand. In 69th OMEP World Assembly and International Conference.

  Opatija, Croatia. https://researchspace.auckland.ac.nz/handle/2292/36182
- Chang, H. (2008). Autoethnography as method. Walnut Creek, C.A.: Left Coast Press.
- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (1994). Personal experience methods. Cited in N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds., pp. 413-427), *Handbook of qualitative research*.

  Thousand Oaks, C.A.: Sage.
- Clough, P. (2001). Exclusive tendencies: Concepts, consciousness and curriculum in the project of inclusion. Cited in M. Nind, J. Rix, K. Sheehy & K. Simmons (Eds., pp. 28-44), *Curriculum and pedagogy in inclusive education: Values into practice*, London: Routledge Falmer.
- Colby A, & Damon W. (1995). *The development of extraordinary moral commitment in Morality in Everyday Life.* Cited in M. Killen & D. Hart (Eds., pp. 342-370).

  Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Connor, D., Gabel, S., Gallagher, D., & Morton, M. (2008). Disability Studies and inclusive education implications for theory, research and practice.

  International Journal of Inclusive Education, 12(5), 441-457.
- Copple, C., & Bredekamp, S. (2009). *Developmentally appropriate practice in early childhood programs*. Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Corbett, J. (1996). Bad mouthing: The language of special needs. London: Falmer Press.

- Corbett, J., & Slee, R. (2000). An international conversation on inclusive education. In D. Armstrong. (Ed.,). *Inclusive education: Policy, contexts and comparative perspectives,* pp. 133-146. London: David Fulton.
- Cresswell, J. (2003). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods* approaches. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed., pp. 179-207). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cribb, A. & Ball. S. (2005). Towards an ethical audit of the privatisation of Education.

  British journal of educational studies. 53(2), 115-128.
- Cunningham, N., & Carmichael, T. (2018). Finding My Intuitive Researcher's Voice

  Through Reflexivity: An Autoethnographic Study. *The Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 16(2), 56-66.
- Dahlberg, G., & Moss, P. (2008). Beyond quality in early childhood education and care:

  Languages of evaluation. New Zealand Journal of Teachers' Work, 5(1).

  Retrieved from

  http://www.teacherswork.ac.nz/journal/volume5\_issue1/moss.pdf.
- Dalli, C. (1999). *Creating environments which promote mental health*. Seminar preceding the launch of: Better times: Contributing to the mental health of children and young people at Parliament buildings, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Daly, J., Kellehear, A. & Gliksman, M. (1997). *The public health researcher: A methodological approach.* Melbourne, Australia: Oxford University Press.
- Davies, B. & Bansel, P. (2007) Neoliberalism and education. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 20:3, 247-259, DOI: 10.1080/09518390701281751 T
- Davies, B., & Gannon, S. (2006). *Doing collective biography*. Berkshire, UK: Open University Press/McGraw-Hill.

- Davis, R. (2007). Whose education is it anyway? Why it is important that teachers understand and question the broader contexts shaping the curriculum. *New Zealand Journal of Teachers' Work, 4*(1), 32-38.
- de Boer, A., & Munde, V. S. (2015). Parental attitudes toward the inclusion of children with profound intellectual and multiple disabilities in general primary education in the Netherlands. *The Journal of Special Education*, 49, 179–187.
- de Geeter, K., Poppes, P., & C. Vlaskamp. (2002). Whānau as experts: the position of whānau of children with profound multiple disabilities. Department of Special Education, University of Groningen, Groningen: The Netherlands.
- Denzin, N. (2003). *Performance ethnography. Critical pedagogy and the politics of culture.* C.A.: Sage.
- Denzin, N. and Lincoln, Y. (2011). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research.* N. Denzin and Y. Lincoln (Eds.,4<sup>th</sup> Edition). Thousand Oaks, C.A.: Sage Publications.
- Dreyfus, H. & Rabinow, P. (1983). *Beyond Structuralism and Hermeneutics*. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Duhn, I. (2006). The making of global citizens: Traces of cosmopolitanism in the New Zealand early childhood curriculum, Te Whāriki. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*. 7 (3), 191-202.
- Duhn, I. & Greishaber, S. (2016). Imagining otherwise: A (brief) Darwinian encounter with quality standards. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood.* 17(1), 54-64.

- Child Forum. (2019). *Early Childhood Sector Confidence Survey*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.childforum.com/reports/1719-early-childhood-sector-confidence-survey-results-2019.html">https://www.childforum.com/reports/1719-early-childhood-sector-confidence-survey-results-2019.html</a>
- Education Counts. (2012). Participation in Early Childhood Education: Evidence Booklet.

  Retrieved from

  https://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/publications/ECE/participation-in-early-childhood-education-evidence-booklet
- Ellis, C. (2004). *The ethnographic I: A methodological novel about autoethnography*. Walnut Creek, CA: Alta Mira Press.
- Ellis, C., Adams, T. E., & Bochner, A. P. (2011). Autoethnography: an overview.

  Historical Social Research, 36(4), 273-290.

  https://doi.org/10.12759/hsr.36.2011.4.273-290
- Essa, E., Bennett, P., Burnham, M., Martin, S., Bingham, A., & Allred, K. (2008). Do variables associated with quality childcare programs predict the inclusion of children with disabilities? *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 28(3), 171-180.
- Evans, J. (2004). Making a difference? Education and 'ability' in physical education. European Journal of Physical Education, 10, 95–108.
- Fadyl, J., Nicholls, D. & McPherson, K. (2012). Interrogating discourse: The application of Foucault's methodological discussion to specific inquiry. *Health*, 17(5), 478-494.
- Farquhar, Sandra. (2008). *Narrative identity: Ricoeur and early childhood education*.

  Unpublished doctoral thesis. New Zealand: University of Auckland.
- Farquhar, Sarah. (June 18, 2009). Early childhood teacher shortage could affect 10,000 children. *New Zealand Herald*. Retrieved from https://www.nzherald.co.nz/nz/news/article.cfm?c id=1&objectid=10578915

- Fasting, R. (2013) Adapted education: The Norwegian pathway to inclusive and efficient education. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 17(3), 263-276.
- Fenech, M. (2011). An analysis of the conceptualization of quality in early childhood education and care empirical research: Promoting blindspots as foci for future research. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*. *12*(2), 102-117.
- Fenech, M. & Sumsion, J. (2007). Early childhood teachers and regulations: complicating power relations using a Foucauldian lens. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, 8(2), 109-122.
- Ferguson, R. (1990). Introduction: Invisible centre. In R. Ferguson and M. Gever. (Eds.).

  Out there: Marginalization and contemporary cultures, M.I.T. Press, (4), 9-14.
- Fischer, R. (2009). Foucault's challenges to critical theory in education. Cited in M. Apple, W. Au & L. Gandin (Eds.,). *The Routledge International Handbook of Critical Education.* pp. 204-209, New York: Routledge.
- Foucault, M. (1965). Madness and Civilization: A History of Insanity in the Age of Reason. (trans. R. Howard). London: Tavistock.
- Foucault M. (1969). *The Archeology of Knowledge.* (A.M. Sheridan Smith, trans.) London, U.K.: Routledge.
- Foucault, M. (1972). The archaeology of knowledge. USA: Vintage Books.
- Foucault, M. (1973). The birth of the clinic. London: Tavistock.
- Foucault, M. (1977). Truth and Power. In C. Gordon. (ed.). *Power and knowledge:*Selected interviews and other writings 1972-1977, pp.109-133. Sussex: The Harvester Press.
- Foucault, M. (1977a). Discipline and Punish. (trans. A Sheridan). New York: Pantheon.

Foucault, M. (1978). The History of Sexuality. New York: Pantheon.

Foucault, M. (1979). *Discipline and Punish*. Harmondsworth: Peregrine.

- Foucault, M. (1980). Questions of method. In J.D. Faubion (Ed.), *Michel Foucault: Power.* New York: Rabinow Press, 223-238.
- Foucault, M. (1980). Truth & power. In C. Gordon (Ed.), *Michel Foucault power knowledge:*Selected interviews and other writings (pp. 109-133). Sussex, England: The

  Harvester Press Limited.
- Foucault, M. (1980). *Power/Knowledge: Selected interviews and other writings 1972-77.* Brighton: Harvester Press.
- Foucault, M. (1981). Questions of method. An interview with Michel Foucault (trans. C. Gordon). *Ideology and Consciousness*. (8), 3-14.
- Foucault, M. (1982). The subject and power: afterward to H. Dreyfus and P. Rabinow. *Michel Foucault; beyond structuralism and hermeneutics*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago.
- Foucault, M. (1984). The care of the self: The history of sexuality. London: Penguin.
- Foucault, M. 1997. "Polemics, Politics and Problematizations." *Michel Foucault. Ethics, Subjectivity and Truth*, Cited in P. Rabinow (Ed.) Vol.1, pp. 111–119. New York: The New Press.
- Foucault, M. (2004). *Security, Territory, Population. Lectures at the College De France.*Basingstoke: Macmillan.
- Foucault, M. (2003). The birth of the clinic. London: Routledge.

- Foucault, M. (2003). Society Must Be Defended. London: Penguin Allen Lane.
- Fulcher, G. (1999). *Disabling policies? A comparative approach to education policy and disability* (2nd ed.). Sheffield, England: Falmer Press.
- Furedi, F. (2005). The culture of fear. London: Continuum.
- Gabel, S. (2005). Introduction: Disability studies in education. In S. Gabel (Ed.),

  Disability studies in education: Readings in theory and method (pp. 1-20). New

  York, NY: Peter Lang.
- Gallagher, M. (2008). Foucault, power and participation. *International journal of children's rights*, 16, 395-406.
- Gannon, S. (2006). The(im)possibilities of the writing the self-writing: French poststructural theory and autoethnography. *Cultural Studies<>Critical Methodologies*, 6(4), 474-495. DOI: 10.1177/1532708605285734
- Geertz, C. (1973). *The interpretation of cultures: Selected essays.* New York: Basic Books.
- Giangreco, M., Dennis, R., Cloninger, C., Edelman, S., & Shattman, R. (1993). 'I've counted Jon': Transformational experiences of teachers educating students with disabilities. *Exceptional Children*, *59*, 359-372.
- Goodfellow, J. (2005). Market childcare: Preliminary considerations of a 'property view' of the child. *Contemporary issues in early childhood, 6*(1), 54-65.
- Goodfellow, J. (2007). Childcare provision: Whose responsibility? Who pays? In E. Hill, B. Pocock & A. Elliot (Eds.), *Kids count: Better early childhood care in Australia*, pp. 245-271. Sydney: Sydney University Press.
- Goodley, D. (2007). Towards socially just pedagogies: Deleuzoguattarian critical disability studies. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 11(3), 317-334.

- Grace, R., Llewellyn, G., Wedgwood, N., Fenech, M., & McConnell, D. (2008). Far from ideal: Everyday experiences of mothers and early childhood professionals negotiating an inclusive early childhood experience in the Australian context.

  \*Topics for Early Childhood Special Education, 28(1),18-30.
- Graham, L. (2005). *Discourse analysis and the critical use of Foucault*. Paper presented at Annual Conference of Australian Association for Research in Education.

  Sydney, 27<sup>th</sup> November 1<sup>st</sup> December.
- Graham, L. (2007). (Re)Visioning the centre: Education reform and the 'ideal' citizen of the future. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *39*(2), 197-215.
- Graham, L., & Slee, R. (2008). An illusory interiority: Interrogating the discourse/s of inclusion. *Educational Philosophy and Theory, 40*(2), 277-293.
- Gray, G. (2017). Academic voice in scholarly writing. *Qualitative Report*, 22(1), 179-196.
- Guilfoyle, M. (2016). Subject Positioning: Gaps and Stability in the Therapeutic Encounter. *Journal of Constructivist Psychology*, 29(2), 123–140.
- Gunn, A. (2008). *Heteronormativity and early childhood: Social justice and some*puzzling queries. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Waikato.

  Retrieved from:

  http://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10289/2671/.
- Gunn, A., Child, C., Madden, B., Purdue, K., Surtees, N., Thurlow, B., et al. (2004).

  Building inclusive communities in early childhood education: Diverse perspectives from Aotearoa/ New Zealand. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, 5(3), 293-307.
- Gunn, A. (2019). Foucauldian discourse analysis in early childhood education. In G.

  Noblit (Ed.) *Oxford Research Encyclopaedias*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Guralnick, M. (2008). *International perspectives on early intervention: A search for common ground. Journal of Early Intervention, 30*(2), 90-101.

- Hahn, H. (1986). Disability and the urban environment: a perspective on Los Angeles. *Society and Space*, 4, 273-288.
- Harvey, D. (2005). A brief history of neoliberalism. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Harwood, V. (2000). *Truth, power and the self: A Foucauldian analysis of the truth of conduct disorder and the construction of young people's mentally disordered subjectivity.* Unpublished doctoral dissertation. University of South Australia.
- Hastings, R. P., & Oakford, S. (2003). Student teachers' attitudes towards the inclusion of children with special needs. *Educational Psychology*, 23(1), 87–94.
- Haynes, B. (2005). The paradox of the excluded child. *Educational Philosophy and Theory, 37(3), 333-341.*
- Hook, D. (2001). Discourse, knowledge, materiality, history: Foucault and discourse analysis. *Theory and psychology,* 11(4), 521-547.
- Humes, W., & Bryce, T. (2003). Post structuralism and policy research in education. *Journal of education policy*. 18(2), 175-187.
- Humpage, L. (2011). Neoliberal reform and attitudes towards social citizenship: a review of New Zealand public opinion data 1987-2005. *Social policy journal of New Zealand*, 37, 1-14.
- Jackson, A. & Mazzei, L. (2008). Experience and 'l' in autoethnography. A deconstruction. *International review of qualitative research.* 1(3), 299-318.
- Jäger, S. & Meyer, M. (2009). Theoretical and methodological aspects of Foucauldian critical discourse analysis. In R. Wodak and M. Meyer. (Eds. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition).

  Methods of critical discourse analysis, pp. 34-61. Sage: London,
- Jarvis, K. & Sandretto, S. (2010). The power of discursive practices: Queering or heteronormalizing? *NZ research in ECE Journal.* 13, 43-56.

- Jhally, S. & Lewis, J. (1992). Enlightened racism: The Cosby show, audiences and the myth of the American dream. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Johnston, J. (2014). Resistance is not futile: Foucault and a brave new world of medical education research. *Medical Education*, 48(6), 554-555.
- Jones, S. (1985). 'Depth interviewing'. In R. Walker (Ed.). *Applied qualitative research*.

  Aldershot: Gower, 45-55.
- Kane, N. (2016). The Play-Learning Binary: U.S. Parents' Perceptions on Preschool Play in a Neoliberal Age. *Children & Society* 30(4): 290–301. doi:10.1111/chso.12140
- Kaufman, J. (2005) Autotheory: An autoethnographic reading of Foucault. *Qualitative Inquiry,* 11 (4) 576-587 DOI: 10.1177/1077800405276767
- Kaščák & Pupala. (2013). Buttoning up the gold collar The child in neoliberal visions of early education and care. *Human Issues*. 23(2). https://doi.org/10.2478/s13374-013-0130-8
- Kearney, A., & Kane, R. (2006). Inclusive education policy in New Zealand: Reality or ruse? *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *10*(2-3), 201-219.
- Kesting, S., & Fargher, S. (2008). The effect of early childhood education and care (ECE) costs on the labour force participation of whānau in New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Employment Relations*, 33(3), 16-33.
- Kilderry, A. (2006). Early childhood education and care as a community service or big business? *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood, 7*(1), 80-83.
- King D. & Meagher, G. (2009). (Eds.) *Paid care in Australia. Politics, profits, practices.*Australia: Sydney University Press.
- Kiuppis, F. (2014) Why (not) associate the principle of inclusion with disability? Tracing connections from the start of the 'Salamanca Process', International Journal of Inclusive Education, 18:7, 746-761. DOI: 10.1080/13603116.2013.826289

- Kuhn, T. S. (1970) *The structure of scientific revolutions* (2nd ed.). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Kumari-Campbell, F. (2001). Disability as Inherently Negative? Legal fictions and battle concerning the definitions of 'disability'. In *Disability with attitude: critical issues* 20 years after International Year of Disabled persons: Conference proceedings: International Conference, 16-17th February 2001, Parramatta Campus, University of Western Sydney University of Western Sydney, Social Relations of Disability Research Network.
- Kvale, S. (1996). *Interviews. An introduction to qualitative research interviewing.*Thousand Oaks, CA.: Sage.
- Kyong-Ah Kwon, Soo-Young Hong & Hyun-Joo Jeon (2017). Classroom readiness for successful inclusion: Teacher factors and preschool children's experience with and attitudes toward peers with disabilities. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 31:3, 360-378.
- Larsson, H, (2012). Materialising bodies: there is nothing more material than a socially constructed body. *Sport, Education and Society*, *19*(5), 637-651.

  DOI: 10.1080/13573322.2012.722550.
- Lascoumes, P., & Le Gales, P. (2007). Introduction: Understanding public policy through its instruments From the nature of instruments to the sociology of public policy instrumentation. *Governance: An International Journal of Policy, Administration, and Institutions, 20*(1), 1-21.
- Lather, P. (1992). Critical frames in educational research: feminist and post-structural perspectives. *Theory into practice. Qualitative Issues in Educational research*, 31(2), 87-99.
- Laxon, A. (2017). *Kids lack basics on first day of school*. (N.Z. Herald). Retrieved from http://www.nzherald.co.nz/nz/news/article.cfm?c\_id=1&objectid=10588004
- Lessa, I. (2006) Discursive Struggles Within Social Welfare: Restaging Teen

  Motherhood. *British Journal of Social Work.* 36, 283–298

  doi:10.1093/bjsw/bch25

- Liasidou, A. (2008). Critical discourse analysis and inclusive educational policies: The power to exclude. *Journal of Education Policy*, *23*(5), 483-500.
- Lingard, B. (2017). Reconfiguring accountabilities in education through multiple partnerships. Retrieved from Ipu Kererū website:

  https://nzareblog.wordpress.com/2017/12/18/lingard-accountabilities-1/
- Lloyd, E. & Penn, H. 2013. (Eds.) *Childcare markets, can they deliver an equitable service?* Great Britain: Policy Press.
- Long, J. (Sep. 30, 2019). Kindergarten teachers' roles a commodity as pay gap widens for early childhood educators. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/education/116196012/kindergarten-teachers-roles-a-commodity-as-pay-gap-widens-for-early-childhood-educators">https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/education/116196012/kindergarten-teachers-roles-a-commodity-as-pay-gap-widens-for-early-childhood-educators</a>
- Lyons, L. (2005). A place for everybody? Challenges in providing inclusive early childhood education for children with disability in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *The First Years: Nga Tau Tuatahi. New Zealand Journal of Infant and Toddler Education*, 7(1), 16-20.
- Lyons, L. (2011). The business of disability: Tensions, responsibilities and challenges in a market model of early childhood education and care. *The First Years, Nga Tau Tuatahi*. *New Zealand Journal of Infant and Toddler Education*, 13(1), 29–33.
- Lyons, L. (2012). "Same, same but different". The dangers of binary definitions of dis/ability in the neoliberal marketplace of early childhood education and care. *Curriculum Matters*, 8, 33-46.
- Lyons, L. (2013)"Transformed Understanding or Enlightened Ableism? The Gap

  Between Policy and Practice for Children with Disabilities in Aotearoa New

  Zealand." *International Journal of Early Childhood, 45*(2), 237-249.
- MacArthur, J., Dight, A. &Purdue, K. (2000). Not so special: values and practices in early childhood education for children with disabilities. *Early education*. 24(Spring/Summer), 17–27.
- MacArthur, J., & Morton, M. (1999). 'I'm still trying to make friends...' *Childrenz Issues,* 3(1), 38-42.

- MacArthur, J. & Dight, A. (2000). Transition with a truckload of professionals. *Early education*. *4*(1), 39-45.
- McCarthy, C; Pitton, V.; Kim, S. & Monje, D. (2009). Movement and stasis in the neoliberal reorientation of schooling. In M.Apple; W. Au & Gandin, L. (Eds.). *The Routledge handbook of critical education,* pp. 36-50. New York: Routledge.
- Macartney, B. (2011). *Disabled by the discourse: Two families' narratives of inclusion.*Unpublished doctoral thesis. New Zealand: University of Canterbury
- Macartney, B (2016) Early childhood education and barriers to inclusivity: Working
  toward a fairer system. A background paper prepared for Child Poverty Action
  Group (CPAG), Retrieved from <a href="https://ieag.org.nz/assets/Uploads/Early-Childhood-education-barriers-to-inclusivity-.pdf">https://ieag.org.nz/assets/Uploads/Early-Childhood-education-barriers-to-inclusivity-.pdf</a>
- Macartney, B. & Morton, M. (2013). Kinds of participation: teacher and special education perceptions and practices of 'inclusion' in early childhood and primary school settings. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 17(8), 776-792.
- McKeever, P. & Miller, K.L. (2004) Mothering children who have disabilities: a

  Bourdieusian interpretation of maternal practices. *Social Science and Medicine*,
  59, 1177–1191.
- MacKenzie, M., Cologon, K., & Fenech, M. (2016). Embracing everybody: Approaching the inclusive early childhood education of a child labelled with Autism from a social relational understanding of disability. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, 41(2), 4-12.
- McLachlan, C., Cherrington, S., Aspden K. & Mclaughlin, T. (2018). A review of policy and practice in early childhood settings in New Zealand from 2008 to 2018. *New Zealand Annual review of Education*. 23, 111-125.
- McLaren, H. (2009). *Using 'Foucault's toolbox': The challenge with feminist poststructuralist discourse analysis*. Retrieved from http://w3.unisa.edu.au/hawkeinstitute/publications/foucault-25-

# years/mclaren.pdf

- McLean, M. (2008). Teaching about disability: an ethical responsibility? *International Journal of Inclusive Education*. *12* (5-6), 605-619.
- MacNaughton, G. (1998). Improving our gender equity 'tools': A case *for* discourse analysis. In N. Yelland (ed.). *Gender in early childhood*. London: Routledge, 149-174.
- MacNaughton, G. (2005). *Doing Foucault in Early Childhood Studies. Applying structural ideas.* U.K.: Routledge.
- MacNaughton, G. (1998). Improving our gender equity tools: A case for discourse analysis. In N. Yelland (Ed.). *Gender in early childhood,* pp.149-174. London: Routledge.
- MacNaughton, G. (2005). *Doing Foucault in early childhood studies. Applying poststructural ideas.* London: Routledge.
- March, J., & Olsen, J. (1989). *Rediscovering institutions: The organisational basis of politics*. New York: The Free Press.
- Marshall, C. & Rossman, G. (2011). *Designing qualitative research*. (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Maxwell, J. (1997). Designing a qualitative study. In L. Bickman & D. J. Rog (Eds.)

  Handbook of applied social research methods Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 69-100.
- May, H. (2001). Mapping some landscapes of colonial global childhood. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, *9*(2), 5-20.
- May, H. (2009). *Politics in the playground: The world of early childhood in New Zealand* (Revised ed.). Dunedin, New Zealand: Otago University Press.
- Meade, A. & Podmore, V. (2002). Early childhood education policy co-ordination under the auspices of the Department/Ministry of Education: A case study of New Zealand. *Early childhood family and policy series*. 1 (2). I-36.
- Meagher, D. and Cortis, G. (2009). The political economy of for-profit paid care: Theory and evidence. In D. Meagher and G. Cortis. (Eds.). *Paid care in Australia: Politics, profits, practices*, pp.13-36. Australia: Sydney University Press.

- Mendez, M. (2008). Middle Class Identities in a Neoliberal Age: Tensions between Contested Authenticities. *The Sociological Review*, 56(2): 220–237.
- Mercer, J. (1973). *Labelling the mentally retarded*. California: University of California Press.
- Middleton, S. (1998). *Disciplining sexuality: Foucault, life histories and education*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Miles, M. & Hubermann, A. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis*. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, 69-100.
- Miller, J.L., & Cordova, J. (2002). Changing attitudes toward people with disabilities. *Palaestra*, 18(3), 16-21.
- Mills, S. (2003). Michel Foucault. London: Routledge.
- Minister for Disability Issues. 2001. *The New Zealand disability strategy: Making a world of difference Whakanui oranga.* Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- M.O.E. (Ministry of Education). (1996). *Te Whāriki: He whāriki matauranga mō ngā mokopuna o Aotearoa: Early childhood curriculum*. Wellington, New Zealand: Learning Media.
- M.O.E. (Ministry of Education). (1996). Special Education 2000. Wellington, N.Z.:

  Author. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.beehive.govt.nz/feature/special-education-2000">https://www.beehive.govt.nz/feature/special-education-2000</a>
- M.O.E. (Ministry of Education). (2000). *Including everyone: Te reo tātaki*. Wellington, New Zealand: Learning Media.
- M.O.E. (Ministry of Education). (2008). *The Licensing Criteria for Early Childhood Education Services*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.education.govt.nz/early-childhood/licensing-and-regulations/the-regulatory-framework-for-ece/licensing-criteria/centre-based-ece-services/">https://www.education.govt.nz/early-childhood/licensing-and-regulations/the-regulatory-framework-for-ece/licensing-criteria/centre-based-ece-services/</a>
- M.O.E. (Ministry of Education). (2011). *The ECE funding handbook*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.lead.ece.govt.nz/~/media/Educate/Files/Reference%20Downloads/">http://www.lead.ece.govt.nz/~/media/Educate/Files/Reference%20Downloads/</a> /Lead/Files/Funding/FundingHandbook/Glossary.pdf.

- M.O.E. (Ministry of Education). (2017). *Te Whāriki: He whāriki matauranga mō ngā mokopuna o Aotearoa: Early childhood curriculum*. Wellington, New Zealand:

  Author
- Ministry of Health. (2001). *The New Zealand disability strategy: Making a world of difference: Whakanui Oranga*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health.
- Mitchell, L. (2002). *Differences between community- owned and privately-owned early childhood care and education centres: A review of evidence*. Wellington, New Zealand: New Zealand Council for Educational Research.
- Mitchell, L. (2019). Aotearoa New Zealand within global trends in ECEC policy. In Democratic policies and practices in early childhood education. An Aotearoa New Zealand case study. *International Perspectives on Early Childhood Education and Development*, 24, 17-43.
- Mitchell, L. (2003). *Views of children and investment in early childhood education: New Zealand experiences.* Paper presented at the European Early Childhood Research conference., Glasgow, Scotland. Sept 3-6.
- Mitchell, L. (2008). Early childhood education services in 2007: Key findings from the NZCER national survey. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.nzcer.org.nz/pdfs/16545.pdf">http://www.nzcer.org.nz/pdfs/16545.pdf</a>.
- Mitchell, L. (2019). Aotearoa New Zealand within global trends in ECEC policy. In Democratic policies and practices in early childhood education. An Aotearoa New Zealand case study. *International Perspectives on Early Childhood Education and Development*, 24, 17-43.
- Mladenov, T. (2015). Neoliberalism, post socialism, disability. *Disability & Society*, *30*(3), 445–459. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2015.1021758
- Mohay, H. A., & Reid, E. N. (2006). The inclusion of children with a disability in childcare: the influence of experience, training and attitudes of childcare staff.

  Australian Journal of Early Childhood, 31(1), 35-42.

- Monbiot, G. (2017). *Out of the wreckage: A new politics for an age of crisis*. London: Verso.
- Morse, J.; Niehaus, L.; Varnhagen, S.; Austin, W and McIntosh, M. (2008). Qualitative researchers' conceptualisations of the risk inherent in qualitative interviews. In N. Denzin and M. Giardina. (Eds.). *Qualitative inquiry and the politics of evidence*, pp. 195-218 CA: Left Coast Press.
- Moss, P. (2019). *Alternative narratives in early childhood. An introduction for students and practitioners.* London: Taylor Francis.
- Moss, P., & Dahlberg, G. (2008). Beyond quality in early childhood education and care Languages of evaluation. *New Zealand Journal of Teachers' Work, 5*(1), 3-12.
- New Zealand Playcentre Association. Retrieved from http://www.playcentre.org.nz.
- Neuwelt-Kearns, C. & Ritchie, J. (July, 2020). *CPAG calls for nationalisation of ECE*sector. Media release from Child Poverty Action group. Retrieved from

  <a href="https://www.nzdoctor.co.nz.nz/article/undoctored/cpag-calls-nationalisation-ece-sector">https://www.nzdoctor.co.nz.nz/article/undoctored/cpag-calls-nationalisation-ece-sector</a>
- O'Farrell, C. (2005). Michel Foucault. London: Sage Press.
- Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. (1989). *Convention on the rights of the child*. August 22, 2008, http://www.unhchr.ch/html/menu/3/b/k2crc.htm.
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. (2006). *Convention on the rights of persons with disabilities*.

  http://www2.ohchr.org/english/law/disabilities-convention.htm.
- Oliver, M. (1996). *Understanding disability: From theory to practice*. New York: St. Martin's Press.
- Olssen, M. (2006). Foucault and the imperatives of education critique and self-creation in a non-foundational world. *Studies in philosophy and education*. 25: 245-271.
- Page, D. (2017). The surveillance of teachers and the simulation of teaching. *Journal of education policy*. 32(1), 1-13.

- Parent and Family Resource Centre. Retrieved from http://www.parentandfamily.org.nz
- Parent to Parent. Retrieved from http://www.parent2parent.org.nz.
- Parish, S. L., & Cloud, J. M. (2006). Financial wellbeing of young children with disabilities and their families. *Social Work*, *51*(3), 223-232.
- Parker, S. (2008). Equality through difference: Political values and policy responses to disability in liberal welfare regimes. Presentation Paper, Social Policy

  Association Conference, Edinburgh, June 23-26.
- Patton, P. (1979). 'Of power and prisons. In M. Morris & P. Patton (Eds.). *Michel Foucault: power, truth, strategy,* pp. 109-147. Sydney, Australia: Feral Publications, Sydney
- Penn, H. (2009). International perspectives on quality in mixed economies of childcare.

  National Institute Economic Review, (207), 83-89.
- Penn, H. (2013). Childcare markets: Do they work? In E. Lloyd & H. Penn (eds.).

  Childcare markets, can they deliver and equitable service? Great Britain: Policy

  Press, 19-42.
- Perez, M. & Cannella, G. (2011). Disaster capitalism as neoliberal instrument for the construction of early childhood education/care policy: Charter schools in post-Katrina New Orleans. *International Critical Childhood Policy Studies*. 4(1), 47-68.
- Peters, M. (2001). Education, enterprise culture and the entrepreneurial self: A Foucauldian perspective. *Journal of Educational Enquiry*, *2*(2), 58-71.
- Peters, M. (2013). Managerialism and the neoliberal university: prospects for new forms of 'open management' in higher education. *Contemporary readings in law and social justice*. *5*(1), 11-26.
- Press, F., & Woodrow, C. (2005). Commodification, corporatisation and children's spaces. *Australian Journal of Education*, 49(3), 278-291.
- Pringle, R. (2003). *Doing the damage? An examination of masculinities and men's rugby experiences of pain, fear and pleasure*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation.

- University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand.
- Punch, K. (2005). *Introduction to social research. Quantitative and qualitative approaches.* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). London: Sage Publications.
- Purdue, K. (2009). Barriers to and facilitators of inclusion for children with disabilities in early childhood education. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood.* 10(2), 133-143.
- Qvortrup, A. & Qvortrup, L. (2018). Inclusion: Dimensions of Inclusion in education.

  International journal of inclusive education. 22 (7), 803-817.
- Rauscher L, & McClintock M. (1996) Ableism curriculum design. In M. Adams, L. A. Bell,
  & P. Griffin (Eds.). *Teaching for Diversity and Social Justice: A Sourcebook*. (pp. 198-216). New York, NY: Routledge; 1997:198–216.
- Ravaud, J. F., & Stiker, H. J. (2001). Inclusion/exclusion: An analysis of historical and cultural meanings. In G. L. Albrecht, K. D. Seelman & M. Bury (Eds.), *Handbook of disability studies*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 490–512.
- Rioux, M., & Valentine, F. (2006). Does theory matter? Exploring the nexus between disability, human rights and public policy. In D. Pothier & R. Devlin (Eds.), *Critical disability theory: Essays in philosophy, politics, policy and law*. Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada: UBC Press, 47-69.
- Ritchie, J & Lewis, J. (1998). (Eds.). *Qualitative research practice. A guide for social science students and researchers.* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.) London: Sage Publications.
- Roberts, P. (2007). Neoliberalism, performativity and research. *Review of Education*, 53,349–365. DOI 10.1007/s11159-007-9049-9
- Roddy, E. & Dewar, B. (2016). Critical reflection on practice development. A reflective account on becoming reflexive: The 7 C's of caring conversations as a framework for reflexive questioning. *International Practice Development Journal*, 6(1). 1-8.
- Russell, P. (2003). Access and achievement or social exclusion? Are the government's policies working for disabled children and their families? *Children and society.* 17(3), 215-225.

- Schmid, H. (2001). Non-profit organisations and for-profit organisations providing home care services for the Israeli frail elderly: A comparative analysis.

  International Journal of Public Administration. 24(11), 1233-1265.
- Selvaraj, J (2015). Inclusive education in New Zealand: policies, politics and Contradictions. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 19, (1) 86–101. Retrieved from <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2014.907584">http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2014.907584</a>
- Shakespeare, T. (2017). The social model of disability. In Davis, L. (Ed.). *The disability studies reader,* pp. 195-203 New York: Routledge.
- Shepherd K., Colby, T., Kervick C., & Morris D. (2017) Understanding Whānau as Actors and Experts. Cited in *The Art of Collaboration. Studies in Inclusive Education*, pp.61-82. Rotterdam: Sense Publishers.
- Shuker, M. & Cherrington. S. (2016). Diversity in New Zealand early childhood education: Challenges and opportunities. *International journal of early years education*, *24* (2), 172-187.
- Siebers, T. (2008). *Disability theory*. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.

  Silverman, D (2011). *Interpreting qualitative data*. (4<sup>th</sup> Ed.). London: Sage Publications.

  Sims, M. (2017). Neoliberalism and early childhood. *Cogent Education*, 1-10.
- Skinner, M., Buysse, V., & Bailey, D. (2004). Effects of age and developmental status of partners on play of preschoolers with disabilities. *Journal of Early Intervention*, *26*(3), 194-203.
- Slee, R. (2001). *Talking back to power. The politics of educational exclusion*. Paper presented at the International Special Education Congress, *Including the Excluded*. Manchester, England: University of Manchester.
- Slee, R. (2011). *The irregular school. Exclusion, schooling and inclusive education.* Oxon: Routledge.

- Smith, K., Tesar, M. & Myers, C. (2016). Edu-capitalism and the governing of early childhood education and care in Australia, New Zealand and the United States. *Global Studies of Childhood*, 6(1) 123–135
- Sparkes, A. C. (2000). Autoethnography and narratives of self: Reflections on criteria in action. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, 17, 21–43.
- St. Pierre, E.A. (2013). The appearance of data. *Cultural Studies* ↔ *Critical Methodologies*. 13(4) 223–227
- Sumsion, J. (2006). The corporatization of Australian childcare: Towards an ethical audit and research agenda. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, *4*(2), 99-120.
- Tabatai, A. (2020). Mother of a person: neoliberalism and narratives of parenting children with disabilities. *Disability and society. 35*(1), 111-131.
- Taylor, D. (2009). Normativity and Normalisation. Foucault Studies, 7, 45-63.
- Taylor, D. (2017). Non-Subjective Assemblages? Foucault, Subjectivity, and Sexual Violence. SubStance, *46*(1), 38-54.
- Taylor, G., & Ussher, J. (2001). Making sense of S&M: A discourse analytic account. Sexualities, 4(3), 293-314.
- Tracey, S. (2013). *Qualitative research methods. Collecting evidence, crafting analysis, communicating impact.* USA: Blackwell Publishing.
- Türken, S., Nafstad, H., Blakar, R. & Roen, K. (2016). Making sense of neoliberal subjectivity: A discourse analysis of media language on self-development. *Globalizations*. 13 (1), 32-46.
- Tynan, J. (2015). Fashioning the body politic. *Thinking through fashion: A Guide to key theorists*. Taurus: London, NY.
- UNESCO (1994). Report on World conference on special needs education: Access and quality. Salamanca, Spain, June 7-10, 1994.
- Union of Physically Impaired Against Segregation [UPIAS] (1974-5). Fundamental principles. Retrieved from <a href="https://disability-studies.leeds.ac.uk/library/author/upias/">https://disability-studies.leeds.ac.uk/library/author/upias/</a>

- Valente, J. & Collins, K. (2016). Ableing educational inequities: A disability studies in education perspective. Review of disability studies

  https://scholarspace.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10125/58659/1/1649.pdf
- Wall, S. (2006). An autoethnography on learning about autoethnography. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 5(2).
- Walshaw, M. (2007). *Working with Foucault in education.* The Netherlands: Sense Publishers.
- Warnes, J. & Daiches, A. (2011). "Rebuilding after the Storm: Stories of Young Motherhood." *Narrative Inquiry* 21(1), 109–129. doi:10.1075/ni.21.1.06war.
- Wasserman, D. (2001). Philosophical issues in the definition and social response to disability. In G. L. Albrecht, K. D. Seelman & M. Bury (Eds.), *Handbook of disability studies*, pp. 219-239. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publishing.
- Wehrle, M. (2016) Normative Embodiment. The Role of the Body in Foucault's Genealogy. A Phenomenological Re-Reading. *Journal of the British Society for Phenomenology*. 47:1, 56-71. DOI: 10.1080/00071773.2015.1105645
- Wendell, S. (1996). *The Rejected Body: Feminist Philosophical Reflections on Disability*. New York: Routledge.
- Wills, R. (2006). Special education 2000: A New Zealand experiment. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *10*(2-3). 189-199.
- Wills, R., & McLean, M. (2008). Who's in, who's out of New Zealand public schools?

  How decisions are shaped. *International Journal of Inclusive Education, 12*(5-6), 511-523.
- Worthman, C, & Troiano, B. (2016). Capillary discourses, fissure points, and tacitly confessing the self: Foucault's later work and educational research. *Journal of adult and continuing education*. 22(1), 46-67.
- Wylie, C. (2000). *Picking up the pieces. Review of special education 2000*. New Zealand Council of Education Research. Retrieved from

# https://www.nzcer.org.nz/system/files/10605-wylie-review---download.pdf

Yu, S. & Park, H. (2020). Early childhood preservice teachers' attitude development toward the inclusion of children with disabilities. *Early Childhood Education Journal* 48, 497–506.

# **APPENDICES**

**NOTE**: The title of the thesis has changed with the growth of the study, the findings, and the researcher. The original title, as seen on the appendices, is the one that participants received at the time of approach. My name has also changed to include McAdam.

# **Appendix 1** Participant information sheet for teachers

### **Study Title:**

The business of disability: An examination of the complexities and tensions surrounding inclusion in long day education and care centres.

#### Researcher name and contact details:

**Lesley Lyons** 

70 Normans Hill Road

Onehunga

Auckland 1061

Ph. 0272550883

l.lyons@auckland.ac.nz

#### Introduction:

#### Kia Ora,

My name is Lesley Lyons and I am studying towards the degree of Doctor of Education at the University of Waikato. I have had more than thirty years' experience in the early childhood education sector (ECE) and am currently employed as a lecturer in early childhood education at the University of Auckland. My prior experience in the field includes kindergartens, family day care and owning/operating a long day ECE centre in central Auckland.

### Overview of the study:

To complete my doctorate, I am planning to carry out a study of possible influences and tensions surrounding the inclusion of children with special needs/disabilities in a northern urban region. The study will gather interview data from teachers, owners/managers and families of children disabilities and is intended to enhance

understandings, approaches, and practices in the sector with regard to disability.

The research is investigation four main questions:

• What understandings do owners/managers, teachers, and families of children with

disabilities have about access for young children with disabilities in ECEC centres?

•What views about disability and inclusion are held by adult participants in long day

ECEC centres?

• How are views apparent in the processes and practices of adults surrounding the

inclusion of children disabilities in ECEC?

•Is there a difference between types of ECEC services in the ways in which knowledge

of disability and inclusion are acted upon?

Request for participants:

I am seeking voluntary participants who are NZ qualified and registered ECEC teachers

working in services with opening hours designed to accommodate parents'

employment obligations. If you agree to take part in this study, I would ask you to take

part in an interview with me to share your views, understandings and experiences (if

any) of working with children with disabilities. The interview will take approximately 1-

1/2 hours and will be digitally (audio) recorded. Later you would have the opportunity

to review your interview transcript and make any amendments. I am aware that my

role at The University of Auckland raises the possibility that potential participants may

have a prior professional relationship with me. I wish to stress that your decision to

participate or not will not affect any existing professional relationships now or in the

future.

The study had been approved the University of Waikato, Faculty of Education Research

Ethics Committee.

If you agree to participate, I ask that you sign the attached consent form and return it

to me at the above address. If you would like to discuss the study further, please

contact me.

Kind regards,

**Lesley Lyons** 

## **Appendix 2** Informed consent form: Teacher participants

### Study title:

The business of disability: An examination of the complexities and tensions surrounding inclusion in long day education and care centres.

#### Researcher name and contact details:

**Lesley Lyons** 

70 Normans Hill Road

Onehunga

Auckland 1061

Ph. 0272550883

l.lyons@auckland.ac.nz

# Supervisors' name/contact details:

Assoc. Prof. Lise Claiborne: claiboli@waikato.ac.nz

Assoc. Prof. Linda Mitchell" <u>lindamit@waikato.ac.nz</u>

Name_	Contact address	
_	_	

- •I understand the purpose of this research project and what will be required of me as a participant
- •I have had the opportunity to ask questions and have them answered
- •I understand that participation is voluntary and that my participation/nonparticipation will in no way affect my standing or my employment in my organisation
- •I understand that I can withdraw from the interviews at any stage, not answer any questions I feel uncomfortable about, and withdraw from the study entirely up to two weeks after the date of the interview
- •I understand that I will be offered a copy of the transcribed interview and that I will be able to withdraw or have altered specific excerpts of the transcript if it is inaccurate, or compromising of my own or my ECEC centre's anonymity up to two weeks after I received my transcribed copy
- •I understand that after this time I will be unable to withdraw my information from this

study

•I understand that should I choose not to view my transcribed interview I will have up to three weeks after the interview to withdraw all my information. After this, I will be

unable to withdraw my information

•I understand that my anonymity and that of my centre is guaranteed and my real

name or other identifying information will not be used

•I understand that access to the data will be restricted to the researcher and her

supervisors, and the transcriber who has signed a confidentiality agreement.

•I understand that if I have any concerns regarding this study which I would prefer not

to discuss with the researcher, I can contact the researcher's supervisors whose details

have been provided to me

I agree to ta	ke part in t	his research:
---------------	--------------	---------------

Signed _	Date
_	

## **Appendix 3** Participant information sheet: owner/manager

## **Study Title:**

The business of disability: An examination of the complexities and tensions surrounding inclusion in long day education and care centres.

#### Researcher name and contact details:

**Lesley Lyons** 

70 Normans Hill Road

Onehunga

Auckland 1061

Ph. 0272550883

l.lyons@auckland.ac.nz

#### Introduction:

### Kia Ora,

My name is Lesley Lyons and I am studying towards the degree of Doctor of Education at the University of Waikato. I have had more than thirty years' experience in the early childhood education sector (ECE) and am currently employed as a lecturer in early childhood education at the University of Auckland. My prior experience in the field includes kindergartens, family day care and owning/operating a long day ECE centre in central Auckland.

### Overview of the study:

To complete my doctorate, I am planning to carry out a study of possible influences and tensions surrounding the inclusion of children with special needs/disabilities in a northern urban region. The study will gather interview data from teachers, owners/managers and families of children disabilities and is intended to enhance understandings, approaches, and practices in the sector with regard to disability.

### The research is investigation four main questions:

- •What understandings do owners/managers, teachers, and families of children with disabilities have about access for young children with disabilities in ECEC centres?
- •What views about disability and inclusion are held by adult participants in long day

ECEC centres?

• How are views apparent in the processes and practices of adults surrounding the

inclusion of children disabilities in ECEC?

•Is there a difference between types of ECEC services in the ways in which knowledge

of disability and inclusion are acted upon?

Request for participants:

I am seeking voluntary participants who are NZ qualified and registered ECEC teachers

working in services with opening hours designed to accommodate parents'

employment obligations. If you agree to take part in this study, I ask you to take part in

an interview with me to share your views, understandings and experiences (if any) of

working with children with disabilities. The interview will take approximately 1-1/2

hours and will be digitally (audio) recorded. Later you would have the opportunity to

review your interview transcript and make any amendments. I am aware that my role at

The University of Auckland raises the possibility that potential participants may have a

prior professional relationship with me. I wish to stress that your decision to participate

or not will not affect any existing professional relationships now or in the future.

The study had been approved the University of Waikato, Faculty of Education Research

Ethics Committee.

If you agree to participate, I ask that you sign the attached consent form and return it

to me at the above address. If you would like to discuss the study further, please

contact me.

Kind regards,

**Lesley Lyons** 

**Appendix 4** Informed consent form: owner/ manager

Study title:

The business of disability: An examination of the complexities and tensions surrounding inclusion in long day education and care centres.

Researcher name and contact details:

**Lesley Lyons** 

70 Normans Hill Road

Onehunga

Auckland 1061

Ph. 0272550883

I.lyons@auckland.ac.nz

Supervisors' name/contact details:

Assoc. Prof. Lise Claiborne: claiboli@waikato.ac.nz

Assoc. Prof. Linda Mitchell" lindamit@waikato.ac.nz

Name	_Contact address
<del>-</del>	

- •I understand the purpose of this research project and what will be required of me as a participant
- •I have had the opportunity to ask questions and have them answered
- •I understand that participation is voluntary and that my participation/nonparticipation will in no way affect my standing or my employment in my organisation
- •I understand that I can withdraw from the interviews at any stage, not answer any questions I feel uncomfortable about, and withdraw from the study entirely up to two weeks after the date of the interview
- •I understand that I will be offered a copy of the transcribed interview and that I will be able to withdraw or have altered specific excerpts of the transcript if it is inaccurate, or compromising of my own or my ECEC centre's anonymity up to two weeks after I received my transcribed copy

- •I understand that after this time I will be unable to withdraw my information from this study
- •I understand that should I choose not to view my transcribed interview I will have up to three weeks after the interview to withdraw all my information. After this, I will be unable to withdraw my information
- •I understand that my anonymity and that of my centre is guaranteed and my real name or other identifying information will not be used
- •I understand that access to the data will be restricted to the researcher and her supervisors, and the transcriber who has signed a confidentiality agreement.
- •I understand that if I have any concerns regarding this study which I would prefer not to discuss with the researcher, I can contact the researcher's supervisors whose details have been provided to me

Signed	Date	

**Appendix 5** Participant information sheet: Parent /caregiver

**Study Title:** 

The business of disability: An examination of the complexities and tensions surrounding inclusion in long day education and care centres.

Researcher name and contact details:

Lesley Lyons

70 Normans Hill Road

Onehunga

Auckland 1061

Ph. 0272550883

l.lyons@auckland.ac.nz

Introduction:

Kia Ora,

My name is Lesley Lyons and I am studying towards the degree of Doctor of Education at the University of Waikato. I have had more than thirty years' experience in the early childhood education sector (ECE) and am currently employed as a lecturer in early childhood education at the University of Auckland. My prior experience in the field includes kindergartens, family day care and owning/operating a long day ECE centre in central Auckland.

Overview of the study:

To complete my doctorate, I am planning to carry out a study of possible influences and tensions surrounding the inclusion of children with special needs/disabilities in a northern urban region. The study will gather interview data from teachers, owners/managers and families of children disabilities and is intended to enhance understandings, approaches, and practices in the sector with regard to disability.

The research is investigation four main questions:

• What understandings do owners/managers, teachers, and families of children with

disabilities have about access for young children with disabilities in ECEC centres?

• What views about disability and inclusion are held by adult participants in long day

ECEC centres?

• How are views apparent in the processes and practices of adults surrounding the

inclusion of children disabilities in ECEC?

•Is there a difference between types of ECEC services in the ways in which knowledge

of disability and inclusion are acted upon?

Request for participants:

I am seeking voluntary participants who are NZ qualified and registered ECEC teachers

working in services with opening hours designed to accommodate parents'

employment obligations. If you agree to take part in this study, I would ask you to take

part in an interview with me to share your views, understandings and experiences (if

any) of working with children with disabilities. The interview will take approximately 1-

1/2 hours and will be digitally (audio) recorded. Later you would have the opportunity

to review your interview transcript and make any amendments. I am aware that my

role at The University of Auckland raises the possibility that potential participants may

have a prior professional relationship with me. I wish to stress that your decision to

participate or not will not affect any existing professional relationships now or in the

future.

The study had been approved the University of Waikato, Faculty of Education Research

Ethics Committee.

If you agree to participate, I ask that you sign the attached consent form and return it

to me at the above address. If you would like to discuss the study further, please

contact me.

Kind regards,

**Lesley Lyons** 

### **Appendix 6** Informed consent form: Parent/caregiver(whānau)

### Study title:

The business of disability: An examination of the complexities and tensions surrounding inclusion in long day education and care centres.

#### Researcher name and contact details:

**Lesley Lyons** 

70 Normans Hill Road

Onehunga

Auckland 1061

Ph. 0272550883

I.lyons@auckland.ac.nz

# Supervisors' name/contact details:

Assoc.	Prof. I	ise Claib	orne: cl	laiboli@	@waikato	.ac.nz

Assoc. Prof. Linda Mitchell" <a href="mailto:lindamit@waikato.ac.nz">lindamit@waikato.ac.nz</a>

Name	Contact address	

- •I understand the purpose of this research project and what will be required of me as a participant
- •I have had the opportunity to ask questions and have them answered
- •I understand that participation is voluntary and that my participation/nonparticipation will in no way affect my standing or my employment in my organisation
- •I understand that I can withdraw from the interviews at any stage, not answer any questions I feel uncomfortable about, and withdraw from the study entirely up to two weeks after the date of the interview
- •I understand that I will be offered a copy of the transcribed interview and that I will be able to withdraw or have altered specific excerpts of the transcript if it is inaccurate, or compromising of my own or my ECEC centre's anonymity up to two weeks after I received my transcribed copy
- •I understand that after this time I will be unable to withdraw my information from this

study

•I understand that should I choose not to view my transcribed interview I will have up to three weeks after the interview to withdraw all my information. After this, I will be

unable to withdraw my information

•I understand that my anonymity and that of my centre is guaranteed and my real

name or other identifying information will not be used

•I understand that access to the data will be restricted to the researcher and her

supervisors, and the transcriber who has signed a confidentiality agreement.

•I understand that if I have any concerns regarding this study which I would prefer not

to discuss with the researcher, I can contact the researcher's supervisors whose details

have been provided to me

I agree to ta	ke part	in this	research	۱:
---------------	---------	---------	----------	----

Cianad	Data
Signed	Date

**Appendix 7** Draft letter for publication in Parent to Parent e-newsletter Kia Ora,

My name is Lesley Lyons and I am studying towards the degree of Doctor of Education at the University of Waikato. I have had more than thirty years' experience in the early childhood education sector (ECE) and am currently employed as a lecturer in early childhood education at the University of Auckland. My prior experience in the field includes kindergartens, family day care and owning/operating a long day ECE centre in central Auckland.

I am seeking voluntary participant who are parenting/caring for a child aged between two and six years with disabilities. If you agree to take part in this study, I would ask you to take part in an interview with me to share you views, understandings and perceptions about the inclusion of children with disabilities in early childhood education and care (ECEC) centres. In particular, this study is interested in access and participation in long day centres ie: those centres open for the hours of an adult's working day. The study is not limited to parents/caregivers who have a child an ECEC centre currently. The interview will take approximately 1-1/2 hours and will be digitally (audio) recorded. Later you would have the opportunity to review your interview transcript and make any amendments to it. The study will ensure confidentiality and anonymity for participants, their child and any associated services. The intent of the study is to better understand the implications for all involved with the inclusion process in long day ECEC in order to work to improve access and challenge barriers for children with disabilities and their families/whānau. I am happy to meet you at a time and location of your choice. I am also requesting that each participant, once consent has been signed, write a brief

background for the researcher including details such as family structure, employment if relevant, age of child, type of ECEC service attending (if any), and any other details they wish to share with the researcher.

Please contact me at <a href="mailto:l.lyons@auckland.ac.nz">l.lyons@auckland.ac.nz</a> or 0272550883 if you would like to discuss the study with me, or if you would like to be a participant.

Thank you, Lesley Lyons

**Appendix 8** Transcriber confidentiality agreement.

**Study title:** The 'business' of disability: An examination of the complexities and tensions surrounding inclusion in long-day early childhood education and care (ECEC) centres.

Researcher name/contact details:

**Lesley Lyons** 

70 Normans Hill Road

Onehunga

Auckland1061

Ph 09 6366659

0272550883

I.lyons@auckland.ac.nz

Supervisors' name/ contact details:

Assoc. Prof. Lise Claiborne: claiboli @waikato.ac.nz

Assoc. Prof. Linda Mitchell: lindamit@waikato.ac.nz

I agree to transcribe the audiotapes for the above research project and understand that the information contained within them is absolutely confidential and may not be disclosed to, or discussed with, anyone other than the researcher.

Name:	
Date: _	<u> </u>
Signed:	

This confidentiality form will be stored as per the University of Waikato's *Ethical Conduct in Human Research and Related Activities Regulations 2008* (Refer section 9(4a). The agreement will be securely stored in a locked cabinet in my office at the University of Auckland's Epsom campus for a period of 6 years and then destroyed.

# **Appendix 9** Interview schedule: teacher participants

- 1) What knowledge do you have regarding access for children with disabilities in ECEC?
- 2) How have you learned about disability and inclusion?
- 3) Do you have an experience of inclusion that you would like to share?
- 4) What organisational structures do you consider promote, or create barriers to inclusion?
- 5) What teacher knowledge, understanding and practices do you consider promote, or create barriers to inclusion?

# **Appendix 10** Interview Schedule: owners/managers

- 1) What knowledge do you have about access and participation for children with disabilities in ECEC centres?
- 2) What do you see as the main benefits (if any) to including children with disabilities?
- 3) What do you see as the main barriers (if any) to including children with disabilities?
- 4) Could you share your views about any issues that your organisation may have regarding including children with disabilities?

# **Appendix 11** Interview schedule: whānau (parents/ caregivers)

- 1) What are your understandings about access for children with disabilities to ECEC?
- 2) What are your hopes and aspirations for your child regarding access to ECEC?
- 3) What do you see as the main benefits (if any) of inclusion for your child?
- 4) What are your main concerns (if any) about inclusion for your child?
- 5) Could you share any views you have about issues that an ECEC centre might face regarding inclusion generally?

**Appendix 12** Request for site access:

Study title: The 'business' of disability: An examination of the complexities and

tensions surrounding inclusion in long-day early childhood care and

education centres.

Researcher name/contact details:

Lesley Lyons

70 Normans Hill Road

Onehunga Auckland 1061

0272550883

I.lyons@auckland.ac.nz

Supervisors' name/ contact details:

Assoc. Prof. Lise Claiborne: claiboli@waikato.ac.nz

Assoc. Prof. Linda Mitchell: lindamit@waikato.ac.nz

Dear Owner/ Manager,

My name is Lesley Lyons and I am studying towards a Doctor of Education degree at

the University of Waikato. I am a registered early childhood teacher and the former

owner of a long-day early childhood education and care (ECEC) centre in

Auckland. I am a currently lecturing in Early Childhood Education at the Faculty of

Education, University of Auckland.

I am seeking a small number of participants for a research project and am

writing to request permission to approach early childhood teachers currently

employed by your organisation.

Please read this information sheet carefully before deciding whether or not you

agree to this request. If you decide that I may proceed, I thank you. If you decide I

may not, thank you for taking the time to consider this request and be assured that

there will be no disadvantage of any kind to your organisation.

What is the aim of the project?

The purpose of the project is to explore possible tensions and complexities in

the inclusion of children with disabilities/special needs in long day ECEC.

The research is investigating 4 main questions:

- •What understandings do owners/managers, teachers, families of children with disabilities have about access for young children with disability in early childhood education and care (ECEC) centres?
- •What views about disability and inclusion are held by adult participants in long day ECEC centres?
- •How are views apparent in the processes and practices of adults surrounding the inclusion of children with disabilities in ECEC?
- •Is there a difference between types of ECEC services in the ways in which knowledge of disability and inclusion is acted on?

### What type of participant is being sought?

I am looking for New Zealand qualified and registered early childhood teachers, currently working in long-day ECEC centres, willing to take part in this research project.

## What will participation in the project involve?

Participants will be asked to take part in a semi-structured interview with the researcher. This discussion will take approximately 1-1/2 hours and will be digitally (audio) recorded for later transcription. The interview will take place outside of usual working hours. The transcribing will be done by the researcher and an assistant who has signed a confidentiality agreement.

### Can participants withdraw from the project after the interview has taken place?

Participants will be informed of their right to withdraw from the project up to 2

weeks from the date of the interview. Contact details for the researcher will be provided in a participant information sheet which will be sent to teachers interested in the study. Participants will be offered a copy of the transcribed interview and to withdraw or have altered specific excerpts of the transcript up to 2 weeks after they receive a transcribed copy. After this time participants will be unable to withdraw their information from the study

Participants who choose not to view their transcribed interview will have up to 3 weeks after the interview to withdraw all of their information. After this time participants will be unable to withdraw their information from the study.

Participants may request the deletion of information only if it is inaccurate.

#### How data will be used?

The data collected will be used in the formation of a thesis in partial fulfilment of an Education Doctorate at the University of Waikato. In addition, they will be used in the writing of academic journal articles, a book chapter and presentation at professional conferences.

### How will the data be stored?

The data collected in this study will be stored as per the University of Waikato's *Ethical Conduct in Human Research and Related Activities Regulations 2008.* All non-identifying data (e.g. data sets and transcripts) used for publication will be securely kept long enough to allow for academic examination, challenge, or peer review. This period will be at least five years. Identifying data such as consent forms

will be securely stored consistent with agreements made under section 9(4)(a) of these regulations. The data will be securely stored in a locked cabinet in my office at the University of Auckland's Epsom campus.

### Anonymity

For confidentiality purposes all potentially identifying information will be removed from my analysis and participants will be given a pseudonym to protect their identity. Further, I will take care not to make statements or include information likely to identify participants, or their ECEC centre.

### Confidentiality

I will not share raw data with anyone except the ones agreed to in the attached consent form (transcriber and my 2 supervisors). All potentially identifying information will be removed from my analysis. Further, I will take care not to make statements or include information likely to identify participants or the ECEC centre in which they are employed. Participants' views will be grouped with those of other respondents so that individuals, their views, experiences and stories cannot be identified. Participants will be informed that for any publications or presentations their responses be kept confidential and the results will be analysed and presented in such a manner that their identity will remain protected.

# **Voluntary participation**

Participation will be entirely voluntary, and no individual or organisation should feel any professional obligation to participate based on any knowledge of, or prior relationship with the researcher. Please contact me with any questions you may have.

Ngā mihi,

**Lesley Lyons** 

# **Appendix 13** Informed consent form: Site access

**Study title:** The 'business' of disability: An examination of the complexities and tensions surrounding inclusion in long-day early childhood care and education centres.

# Researcher name/contact details:

Lesley Lyons

70 Normans Hill Road Onehunga

Auckland1061

Ph 09 6366659

0272550883

l.lyons@auckland.ac.nz

# Supervisors' name/ contact details:

Assoc. Prof. Lise Claiborne: claiboli@waikato.ac.nz

Assoc. Prof. Linda Mitchell: lindamit@waikato.ac.nz

Name:	Contact address:	

- I understand the purpose of this research project and what will be required of a teacher participant in my employ
- I have had an opportunity to ask questions and have them answered
- I understand that participation in this study will not interrupt employee's usual working hours.

- I understand that the identity of this organisation and its employees will remain confidential
- I understand that access to the data will be restricted to the researcher and her supervisors, and the transcriber who has signed a confidentiality agreement.
- I understand that if I have any concerns regarding this study which I would prefer not to discuss with the researcher, I can contact the researcher's supervisors whose details have been provided to me.

I agree to grant site access for the purposes of this research:							
Signod	Date						

### Informed consent form: Site access

**Study title:** The 'business' of disability: An examination of the complexities and tensions surrounding inclusion in long-day early childhood care and education centres.

### Researcher name/contact details:

Lesley Lyons

70 Normans Hill Road

Onehunga

Auckland1061

Ph 09 6366659

0272550883

I.lyons@auckland.ac.nz

# Supervisors' name/ contact details:

Assoc. Prof. Use Claiborne: claiboli@waikato.ac.nz
Assoc. Prof. Linda Mitchell: lindamit@waikato.ac.nz

Name	Contact address	

- I understand the purpose of this research project and what will be required of a teacher participant employed by this organisation
- I have had an opportunity to ask questions and have them answered
- I understand that participation in this study will not interrupt employee's usual working hours.
- I understand that the identity of this organisation and its employees will remain confidential
- I understand that access to the data will be restricted to the researcher and her supervisors, and the transcriber who has signed a confidentiality agreement.
- I understand that if I have any concerns regarding this study which I would prefer not to discuss with the researcher, I can contact the researcher's supervisors whose details have been provided to me.

I agree to gran	nt site access	for the	purposes	of this	research:
Signed	Date				